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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NAER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin

Mr. Shen Weidong

Mr. Tian Hong
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Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (Chairman of the Committee)
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Mr. Tian Hong
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Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin

Mr. Shen Weidong
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Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman of the Committee)
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Mr. Shen Weidong

Mr. Tian Hong
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Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman of the Committee)
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Ms. Chu Ka Ying
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HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

Unit A, 12/F.

Central 88

88-98 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
Shop G1 & G2, G/F.

Phase I, Amoy Plaza

77 Ngau Tau Kok Road, Kowloon

LEGAL CONSULTANT
Michael Li & Co.

19/F., Prosperity Tower
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Hong Kong
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Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong
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Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda)
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Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NAER

WEBSITE
http://www.greenleader.hk

Notes:

e Ms. Leung Yin Fai resigned as the independent non-executive director of
the Company on 10 January 2020.

e Mr. Lam Chi Wai was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 10 January 2020 and retired on 5 August
2020.

e Ms. Zhu Zheyu resigned as the non-executive director of the Company on
12 June 2020.

e Mr. Chang Che-Fa retired as the non-executive director of the Company
on 5 August 2020.

e Mr. Lyu Guoping retired as the independent non-executive director of the
Company on 5 August 2020.

e Mr. Jin Xuliang retired as the independent non-executive director of the
Company on 5 August 2020.

e Ms. Zhang Tingting retired as the executive director of the Company on
5 August 2020.

e Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin has been appointed as the independent non-
executive director of the Company on 5 August 2020.

e Ms. An Juan was appointed as the independent non-executive director of
the Company on 5 August 2020 and resigned on 10 August 2020.
e Mr. Tian Hong has been appointed as the independent non-executive

director of the Company on 10 August 2020.

e  Mr. Shen Weidong has been appointed as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 2 November 2020.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 as well as the prospect of our diverse portfolio
featuring with coal mining business, Cambodia business and IT related
business.

The Group has been focusing on coal mining business with the
development of Fuchang Mine, Jinxin Mine and Liaoyuan Mine for full
commencement of construction work during the year and is optimistic
launching the remaining mines in full operation. It is expected that
steady cash inflow will be generated once all mines are in full operation
to improve the overall financial position of the Group.

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) is undergoing an
environmental paradigm shift, transitioning to be a global leader in
the fight against climate change over the years. The coal regulatory
authorities in Shanxi Province (“Shanxi”) has adopted stringent policies
and regulation on safety, environmental protection and production
control to implement the national safety protocol for coal mines as the
PRC government pursues its goal of promoting ecological civilisation.
The Group will closely speculate the existing mines such that major
technical renovations are carried out and the environmental and
safety procedures measures are in line with the relevant regulatory
requirements and national standards.

In early 2020, the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19”)
in PRC have had the negative effect to the mining operation of the
Group in Shanxi shortly. The Group has implemented certain controls
to minimise the impact of COVID-19 to the operation and the mining
operation have been gradually resumed and returned to normal
operation in mid of the year.

Amid the global pandemic crisis and the associated economic turmail,
the Group will keep a close eye on both PRC and overseas markets.
The Group intended to seize more business opportunities including but
not limited to the coal mining and also looking forward to the potential
stimulating effects on economy resulting the counter-cyclical policies
imposed by the governments around the world subsequent to the
crisis.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®E

Concerning Cambodia business, the Group is seeking business
opportunities related to agro-related business.

As for IT related business, the competitions in the industry remain
challenging. However, the considerable impact of the market pressure
on the Group’s overall financial position is minimal. After careful
consideration, the Company’s management has come to the view that
we will streamline the existing IT related business and divert our effort
towards other potential investments.

The Group is ready to build on its accomplishments in 2020 and to
attain a better development for the diverse portfolio of the Company.
On behalf of the Board and management, | wish to express my
sincere gratitude to our clients, business partners, the shareholders
(the “Shareholder(s)”) and other stakeholders of the Company for their
unwavering support and belief in the Group, and to our employees for
their tireless dedication and professional competence that are the fuel
to drive the Group’s ongoing development.

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 55, was appointed as an
executive Director on 7 June 2013. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from LI 78 Bf 48 A &2
(Shanxi University of Finance & Economics®) (formerly known as L 7g
B 4220 (Shanxi Institute of Finance & Economics*)) with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Accounting and obtained a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from &I 2Bt (Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business). Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management in mining, investment, finance and other industries.

He was appointed as an executive director of PINE Technology
Holdings Limited (“PINE”) (Stock Code: 1079), a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), on 8 June 2017. He was also designated as the chairman
of the board of directors, the chief executive officer, the chairman of
nomination committee and member of the remuneration committee of
PINE.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (“Mr. Tse”), aged 63, was reappointed as an
executive Director on 1 September 2016, and now being the chairman
of the Board, the chief executive officer and the chairman of each
of the nomination committee and the risk management committee
of the Company. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He was an executive Director from 12 February 2007 to
30 November 2015. Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Biological Science from the University of California, Berkeley and a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of San
Francisco.

Mr. Tse has over 29 years of experience in corporate management
in the agriculture, manufacturing, mining and merge and acquisitions
sectors. Mr. Tse was a registered consultant to Asian Development
Bank and held key positions in several companies listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any

other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (“Mr. Ho”), aged 53, was appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 5 August 2020 and
now being the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and
the member of each of the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He
holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration (Hons.), major in
Accounting, from Hong Kong Baptist University. He has over 27 years
of experience in finance and accounting, company secretary, initial
public offering, takeover, deposition and debt restructuring. He is
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

Mr. Ho is the company secretary, the chief financial officer and
authorized representative of China Wood International Holding Co.,
Limited (formerly known as HongDa Financial Holding Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
code: 1822) since 31 August 2020.

Mr. Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of CECEP COSTIN New Materials Group Limited (in provisional
liquidation) (“CECEP COSTIN”) (Stock Code: 2228), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 6 August 2018.
Based on published information, CECEP COSTIN received a winding
up petition and a summons for the appointment of joint provisional
liquidators dated 30 October 2017. Mr. Ho’s appointment was
subsequent to the winding up petition against CECEP COSTIN and he
was appointed by the joint provisional liquidators to meet the relevant
requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

He was also respectively appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Rosan Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 578) since
1 July 2020, an independent non-executive director of Yadong Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1795) since 21 October 2020, and an
independent non-executive director of JW (Cayman) Therapeutics Co.
Ltd (Stock Code: 2126) since 22 October 2020. The securities of the
above companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

From 11 April 2016 to 19 April 2017, Mr. Ho was appointed as a non
executive director of China Wood International Holdings Co., Limited
(Stock Code: 1822), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho did not hold any directorships in any

other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Tian Hong (“Mr. Tian”), aged 56, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 10 August 2020, and now
being the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company
and the member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from |Li 75 B4 48 K
B2 (Shanxi University of Finance & Economics*) in 2009 and qualified
as a senior economist of The Bank of China in 1998. He has over
30 years of experience in banking and finance.

Mr. Tian was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
PINE Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 4 July 2017
and designated as the member of each of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the remuneration committees of PINE.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

Mr. Shen Weidong (“Mr. Shen”), aged 51, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 2 November 2020, and now
being the member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the risk management
committee of the Company. He holds a Executive Master of Business
Administration Degree from Southwest International University, the
United States. He has over 24 years of managerial experience in hotel
and real estate industries.

Mr. Shen held multiple managerial roles in a number of reputable
corporations since 1996. Mr. Shen is currently the managing director
of WA EELEREFHEREAFR AR (Shanxi Economic and
Trade Group Dingxuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*) and KR
BEEMEMZEAR AR (Taiyuan Hengxin Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.").

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any

other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

The Group has been focusing on coal mining business in the financial
year 2020. The Group is principally engaged in (i) coal exploration and
development, sale of coking coal and other coal products and the
provision of coal trading and logistics services; (i) the development
of cassava cultivation and deep processing business for the related
ecological cycle industry chain; and (iii) the sale of information
technology products, provision of system integration services,
technology services, software development and solution services.

Coal mining business

Despite the continuing posing challenges for constructions delay
uncertainty and the effect of the outbreak of COVID-19, the financial
performance in the year 2020 of the coal mining business has been
promising for the Group overall. The Group has five coking coal mines,
Fuchang Mine, Jinxin Mine, Liaoyuan Mine, Bolong Mine and Xinfeng
Mine, located in Guijiao, Taiyuan City, Shanxi, PRC, three of which had
fully commenced in operation and the Bolong Mine was undergoing
constructions in the year.

The coal mines in operation during the year were Fuchang Mine, Jinxin
Mine and Liaoyuan Mine, which entered the joint trial operation in
October 2016, August 2018 and September 2018 respectively,
passed the inspection for completion in January 2017, December
2018 and December 2018 respectively and obtained{Z & 4 E Al
75 ) (the Permit for Safe Production®) in April 2017, April 2019 and
March 2019 respectively. The expected production capacity of
Fuchang Mine, Jinxin Mine and Liaoyuan Mine are 600,000 tonnes per
year, 450,000 tonnes per year and 600,000 tonnes per year
respectively.

To facilitate the structural reform by the state on the supply side of
coal, coal enterprises are required to support the implementation
of policies on dissolving excessive capacity. Moreover, as the state
tightens requirements on and ramps up inspection efforts in the
design, safety, and environmental protection aspects of coal mines
under construction, relevant policies and regulations issued in recent
years on safety and environmental protection applicable to the coal
industry become increasingly stringent and refined.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Coal mining business (continued)

As affected by the policies and outbreak of COVID-19, the Group’s
coal mines under construction inevitably experienced construction
delay or suspension, therefore reducing the effectiveness of
construction period during the year, leading to further extension of the
respective construction period. As such, the critical production stages
of the remaining coal mines under construction faced significant
uncertainties.

In February 2020, the mine reorganisation and consolidation proposal
for Bolong Mine and Xinfeng Mine was approved by the Shanxi
government. The expected production schedule for Safe Production
Date of Xinfeng Mine is after finishing the production of Bolong Mine.
Also, the Shanxi government approved the expected production
capacity of Jinxin Mine can be increased from 450,000 tonnes per
year to 600,000 tonnes per year. The above reorganisation and
changes will be effective only certain conditions are fulfilled such as the
statutory records are updated and the required work are done.

Cambodia business

The Group is seeking business opportunities related to cassava-based
agricultural and deep processing business in Cambodia.

Environmental, social and corporate responsibility

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
a higher environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. The Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in relation to its business including health and
safety, workplace conditions, employment and the environment.
The Group understands a better future depends on everyone’s
participation and contribution. It has encouraged employees,
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in
environmental and social activities which benefit the community as a
whole. The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided high
quality products and services to its customers so as to ensure
sustainable development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Loss for the year

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had recorded a loss
for the year of approximately HK$660,458,000 (2019: approximately
HK$1,204,859,000), representing a significant decrease of loss for the
year of approximately HK$544,401,000 or 45%.

The decrease in the loss for the year was mainly attributable to the
combined effects of the factors as stated below:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

12

Revenue

The increase in revenue from approximately HK$944,258,000
for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately
HK$1,303,796,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 due
to the increase in the sales volume of the mining products in the
year;

Gross profit

The increase in gross profit from approximately HK$100,148,000
for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately
HK$127,867,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 as the
proportion on the increase in revenue is larger than the increase in
cost of sales and services rendered;

Impairment loss recognised in respect of mining rights and
property, plant and equipment

For the year ended 31 December 2020, impairment loss
recognised in respect of mining rights and property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$291,229,000 (2019:
approximately HK$496,351,000). The decrease in estimated
value in use amount of the Group’s coal mines located in Shanxi
was the combined results of the change of production schedules
of one of the coal mines, coal prices and recovery rates of
cleaned coals adopted for an independent valuation report as at
31 December 2020. For more details regarding the valuation of
coal mines, please refer to the section headed “Valuation of coal
mines” stated later;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Loss for the year (continued)

(iv) Administrative and other operating expenses

v)

The decrease in administrative and other operating expenses from
approximately HK$590,958,000 for the year ended 31 December
2019 to approximately HK$283,442,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020 is mainly due to the significant decrease in
relocation and removal expense; and

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly consisted of interest expenses on
borrowings from non-controlling interest, convertible loan notes
and other borrowings and advances drawn on discounted bills.
Interest expenses on borrowings relating to construction in
progress for coal mines are capitalised to the extent that they
are directly attributable and used to finance the projects. Finance
costs were calculated from total borrowing costs less interest
expenses capitalised.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, finance costs amounted
to approximately HK$361,665,000 (2019: approximately
HK$415,590,000), decreasing by approximately HK$53,925,000
resulting from the decrease in total borrowing costs and the
increase in interest expenses capitalised. Interest expenses
capitalised over the years increased from approximately
HK$71,866,000 to approximately HK$83,031,000 as one of the
mines has sharply increased in construction in progress in the
year.
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BEEBNWR DN

$ot %5 12 B ()

FEEEER

(iv) ITEREMEEEH

v)

THEREMKEEEAREE S —NF
+Z A =+—H1EF/E#590,958,000/%
TR EBEE_ZE_TEF+-_A=+—
B IFF[E#)283,442,00087C © JhEEH
RIEBFEREARNER D : &

AELA

REXNAEIZRRBIFTREEZEE
AMBREREEREMEERBERER
BRZANEHAX - ARRBEBEEIRZ
EEFERAXE FAERNL  EEEH
HBEABEARBEMNER - BEKAT)
BBEERTRENMEMNBFAXFHE -

HEe—_ZEZ-_=F+_A=+—HI#&
- BEKALA361,665,000% T
(ZZ— N4 : 49415,590,000/8 7T) * &
L #153,925,000/8 7T TR EEER
AR R E A FI B RS IEMETE - 8
FEEN BRI ERELBLT1,866,000
BT I E 4983,031,0008 T © REA
HPE—ERSERFANEBEMNEEZT

2 o

13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the loss attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$312,362,000 (2019:
approximately HK$695,650,000), mainly due to (i) the decrease in
impairment loss recognised in respect of mining rights and property,
plant and equipment to approximately HK$291,229,000 for the year
2020 while an impairment loss of approximately HK$496,351,000 for
the year 2019 and (ii) decrease in administrative and other operating
expenses of approximately HK$307,516,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Valuation of coal mines

The decrease in recoverable amounts of coal mines as at
31 December 2020 was mainly due to the change of production
schedules of one of the coal mines, coal prices and recovery rates of
cleaned coals. Greater China Appraisal Limited (“Greater China”), an
independent qualified professional valuer, estimated the recoverable
amounts of the coal mining business based on income approach using
a discount rate (post-tax) of 12.56% (31 December 2019: 13.33%)
and expected cleaned coal price of RMB877 per tonne (31 December
2019: expected cleaned coal price of RMB885 per tonne) based on
information obtained from Shanxi.

The operation of the Bolong Mine was further delayed due to the effect
of the outbreak of COVID-19 and reorganisation and consolidation
of Bolong Mine and Xinfeng Mine which was approved by Shanxi
government in February 2020. Please refer to “Business Review”
section for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Valuation of coal mines (continued)

Greater China has consistently applied the income approach for the
valuation of coal mines as at 31 December 2020, 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting Periods”) respectively. The
income approach is applied for this valuation as the economic benefit
streams can be identified and ascertained based on the mining plans
and planned capital expenditure to be incurred, as well as other cost
estimates. This method is commonly used in, and widely accepted
for, the valuation of mineral assets and resources project. The key
assumptions and parameters in the valuation of coal mines as at the
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Reporting Periods are set out as below:

“Z-2%+-A=1-H

Methodology hit Income Approach

L ON’;
Key Assumptions FERK
1. Production Schedule-Safe 1. 4EBRE-%%
Production Date HEAH
Bolong Mine it 4 Fourth quarter of 2021
“E--FENE
Fuchang Mine BERR Operating
BES
Jinxin Mine 2BER Operating
BES
Liaoyuan Mine BERER Operating
BEH
Xinfeng Ming BEREE Note ll
ME=
2. Raw Coal Price (per tonne) 2. REE®(EH) =
Cleaned Coal Price (per tonne) TREERE(EH) RMB877
ARBBITR

3. Recoveryrate (Cleaned coal) 3. EINE(BE) 48%-53%

4. Discount Rate (post-tax) 4. BRE(HR) 12.56%

5. Ming Operating Costs, Capital 5. TRELEMA « AKX  Based on technical report
Expenditures and Production THREERRE issued by John T. Boyd
Schedule (annual production) (FES) (“JT Boyd”) in 2017

RENST.HENT
(UTEEIR=B—-tF
HgzBliRs
6. Allowable annual working days 6. EfFE T{ER 276 days
276H

31 December 2020

ERAGMBELTREREM - KBENRERZEEM
AZETERERZ2HEINNT :

Reporting Periods

HEH

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
“E-NFTZA=t-H ZE-N\F+ZA=1+-H
Income Approach Income Approach
WAE WAE
First quarter of 2021 Third quarter of 2019
“EC-FE-F “E-NEEZF
Operating Operating
2igh 2ET
Operating Third quarter of 2019
2iEh “—Z-NEE=F
Operating Third quarter of 2019
2ET “T-NFE=F
Note Il Third quarter of 2020
MiE = “TREFE=F
- RMB517
- ARESTT
RMB885 =
ARH885T =
53%-62% =
13.33% 13.45%

Based on technical report
issued by JT Boyd in 2017

Based on technical report
issued by JT Boyd in 2017

RETBEN_Z—+F REMEER_Z—+F
TF 2 Kl E gz RiwRE

276 days 276 days

276H 276H

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #%EEZEREBEBRAT 15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Valuation of coal mines (continued)

Note I:  As shown in the above table, the primary change in valuation
assumption would be the adoption of different coal prices in between
the raw coal price and cleaned coal price in the years and delay in
mines’ commercial operation schedule. The coal price is based on
the existing and past quoted commodity prices in the mining industry.
The production schedule is affected by the policies and regulations
issued applicable to the coal industry. The coal mines under
construction inevitably experienced construction delay or suspension,
therefore reducing the effectiveness of construction period during
the year, leading to further extension of the respective construction
period. There was no change in valuation methodology in those
valuations. For discount rate, calculation of weighted average cost
of capital (“WACC”) is based on market participant’s data which are
varied daily due to new information and changing market expectation
every day.

Note Il:  Mine reorganisation and consolidation for Bolong Mine and Xinfeng
Mine proposal was approved by the Shanxi government in February
2020. The expected production schedule for Safe Production Date of
Xinfeng Mine is after finishing the production of Bolong Mine.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Total capital deficiencies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded total assets
of approximately HK$7,078,231,000 (2019: approximately
HK$7,246,276,000), which were financed by total liabilities
of approximately HK$8,502,219,000 (2019: approximately
HK$8,148,311,000) and total capital deficiencies of approximately
HK$1,423,988,000 (2019: approximately HK$902,035,000).

Gearing

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio as computed as
the Group’s other borrowings, lease liabilities, liabilities component of
convertible loan notes over total equity. Gearing ratio is not meaningful
as total equity of the Group was deficit as at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019.
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Liquidity

The Group had total cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$48,097,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: approximately
HK$45,788,000). The Group did not have any bank borrowings for

both years.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Board has set out the following key financial performance
indicators to measure and monitor the Group’s business performance
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the comparative figures for

the corresponding year in 2019:

Indicators

B
Revenue growth rate (%)

WAIE &2 (%)

Gross profit margin (%)
EFE(%)

Loss before taxation (HK$’000)
BREEBIE R (FET)

Operating cash inflow (HK$’000)
LERBRA(FHET)

Current ratio
mBL K

2020 2019
—g-2F —T-NE

38.1 (6.0)
9.8 10.6
(852,913) (1,323,913)
250,676 250,940
0.04 0.08

BEEBNWR DN

RBES

RZZB_ZTF+-A=+—H xEERS
MR & S (B YHEEE#148,097,0008 L (=T —
N - 445,788,000/ 7T) © ANE=[E F M A4
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MRERREER

EEEIHUTEEMBRERR  UEE
RESRAKRENEE_Z-_2F+_A=1
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Objectives:

B #Y:

assess the growth of the Group’s businesses and
overall sales performance

AHAERREEBRRREBRHERE

review the pricing strategy of the Group’s
products and services and direct cost control

T e 7 5 [ 2 om 2 AR A% B FE (B AR B K%
BEBRZE

measure the operating profitability of the Group’s
overall businesses

BEAREEBEBNATIES

reflect the Group’s ability to generate sufficient
cash flow from its main business

RRASERETEXBELRWRERAEE

assess the Group’s ability to meet its short-term
debt obligations
FHEAEEEREEHREREREE S
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFNWR DN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks

FTERB

Business/Operation Risk

x5,/ EERBR

Economic risk

A e

Liquidity risk

MEBETRR

Description
it

With the enhancement of structural reform
by the state on the supply side of coal,
coal enterprises are required to support
implementing policies on de-capacity and
optimization. The state tightens requirements
on and ramps up inspection efforts in design,
safety, and environmental protection aspects
of coal mines under construction. In recent
years, relevant policies and regulations on
safety and environmental protection applicable
to the coal industry have become increasingly
stringent and refined.

BEEBRR AR R B RAIAEBIENE - KR
FARRSRE R BB - IR &EH
ERREESR  RENRRRETENE
SRISEGR - WINKBENE < TEK - &
RARRERITENA AL 2 MIRFREH)EE
BRER T EBERTTE

Economic risk is the risk of macro-economy
and policies in Mainland China, the business
of mining operations where the Company
operates in is facing various risks and
uncertainties.

4578 [, B 5 R B P b R A R SR 2 TR
- ANR RIS FTEM 2 BRIRE TS E R &
ER g R TEAAEE o

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group would
not be able to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due.

nBESRBRIEAKEAREEITEE BT
BEEZREE -
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TERBRTABEE

Mitigating actions

RIRIETE

The Group will closely monitor and speculate the
existing mines that major technical renovations
are carried out and ensure the production,
environmental, and safety procedures
measures are in line with the relevant regulatory
requirements and national standards.

AEBBZYERMEATRBRER - NET
BEREMMGE - WHEREE  REMKER
Fria i 1S & 1ERE B E AR E B FIRE o

The Company closely monitors the change of
macro-economy policies in Mainland China and
adjusts its business strategy.

e BRIl L P~ T oL
B R EIR -

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

REBRRBESRRE  NEBERRER
ERERRARZHAT B EBYIKT
NRAREB s RELERBRES KRS

MEKBZHE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks
FERK

Credit risk

EERR

Price risk

B E R

Description
it

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter
party will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group.

EERREHFIERESVAETMERA
SEELMBERRR

Price risk is the risks of significant fluctuations
in international coal prices from year to
year, especially due to the unforeseeable
development of the COVID-19 pandemic, will
cast corresponding significant fluctuations in
year end valuations of intangible assets as
well as exploration and evaluation assets
which may have material impacts on the
Group’s financial results due to the resultant
impairment losses or reversal of impairment
losses, and also on the Group’s total non-
current assets.

BERRER B AR BRI FRERE A
% BRI AR IEECOVID-19% 15 2 T~ A]
BRER - SERETLEE N RER LG
BEZFRGELRBEREAKRE @ K]
BEE P 4 2 RUE B 1R SR B B 1R B B S K
SEMBREEEEATE ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ
ZIHEMBEEREELEATE

EEENWR DN

THRERZZTERREE)

Mitigating actions

RIRHE

The Group sets different categories for
customers settling with bills according to
internal credit rating assessment. The Group
does not accept bills from customers with low
credit rating.
REBERBAFEETRTERARBET
BEZEPRETRER - AEE T ERE
EFABEZEFPREZRE -

The Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of
supervision and control over market price risk
and alert thereof, continuously improves its risk
control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses
control.

RABMBETHEZEBRHAE - TOEEY
minERRR 2 EEMREER - FERTT
MIZERRAREEE N - BRI EERR
A STHEH] o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFNWR DN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks
FERK

Exchange rate risk

PEE < [ fiz

Environmental Risks

RERAR

People risk

AT R

Legal and regulatory risk

/2&& FEQ.J_WM

Description
it

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in
foreign exchange rates would affect the
Group’s income and the value of its holdings
of assets.

SNERIRIEEX BB KT EREEMBA R
s EEBEZRER -

Environmental Risks is the risk of stringent
requirements in relation to environmental
protection in the Environmental Protection
Law of People’s Republic of China.

L&fﬁtﬂ ME?E‘:F'ﬁ/\E ﬂ.f&i‘ﬁﬁ

&5

People risk is the risk of loss the services of
any Directors, senior management and other
key personnel could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s businesses.

ATEBREENES  SREEBENEME
xAE%%ﬁT%ﬁ$EI%WLWEKT
NP8 zRR

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a
breach of laws and regulations could lead to
litigation, investigations or disputes, resulting
in additional costs on civil and/or criminal
proceedings and reputational damage being
incurred.

ERNEE R IEER R ER T e B BGR
W AESAM  MEBRRERIHEF
MELBINKARBERBZ AR -
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Mitigating actions

RIEHE

The management closely monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.
EREEMERMERRE  THNERER
ZREFERNEER -

The Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further
strengthens supervision and examination in
terms of environmental protection. It also
constantly promotes energy saving and
reduction of emissions.
RARTETEERHE KRBT #—
fMﬁ%%%ﬂﬁ§°$ CIDESE$i:32):0
BERHE ©

The Group provides competitive reward and
benefit packages to attract and retain the
employees the Group need and ensure that
the staff of the Group has the right working
environment to enable them to do the best job
and maximise their satisfaction at work.

AEBREABRF N BB REFFE
W RBEAEETELZES - Iﬁﬁ$§
BeBTITHERBECIIFRE  EEIEN

BESEZTERARRAREMHESET
EmEE °

The management closely monitor changes and
developments in the regulatory environment
and ensure that sufficient resources being made
available to implement for any compulsory
changes and seek legal or other specialist
advice as appropriate.
ERBTYEREERRIEHNER
RERHERETEMARNEE - UZHEX
FEIEMEXEER (WEA) -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES
Subscription of Shares

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 22 April
2020, 27 April 2020, 4 May 2020 and 6 May 2020 in relation to (a) the
proposed issue of 487,827,170 new Shares (equivalent to 24,381,358
Shares after Second Share Consolidation (as hereinafter defined)
becoming effective) under General Mandate to three (3) independent
subscribers; and (b) the proposed issue of 1,264,148,900 new
Shares (equivalent to 63,207,445 Shares after share consolidation
becoming effective) under General Mandate to eleven (11) independent
subscribers for settlement of the Outstanding Indebtedness. Unless
the context requires, capitalised terms used herein shall bear the same
meanings as defined.

For Subscription A, the gross proceeds are approximately
HK$10,342,000 (the net proceeds are approximately HK$10,294,000)
and have been applied towards repayment of indebtedness and the
general working capital of the Group. For Subscription B, the gross
proceeds are approximately HK$25,848,000 (the net proceed are
approximately HK$25,800,000) and have been used to set off against
the Outstanding Indebtedness.

All the conditions set out in the subscription agreements for
Subscription A and Subscription B have been fulfilled and the
completion of took place on 13 May 2020, where an aggregate
of 487,827,170 new Shares (equivalent to 24,381,358 Shares
after Share Consolidation becoming effective) (Subscription A) and
1,264,148,900 new Shares (equivalent to 63,207,445 Shares after
Second Share Consolidation becoming effective) (Subscription B) have
been successfully issued and allotted to the Subscribers pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreements. For details,
please refer to the relevant announcements of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DN

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

Use of Proceeds

The abovesaid subscriptions has been completed on 13 May 2020. As
at 31 December 2020, an updated use of proceeds is as follows:

Event

EX

The subscription of an aggregate of
487,827,170 new shares (equivalent
to 24,381,358 shares after
Second Share Consolidation becoming
effective) by subscribers pursuant to
three (3) conditional subscription
agreements each dated 22 April 2020
entered into between the Company and
each of the subscribers respectively

RBARBARREBBAZEIIL=0)
HARA—Z_TFWA-_+=-HZE
1R 1T R R A $£487,827,170
ARETAR D (B IR & BHERRE
& 724,381,358 12 1%

The subscription of an aggregate of
1,264,148,900 new shares (equivalent
to 63,207,445 shares after
Second Share Consolidation becoming
effective) by subscribers pursuant
to eleven (11) conditional subscription
agreements each dated 22 April 2020
entered into between the Company and
each of the subscribers respectively

REARBARGEREASBFI LT —
ANV ESHAE-Z-_TFN/_-_+_H
ZHE GG RBEHRARES R
1,264,148,9008 ¥ i fn (PA3 —IRAR 17
B EBIBAEE 763,207,445 Ik 19
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KEEH(E)
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tREEEOR S EERA+=HE
e R=ZBE-FBFE+=-—F=+—H " B
BEMSFAROT :

Net proceeds and intended
use of proceeds

FERBEFERMEREAREAR

Actual use of proceeds

FEREERRAE

The net proceeds from the subscription
of approximately HK$10,294,000 will
be applied towards repayment of
indebtedness and the general working
capital of the Group

The proceeds have been used
as intended

R EIEFTBRIEFEEAI10,294,00078
TTERARNERERREIEREBN—
ReEBEES

PSRBT BIE

The net proceeds from the subscription
of approximately HK$25,800,000
will be used to set off the outstanding
indebtedness owned by the
Company to the subscribers under
the Loan Agreements (as defined in the
announcement of the Company dated
22 April 2020)

The proceeds have been used
to set off the outstanding
indebtedness owned by
the Company under the
Loan Agreements

RIB = TR TS IR F BE 425,800,000
BT AR AR FIRIBEE R IR
(FERAQAFTBHRA-_T-TF
WMAZ+ZR2R%E) &RBEAN
KREEED

PRISFIAC AIMESHA QA
RIBE I AAERD
AEEER



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ACQUISITION OF MINORITY INTEREST IN A
COAL MINING COMPANY INVOLVING ISSUE OF
CONSIDERATION SHARES UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 25 May
2020, 26 May 2020, 15 June 2020, 29 June 2020, 29 July 2020,
31 August 2020, 29 September 2020, 29 October 2020, 27 November
2020 and 31 December 2020 in respect of the discloseable
transaction relating to investment in a coal mining company involving
issue of consideration shares under specific mandate. Unless the
context requires otherwise, capitalised terms used herein shall bear
the same meanings as defined.

The Agreement has been ceased on 31 December 2020 as the
conditions precedent of the Agreement, including the passing of all
necessary resolutions by the Shareholders to approve the allotment
and issue of the Consideration Shares, have not been fulfilled and
the Company has no intention to extend the Long Stop Date. The
Company is of the view that the termination of the Agreement shall
have no material adverse impacts on the business, operations and
financial position of the Group. Details can be referred to the relevant
announcements of the Company.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION
First Share Consolidation

Reference was made to the Company’s circular dated 5 June 2020
and the Company’s announcements dated 23 April 2020, 8 May
2020, 29 May 2020 and 26 June 2020 in relation to, among others,
the proposed share consolidation (the “First Share Consolidation”).
Unless the context requires otherwise, capitalised terms used herein
shall bear the same meanings as defined.

The Board proposed that every twenty (20) Existing Shares in the share
capital of the Company be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated
Share.

The First Share Consolidation has been terminated as the resolution
was not passed by the Shareholders at the SGM on 26 June 2020.
Details can be referred to the Company’s announcement dated
26 June 2020.

BEEBNWR DN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DN

SHARE CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
Second Share Consolidation

Reference was made to the Company’s circular dated 20 July 2020
and the Company’s announcements dated 30 June 2020, 13 July
2020, 17 July 2020, 24 July 2020, 4 August 2020 and 5 August 2020
in relation to, among others, the proposed share consolidation and
change of board lot size in order to comply with Rule 13.64 of the
Listing Rules (the “Second Share Consolidation”). Unless the context
requires, capitalised terms used herein shall bear the same meanings
as defined.

The Board proposed that every twenty (20) Existing Shares in the share
capital of the Company be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated
Share. Upon the Second Share Consolidation becoming effective, the
board lot size for trading on the Stock Exchange be changed from
10,000 Existing Shares to 20,000 Consolidated Shares.

The Second Share Consolidation and the transactions contemplated
thereunder have been passed as the ordinary resolution by the
Shareholders at the SGM on 5 August 2020. Details can be referred to
the relevant announcements of the Company.

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

Reference was made to the Company’s circular dated 30 September
2020 and the Company’s announcements dated 22 July 2020,
24 July 2020, 29 July 2020, 13 August 2020, 11 September 2020
and 19 October 2020 in respect of the connected transaction relating
to, among others, the proposed issue of convertible loan notes under
specific mandate (the “2020 Convertible Loan Note”). Unless the
context requires, capitalised terms used herein shall bear the same
meanings as defined.

The Company entered into the Subscription Agreements with
the Subscribers, pursuant to which each of the Subscribers
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes, which
would offset against the amount due by the Company under the
convertible loan notes issued in 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes is a zero coupon loan notes and
will be matured on the second anniversary of the issue date with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$395,000,000. The conversion price
of the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes shall be initially at HK$0.22 per
share (equivalent to HK$0.011 per share before the Second Share
Consolidation becoming effective) and subject to adjustments.

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes have been passed as the ordinary
resolution by the Shareholders at the SGM on 19 October 2020.
All condition set out in the Subscription Agreements with the
respective subscribers have been fulfilled and the completion took
place on 21 October 2020. Details can be referred to the relevant
announcements of the Company.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2020.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

Share charges of entire issued share capital of several subsidiaries of
the Company, charges over the Company’s shares which is favour of
China OEPC Limited (“China OEPC”), charge on accounts receivables
to be owed to the Company and land charges over certain lands in
Cambodia acquired or to be acquired by the Group have been created
for securing the convertible bonds. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 27 June 2017.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and funds from equity and/or debt financing activities. All
financing methods will be considered as long as such methods are
beneficial to the Company. Bank deposits are in HK$, RMB, US$ and
Cambodian dollars (“KHR”).

CONTINGENT LIABILITY AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2020
and 2019.

The Group had capital commitments for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment which were contracted but not provided for
as at 31 December 2020 of approximately HK$917,233,000 (2019:
HK$670,277,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R DM

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group earned revenue in
RMB and incurred costs in HK$, RMB, US$ and KHR. Although the
Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy,
it does not foresee any significant currency exposure in the near
future. However, any permanent or significant change in RMB against
HK$, may have possible impact on the Group’s results and financial
positions.

PROSPECTS

It is a breakthrough development to the Group in 2020 which three
coking coal mines are in full operating in the year. Besides, the sales
strategy is changed to mainly selling the clean coal rather than the raw
coal during the year.

The outbreak of COVID-19 in PRC and the quarantine and
transportation and travel restriction measures imposed by the
government in early 2020 to prevent further spread of COVID-19 have
had the negative effect to the mining operation of the Group, which the
coal mines in Shanxi were suspended in February 2020. The Group
has implemented certain controls to minimise the impact of COVID-19
to the operation and the mining operation have been gradually
resumed and returned to normal operation in mid of the year.

In the future, the Group would keep monitoring the development of
the COVID-19 outbreak and assesses the relevant impacts. Besides,
the Group would implement contingency measures in case any other
similar situations exist.

Amid the global epidemic crisis and the associated economic turmoail,
the Group will keep a close eye on both PRC and overseas markets.
The Group intended to seize more business opportunities including but
not limited to the coal mining and also looking forward to the potential
stimulating effects on economy resulting the counter-cyclical policies
imposed by the governments around the world subsequent to the
crisis.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERME

The following is a summary of the published results and the assets, AN ARNEEIZBLE S FEHERM ERTEE
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group, prepared on the EREZ D AMEEANNEE - BERIFE
basis set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. XERZE o B TEREEZLES
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial ~ BAf§RFzRE A —2 5 o

statements.

RESULTS 3

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-Ef —T-NF ZZT-N\F ZZ—+tF ZZT—KF
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
THx FEL FiET FHL FET

Revenue LON 1,303,796 944,258 1,004,636 514,409 197,765
(Loss)/profit before taxation ~ Br¥ia1 (&), A (852,913) (1,323,913) (3,153,345) 753,080 310,070
Income tax credit/(expense)  FrEHER,(BX) 192,455 119,054 670,242 (240,516) (118,872
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE(HR),RwA (660,458) (1,204,859) (2,483,103) 512,564 191,198
Less: Attributable to W IR R

non-controlling

interests 348,096 509,209 1,301,041 (418,456) (83,593)
(Loss)/profit attributable i YNGTE 2SN

to owners of the Company (&8, wH (312,362)  (695,650) (1,182,062) 94,108 107,605

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BEE BERFERESR

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
“ECEF —T-NF —T-N\F —E—+F —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET FET

Non-current assets ERBEE 6,803,141 7,049,630 7,901,132 11,413,381 9,403,806
Current assets MEEE 275,090 196,646 358,763 336,454 237,449
Current liabilities ik =R (6,535,843) (2,454,463) (1,405,684) (6,366,010) (5,248,475)
Net current liabilities mEEEFE (6,260,753) (2,257,817) (1,046,921) (6,029,556) (5,011,026)
Total assets less current liabilities & ELER T EE 542,388 4,791,813 6,854,211 5,383,825 4,392,780
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,966,376) (5,693,848) (6,617,348) (2,581,269) (2,310,965)
Non-controlling interests FEiE R = (1,196,916) (1,552,400) (2,065,414) (3,483,554) (2,935,887)
Capital deficit attributable to RARHEA AER

owners of the Company BB (2,620,904) (2,454,435) (1,828,551)  (680,998)  (854,072)
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in (i) coal exploration and
development, sale of coking coal and other coal products and the
provision of coal trading and logistics services; (ii) the development
of cassava cultivation and deep processing business for the related
ecological cycle industry chain; and (iii) the sale of information
technology products, provision of system integration services,
technology services, software development and solution services.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 of
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position and
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Financial Summary” on page 5 to page 27
respectively. Such discussions constitute an integral part of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 88 of this
report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy with effect
from 29 March 2019 (the “Dividend Policy”). The payment of dividend
is subject to the compliance with related laws and regulations,
including the laws of Bermuda, Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws”), the Listing Rules, and the financial reporting standards that the
Group has adopted. The Board will continually review the Dividend
Policy from time to time and reserves the right to amend or modify
the Dividend Policy as and when the Board may deem necessary.
There can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)

The Company intends to create long term value for the Shareholders
through maintaining a balance between dividend distribution,
preserving adequate liquidity and reserve to meet its working capital
requirements and capturing future growth opportunities. When
considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board shall
take into account the following factors of the Group:

— the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

— the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

Depending on the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or
period as:

1. interim dividend;
2. final dividend;
3. special dividend; and

4. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the
Shareholders’ approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert
to the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution
ratio and the Company’s dividend distribution record in the past, if
any, may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no
way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 16 of the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had 526,260,404 shares of
HK$0.2 each in issue (31 December 2019: 8,773,232,014 shares of
HK$0.01 each in issue).

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year and share-based payment transactions together with the reasons
for such movements, are set out in Notes 27 and 35, respectively, to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 196 to 197, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 (the “Act”) of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay dividend,
or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as they
become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the

aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2020, the Company had no retained profits available
for cash distribution or distribution in species. Subject to the Act,
the contributed surplus is distributable. The Company does not
have any distributable contributed surplus at of 31 December 2020
(2019: approximately HK$1,116,554,000). The Company’s share
premium account in the amount of approximately HK$8,944,986,000
at of 31 December 2020 (2019: approximately HK$8,926,412,000),
following a reduction thereof in compliance with the Act and the
Shareholders’ approval, may be set off against the Company’s
accumulated losses. Thereafter, any balance in the Company’s share
premium account may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus
shares.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) provides that the
Directors shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
respective offices or trusts.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws
or the laws of Bermuda, the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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SHARES/DEBENTURES ISSUED
Shares

During the year 2020, there were 87,598,803 shares (equivalent to
1,751,976,070 shares before Second Share Consolidation becoming
effective) be issued and allotted due to the completion of subscription
of shares. Details can be referred to the section headed “Subscription
of Shares” under Fund Raising Activities.

On 5 August 2020, a share consolidation in which every twenty (20)
existing shares in the company’s share capital be consolidated into
one (1) consolidated share has been passed as the ordinary resolution
by the Shareholders. Details can be referred to the section headed
“Share Consolidation”.

As at 31 December 2020, there were 526,260,404 shares in issued.

Debentures

The convertible loan notes with an aggregate principle amount of
HK$395,000,000 issued on 30 July 2018 (the “2018 CN”) were due
on 29 July 2020, and the convertible loan notes with the same amount
has been issued to the holders on 21 October 2020 set off against the
2018 CN. Details can be referred to the section headed “Convertible
Loan Notes” under Management Discussion and Analysis.

Save as disclosed above, no share or debentures had been issued
during the year ended 31 December 2020. Details of the Company’s
share capital are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statement.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2020 and as at the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2020.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted to approximately
48% of the Group’s total sales in 2020. Sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 86% of the Group’s
total sales in 2020.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 100%
of the total purchases in 2020.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the substantial
Shareholders (which are disclosed to the Directors) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION
Convertible Loan Notes

On 22 July 2020, the Company entered into the subscription
agreements with China OEPC Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability, and Ms. Hao Ting (“Ms. Hao”)
respectively (collectively, the “Subscribers”), pursuant to which each
of the Subscribers has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue the 2020 Convertible Loan
Notes, which would offset against the amount due by the Company
under the convertible loan notes issued in 2018.

China OEPC Limited is a substantial Shareholder holding 94,292,961
shares, represents approximately 17.92% of the issued share capital
of the Company, which in turn is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang,
an executive Director; and Ms. Hao is the spouse of Mr. Zhang
and therefore an associate of Mr. Zhang. As such, each of China
OEPC Limited and Ms. Hao is a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Subscriptions constitute connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes is a zero coupon loan notes and
will be matured on the second anniversary of the issue date with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$395,000,000. The conversion price
of the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes is HK$0.22 per share (equivalent
to HK$0.011 per share before the Second Share Consolidation
becoming effective) and subject to adjustments.

On 19 October 2020, the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes have been
passed as ordinary resolutions of the Company by the Shareholders
by way of poll. All condition set out in the subscription agreement with
the Subscriber have been fulfilled and the completion took place on
21 October 2020.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)
Convertible Loan Notes (continued)

Details of which can be referred to the Company’s announcements
dated 22 July 2020, 24 July 2020, 29 July 2020, 13 August 2020,
11 September 2020 and 19 October 2020 and the circular dated
30 September 2020. Unless the context requires, capitalised terms
used herein shall bear the same meanings as defined.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and administrative
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the Company
have been entered into or have existed.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated according
to the prevailing manpower market conditions and individual
performance, qualification, experience and the remuneration policies
are reviewed on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed approximately
661 full time employees in Hong Kong, Cambodia and PRC. The
Group remunerates its employees based on individual and business
performance. Other employee benefits include mandatory provident
fund, insurance and medical coverage, training programs and share
option.

The emoluments of the Directors were determined with reference to
their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the Company’s
performance, prevailing market conditions and the market emoluments
for directors of other listed companies and reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee.

The Group’s total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
for the year ended 31 December 2020 under review amounted
to approximately HK$71,356,000 (as at 31 December 2019:
approximately HK$90,550,000).

34 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &

RERS (&)

EBREREE(E)
ERAFBI2HARABHA-_S-_ZTF
+tA-+=-H - ZE-FEF+HA=-+m@mA -
“E-EFL+A-+NH - ZZE-FTF)N\A

T=A - ZF-FFAA+ - HAR=F=F
FTATNRAZAEURBMR-_T_ZF
NA=Z+THZBK - BXEREREN - R
A& ARz AR EMEE BB BRI
o

EEEHN

REBFE  BMEJVXFEREBARRE
MRERAEBEXH 2 EERITHALD -

BE R FHMER

AEEEREEEFHMIOIRERITANTS
ARETE - WERBABEARR - BF - &

R-Z-ZEF+_A=+—8  ~&EBE&EE

B REELTEREBDO6IZREZHES -

AEBREAAREBRRETREZH

B RibEERMNEFRFIELES - FR
BEURAL - 10 B M B AR o

%%M@E%%ﬁ%%$@ﬂ2ﬁﬁ&%

CARRZERE CBITMREEMETA
7§$Zm%wéﬁﬁm'lmﬁM§A§
=/ -

AEEREE_T-_TF+_A=+—AH1t
@Eﬁ%&ﬂq#@;lﬁﬁ@%ﬁ(@%%%@ﬂﬁ
#971,356,0008 T(M—ZE—HLE+ A=+
—H : #790,550,00087T) °



RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance to all staff in Hong
Kong . Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees are each
required to make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme and
contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Details of the retirement and
employee benefits scheme of the Group are disclosed in the section
headed “Employee benefits” set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable donations
(2019: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
Ms. Zhang Tingting (retired on 5 August 2020)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Zhu Zheyu (resigned on 12 June 2020)
Mr. Chang Che-Fa (retired on 5 August 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (resigned on 10 January 2020)
Mr. Lyu Guoping (retired on 5 August 2020)
Mr. Jin Xuliang (retired on 5 August 2020)
Mr. Lam Chi Wai
(appointed on 10 January 2020 and retired on 5 August 2020)

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (appointed on 5 August 2020)
Ms. An Juan
(appointed on 5 August 2020 and resigned on 10 August 2020)

Mr. Tian Hong (appointed on 10 August 2020)
Mr. Shen Weidong
(appointed on 2 November 2020)

In accordance with Bye-laws 111 (A) and 115 and the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules,
each of Mr. Tse Michael Nam, Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen
Weidong, Mr. Tian Hong shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Being eligible, each of Mr. Tse Michael Nam,
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong will
offer themselves for re-election as executive Director or independent

non-executive Director (as the case may be).

All other remaining Directors shall continue in office.

36 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 F &

EE

RAHERH  EFEEHAG)REFTMENX ¢
BITES

AR (EERITHAAE)

R=ERE
REFEXETMN_FT_FTF\ARAED
FHTES

REEEXETMR_FT_FTF AT ZB&#D
REBRRENR_FT_FTF/\ARAED

BYFHTES
REBEZT(R_FT-_FTF—A+HED
AEFEEMR_F_FTF/\ARRED
FRELEM_F_FF/\ARAED)
MERFEE

(RZZE-ZF—AT+HEZEIRK
RZZEZZFNARBRME)
MEEEERZE_EFNARBEEZT)
Zig L
(RZZEZZEFN\ARHEZER
RZZEZZFN\A+HED)
AREERZZTEZEF \A+HEZT)
ILEREE
(RZEZZEF+—RZAEZME)

RE R BAANE111AIE R E115IE A R
R EMRBIME MO EEARTARE
EERWRE ([EERTAATH 2 7 AlE
X BEAERE  MESLE  LEREAL
FRAEEESEBREERRBFAS LR
BER - FEFEEE RS LE - %ﬁ%
EERARAESERFAERBEBEEER
EZ%%&HTT%%X%JJHMT?%(@Iﬁxﬂﬁﬁ
TE) e

FBEEMM T ESHEBRE -



INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since more time was needed to find a suitable candidate to act as the
independent non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”), the Board only
comprises two (2) INEDs following the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) held on 5 August 2020 (the
“2020 AGM”). As such, the Company fails to meet the requirements of
having at least three (3) INEDs on the Board under Rule 3.10(1) of the
Listing Rules for the period from 5 August 2020 to 1 November 2020.
The Company has appointed an INED on 2 November 2020 to fill up
this vacancy.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has complied with the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2020. The Company has
received the confirmation of independence from all three (3) INEDs,
namely Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian
Hong in accordance with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all INEDs and concluded
that all of them are independent within the definition of the Listing
Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the INED has been impaired up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in section headed “Connected Transaction” and
Note 32 of the consolidated financial statements, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which, the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, substantial Shareholders nor any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest
in a business which causes or may cause competes or may cause any
significant competition with the business of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except as disclosed above and in Note 15 of the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares granted to any of the Directors
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by any of them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries, or related companies a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”)
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which had been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the “HKCO”), were as follows:

(i) Long/short position in the shares

No. of

Name of Directors Nature of interest shares held

EEnE BENE RGO #E

Mr Zhang Sanhuo Corporate Interest 94,292,961
R=EEHE EBE S

91,361,894

7,658

Mr. Tse Michael Nam Beneficial owner
=

HEERE T B A
Notes:

1 China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best Growth Enterprises Limited
(“Best Growth”) and is ultimate beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang.
Therefore, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by China OEPC. As at 31 December 2020,
China OEPC held 94,292,961 shares in which 91,361,894 shares
had been pledged.

2 The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2020.
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BR
1 Long 17.9175%
"R
Short
KRB
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S
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(ii) Long/short position in the underlying shares

EERFETHRAEBRKSD -
MERDREZ 2EER AR (E)

(i) REBRGZEFR KA

Name of Director Capacity Number of shares held
EEp &% FrisR A # A
Personal Family Corporate
Interests Interests interests
BAESR RikER EEER
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Beneficial owner - 68181818 o
K=HiE4E EEBERA
Interest in controlled . L W7 06D TRl
corporation
REESEE
=
Notes:

1

These underlying shares are held by Ms. Hao Ting, spouse of
Mr. Zhang, for the amount of HK$15,000,000 convertible loan notes
(“CN”), which are convertible into 68,181,818 shares. By virtue of
the SFO, these underlying shares are deemed as a family interest to
Mr. Zhang.

These underlying shares are held by China OEPC which is beneficially
owned by Best Growth and is ultimate beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhang for the amount of HK$380,000,000 CN, which are
convertible into 1,727,272,727 shares. By virtue of the SFO, these
underlying shares are deemed as a corporate interest to Mr. Zhang.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2020.

40 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 F#

Approximate
percentage of
issued share
Number of capital as at
share 31 December
options held Note Position 2020
R=B-%F
t2A=1-8
Fi% HERTRAZ
BREHE W RE R
Personal
interests
BAES
- 1 Long 12.9559%
5]
- 2 Llong 328.2164%
8 )
B 5 -

1

ZEHERMBREEZEBHBELR
+ A€ % 415,000,000/ 7T 2 7] # i
BERZER(TAUBREZE] JERE
68,181,818 17 1FH - BIFFEH & A
BIEF - ZSHEBROWERREEY
Rk o

ZEREROBTREAERASEA
380,000,0007% 7T 2 A #2 §& ZE 1% (7] 3 %
B1,727,272, 727TRRD)FE - M A
A) B hBest GrowthE 5 A R HR L4
BIRELHE - RIEZHFRBEE -
ZEHEROERARLEEZ FAER
ZESHTIBRBE-_ZE_ZF+_ A
=+—HAB317/526,260,404 % AL 1D

s
=T HE o
u+#



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS EERIEFTHAERRS -
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING #tHERORESZEZRXA(E)
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(i) AERERGZHRRE @

(ii) Long/short position in the underlying shares

(continued)

In addition to the above, as at 31 December 2020, certain
Directors have non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain
subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company solely for the
purpose of complying with the minimum company membership
requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executive and their respective associates
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code and the HKCO, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

B EXPriES R E_FF+_H
=t—H EATARRRIERAK
RE  BTEERARAFEE THE
RALZFFE S EA RS ©

BREXEREEIN R-T_ZTF+_
A=1HB BT BTRABEARSE
FEEZBMEABER AR HEEME
BOAE (E & R ES LIS GREIFEXVER)
Zh - HERD REFTRERBREE
HF RS 1|7M§|J§|§XV*B§E7&%8“* Z=pi
AR R R I ERSAR (B
EiRIEE %&HHTMM@JZE%@?MX%EE
HEFHREFRA IR RRR) K
EETRARAREREZ RPEGIIFE
352{F M E W T 2 E LM - HREFIZEE
7R R R RHE GBI B R & 2R R A K B SX P
ZAEfIER AR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders

So far as the Directors and the Chief Executive are aware, as at
31 December 2020, other than the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive as disclosed, the following persons
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would are required to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member
of the Group:

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares

No. of shares

and/or

Name of substantial underlying

Shareholders Nature of interest shares held

FEROR,

TERRER EaME RAEERDAEE

Ms. Hao Ting Beneficial owner 68,181,818

o BEnlEEA

Best Growth Interest of controlled 1,821,565,688
Enterprises Limited corporation
R AE S

91,361,894
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders

(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Name of substantial
Shareholders

FTERRER EEuE

China OEPC Limited Beneficial owner

REIEER () E=mEA A
ZERERA A

China Huarong (Macau)

International Company corporation
Limited
Hh B 5 b OR PT) B L BEn
BAD B BR A 7]

China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Ltd.

PRIZEREEEERN
BRAA

corporation
R LE R

Notes:

Nature of interest

Interest of controlled

Interest of controlled

No. of shares
and/or
underlying
shares held

RO R,
HABERHEE

1,821,565,688

91,361,894

208,937,651

208,937,651

1 Ms. Hao Ting, spouse of Mr. Zhang, beneficially owns the amount of
HK$15,000,000 CN which are convertible into 68,181,818 shares.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Hao is also deemed to be interested in the
94,292,961 shares and derivative interest held by China OEPC.
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share

capital as at

31 December

Note Position 2020

R=—B=%%F

+=B=+—H

HERITREZ

M EE ¥R BHABEDL

2 Long 346.1339%
e

Short 17.3606%
]

3-6 Long 39.7023%
e

3-6 Long 39.7023%
e

1 MEL+(RELEZEBR)EEZEAR
15,000,000 o2 AT IR 2% » 32 5& 0
IR Z % Al 5 R 468,181,818 A% 17 ©
BIEFSH MEBEG - MR A
A B BERIE A 294,292,961 IR i (5 &
PTEREPHE RS -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

2

China OEPC beneficially owns 94,292,961 shares in which
91,361,894 shares had been pledged and the amount of
HK$380,000,000 CN which are convertible into 1,727,272,727
shares. China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best Growth and
ultimate beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Zhang and Best Growth are deemed to be interested in those
shares and derivative interests held by China OEPC.

China Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited (“Huarong
(HK)”) beneficially owns shares and convertible loan note. Huarong
(HK) is wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong (Macau)
International Company Limited. (“Huarong (Macau)”). By virtue of the
SFO, Huarong (Macau) was deemed to be interested in those Shares
and derivative interests held by Huarong (HK). Such convertible
bond have been fallen due on 9 July 2020 and the Group is in the
negotiation with Huarong (HK) to restructure the repayment timetable
of the Company’s financial obligation.

Huarong (Macau) is held 51% of shares by Huarong (HK) Industrial
Financial Investment Limited (“Huarong IFI”). By virtue of the SFO,
Huarong IFI was deemed to be interested in those shares and
derivative which Huarong (Macau) was interested.

Huarong IFl is wholly and beneficially owned by Huarong Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Huarong REC”). By virtue of the SFO, Huarong REC
was deemed to be interested in those shares and derivative which
Huarong IFI was interested.

Huarong REC is wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong
Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong AM”). By virtue of the SFO,
Huarong AM was deemed to be interested in those shares and
derivative which Huarong REC was interested.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2020.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Except as disclosed above and so far as the Directors were
aware, as at 31 December 2020, there was no other party who
had an interest or short position in the shares, the underlying
shares or debentures of the Company which would be required to
be disclosed to the Company under provisions of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
herein.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
approved and adopted by the Company based on the Shareholders’
resolution passed on 28 May 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share option (the “Share Option(s)”) to certain employees of
the Group and any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or
may contribute to the Group in recognition of their contribution to the
Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each eligible participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the
date of grant. Any further grant will be conditional upon Shareholders’
approval in general meeting.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Share Option
may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to
be determined by the Board but in any event no later than 10 years
from the date of grant. There is no specified minimum period for which
the Share Option must be held before it can be exercised. An offer
of the grant of the Share Option shall remain open for acceptance
for a period of 28 days from the date upon which is it made and a
non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of the Share Option.

The exercise price of the Share Options granted under the Share
Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of
the share on the date of grant.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 24 April 2015.

On 31 May 2019, an ordinary resolution was duly passed by the
Shareholders at an annual general meeting of the Company (the “2019
AGM”), approving, inter alia, the refreshment of the scheme mandate
limit under the Share Option Scheme. Upon the refreshment of the
scheme mandate limit, the Company may grant the Share Options
entitling holders thereof to subscribe for up to a maximum number
of 877,323,201 Share Options (equivalent to 43,866,160 Share
Options after the Second Share Consolidation becoming effective),
representing approximately 10% of the number of issued shares as at
the date of the 2019 AGM (the “Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit”).
Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 29 April 2019 and
the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2019 for further
details of the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit.
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SHARE OPTIONS B
The particulars of movements in the Share Options during the year REBE-_Z-_ZTF+_-_A=+—HBItFEZ
ended 31 December 2020 are set out as follow: BRESEFBEERIOT
Number of Share Options
BREHA
Outstanding
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat
Share Outstanding as at during during during during 31 December
Options type 1 January 2020 theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 2020
RZB-%F
R-B-2%-fA-H RER RER RER RER  +ZA=1-H
BRESH ESHcd e (K3 B P34 e R AT 6
Before After
adjustment adjustment
HEA HER
Directors and Chief Executive
EERTETHAR
Mr. Zhang Sauhuo 2015 1,600,000 80,000 - - (80,000) - -
R=ERE —E-1%
Mr. Tse Michael Nam 2015 6,000,000 300,000 - - (300,000) - -
AEFEE i
2017-A 72,967,400 3,648,370 - - (3,648,370) - -
ZEtE-AB
Ms. Leung Yin Fai 2015 1,000,000 50,000 - - - (50,000) -
PEERT “E-1F
Total Directors and chief executive
ESRFENRABLS 81,567,400 4,078,370 = - (4,028370)  (50,000) =
Employees 2015 24,400,000 1,220,000 - = (1,190,000) (30,000) -
E& “Z-nfF
2019 450,500,000 22,525,000 - = (22,525,000) - -
“E-NE
Total employees 474,900,000 23,745,000 - = (23,715,000) (30,000) -
BB
Other grantees 2015 9,000,000 450,000 - = (450,000) - =
EARA —T-F1F
2017-B 58,373,970 2,918,698 - - - (2,918,698) -
—Z—+F-BH
2018 20,000,000 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
—Z-)\fF
2019 279,500,000 13,975,000 - = (13,975,000) : =
—T-nF
Total other grantees 366,873,970 18,343,698 = - (14,425,000 (2,918,698) 1,000,000
H bt Adx A st
Total 923,341,370 46,167,068 = - (42,168,370) (2,998,698) 1,000,000
@t
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SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
Details of specific categories of the Share Options are as follows:

Closing price

Share before the
Options type Date of grant grant date
BREBHAIZ
B AR R A W&
(adjusted)
()
HK$
BT
2015 14 July 2015 26.20
—E—hHF —hRF+A+WmA
2017 - A 29 May 2017 7.20
—E—tF-AfE —tFRA=FHhHB
2017 -B 2 November 2017 7.60
—T—+F-Bf —E—+tF+—HA=H
2018 24 May 2018 5.60
= —\F E—\FRA=+MA
2019 17 January 2019 1.08
—E-NEF —E-NF—A+tH

For the vesting period and other information of the Share Options
please refer to Note 35 to the Financial Statement on page 188 to
195.

The total number of the Shares Options available for issue under
the Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit of the Share Option Scheme
is 43,866,160 (equivalent to 877,323,201 before the Second Share
Consolidation becoming effective), representing approximately 8.34%
of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this annual
report.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme during the year.
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_7_£¢tﬂ+ H
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price

TEE
(adjusted)
(%)
HK$
BT

30.00

7.04

7.36

7.00

1.09

1958 7 B 7%

WK/ RE ABAENEMER
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company had
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code. Details of
corporate governance are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” in this report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B OF
THE LISTING RULES

The change in the information on Directors since 1 January 2020
or after their date of appointment, which is required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, as set out below:—
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Biographical Details
BEFE
Name

ek

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin

MRS LLE

Mr. Tian Hong

BRTE

Mr. Tse Michael Nam

WEFLLE

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

R=ESLE

Details of Changes

SEFE

Mr. Ho was appointed as the independent non-executive director of
Yadong Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1795) and JW (Cayman)
Therapeutics Co. Ltd (Stock Code: 2126) on 21 October 2020 and
22 October 2020, respectively. The securities of the above companies
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

MEEDINR _ZE_TF+A-_+—BR-ZZF_ZEF+H-+=H
BEZAERTREEEREBR AR (RMHARIE - 1795) RJW (Cayman)
Therapeutics Co. Ltd (ZZBRE#H(F2)BR AT (IRMHHKIR : 2126)
ZENIEMITESE - P AR Z B HFANBRZAER LT o

On 2 November 2020, Mr. Tian has been designated as the chairman
of the remuneration committee of the Company.
RZZBZZF+ AR BEEBERRARAFMEESERE -

On 2 November 2020, Mr. Tse has been appointed as the chairman of
the Board and designated as the chairman of each of the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company.
RIZBZZBF+ AR HAEEREZEREZTFTSEFE  WERAR
ANREREZEEREARERZEEREAZER -

On 13 January 2020, the remuneration package of Mr. Zhang has
been modified as per his personal request due to the economic impact
of COVID-19. His monthly remuneration has been reduced from
HK$60,000 to HK$20,000 with effect from 1 January 2020.
RIZZZF-—A+=H BHRBEECOVID- 192K BEXE - RELE
ZHEMFEERIBREEARIETER - 2& A S H60,000/E 7T
WA E20,00087T BZE_EF-HA—HARER -
* {EHER
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COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS
Non-Compliance with Rule 13.46(2) of the Listing Rules

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18 June 2020
and 30 June 2020, the Company has made an application for and the
Stock Exchange has agreed to grant the waiver from strict compliance
with Rule 13.46(2) of the Listing Rules on the ground that there is delay
in audit work carried out by the Company’s auditors which resulted
in delay in the publication of the audited results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019, despatch of 2019
Annual Report of the Company and convening of the annual general
meeting of the Company. Details of which can be referred to the
relevant announcements.

Non-Compliance with Rule 3.10(1) and Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules

Since more time was needed to find the suitable candidate to act
as an INED. The Board only comprises two (2) INEDs following the
conclusion of the annual general meeting on 5 August 2020. As such,
the Company fails to meet the requirements of having at least three
(8) INEDs on the Board under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules and the
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprising
only non-executive Directors with minimum of three (3) members under
Rule 3.21 for the period from 5 August 2020 to 1 November 2020.
The Company has appointed an INED on 2 November 2020 to fill up
this vacancy.

Save as disclosed above, there was no incidence of non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group as far as the Board is aware during the year ended
31 December 2020.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a good standard of corporate
social governance essential for bringing a framework for motivating
employees to contribute to our community.

The Group has made continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in daily business operations. The principles of recycling
and reducing will always be encouraged to adhere to as much as
possible, such as implementing green office practices of double-sided
printing and copying, setting up recycling bins and switching off idle
lightings and regulating air-conditioning in different zoning.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
(CONTINUED)

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report conducted by a
professional third party for year 2020 will be published separately in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

On 20 January 2021, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”) has resigned
as the auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) while Elite Partners CPA
Limited (“Elite”) has been appointed as the Auditor to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Crowe and to hold office until the
conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 had been audited by Elite, who will retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment as the Auditor at the
Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2020

The following is an extract of the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Disclaimer of Opinion

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2020 (CONTINUED)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Muiltiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$660,458,000
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and as of that date, the
Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$6,260,753,000 and HK$1,423,988,000 respectively whereas
its cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$48,097,000 only as at the same date. Besides, included in the net
current liabilities of the Group, there are other borrowings related to the
convertible loan notes issued in 2017 by the Company with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$312,000,000 (2017 Convertible Loan
Notes”) which were matured on 10 July 2020 and amounts due to
non-controlling interests of approximately HK$5,572,551,000 was
either past due as at 31 December 2020 or will be matured on or
before 31 December 2021.

These conditions, together with other matters described in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors have been undertaking certain measures as set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of these plans and measures, which are
subject to multiple uncertainties, including: (i) negotiation with non-
controlling interests of amounts due by the Group for extending the
repayment due dates; (ii) negotiation with the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable; and (iii)
external facilities shall be available to the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to reclassify the
Group’s non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively, to write down the carrying amounts
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for
any further liabilities which may arise. The effect of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2020 after taking
into consideration of the following:

(i) the Group is negotiating with non-controlling interests of the
amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

(i) the Group is negotiating with the holder of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable; and

(i) external facilities shall be available to the Group.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial and
operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully negotiation with non-controlling interests to extend
the repayment due dates;

(i) successfully negotiation with the holder of 2017 Convertible Loan
Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations; and

(i) successfully obtain external facilities for fulfilling its other existing
financial obligations.

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN

The Group has commenced the following action plans to remove the
Disclaimer of Opinion:

(@) the Group is in the negotiation with the non-controlling interests of
the amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

(b) the Group is in the negotiation with the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of
the Group’s financial obligations; and

(c) the Group is actively seeking external facilities and fund raising
opportunities.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

The Company has taken various actions since publication of the 2019
annual results to address the audit modification. As at the date of this
report, neither the non-controlling interests nor the holder of 2017
Convertible Loan Note has demanded for immediate repayment of the
outstanding indebtedness. Whilst there is no formal documentation,
the non-controlling interests had indicated its willingness for extension.
The Company has also completed fund raising exercises during the
year ended 31 December 2020 as disclosed in the announcements
dated 22 April 2020, 27 April 2020 and 4 May 2020. As a matter
of fact, the Company has successfully reached agreements with
relevant subscriber for the extension of the convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$395,000,000 as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 22 July 2020.

Regarding the negotiations status of the repayment timetable for
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note, the Company has been actively
negotiated with the holder of the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes for
possible extension and up to the date of this report, the negotiations
remain in good progress and the holder of 2017 Convertible Loan Note
did not demand for immediate repayment of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes. However, the repayment timetable has not yet been
finalized. For the avoidance of doubt, further announcement(s) will be
made by the Company in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules
requirements to inform the public and its Shareholders upon the
entering into of relevant definitive agreement(s) on the restructuring of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes.

In respect of seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities,
the Group had approached and in the negotiation with a number
of financial institutions in PRC. Up to the date of this report, the
negotiations are still in progress but the Group has not concluded or
reached any agreements with those financial institutions. The Company
will continue to explore appropriate fund raising opportunities.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern will depend
upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial cash flows.
Assuming that the Group can successfully implement the aforesaid
measures, the Group considers it would address the going concern
issues.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditor needs to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the audit
evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As such, assuming
the successful implementation of the action plan in time with sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the directors are of
the view that the Disclaimer of Opinion is expected to be removed in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2021. The Company will continue to exercise its best
endeavours to resolve the audit modification within the year ending 31
December 2021.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion relating
to going concern, the management view on going concern and
the action plan on going concern of the Group, and concurs with
the Board’s view. For details, please refer to section headed “Audit
Committee Review on the Audit Qualification” of the Corporate
Governance Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised three
(8) members, all of whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. None of the members is a partner
or former partner of the Auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management in conjunction
with the Auditors the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Capital Reorganisation and Share Premium Cancellation

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated
1 February 2021, 11 February 2021, 26 February 2021, and the
circular of the Company dated 3 March 2021 in relation to, among
others, the Capital Reorganisation and Share Premium Cancellation.
Unless the context requires otherwise, capitalised terms used herein
shall bear the same meanings as defined.

On 1 February 2021, the Company announced the proposed Capital
Reorganisation by (i) a reduction of the issued share capital of the
Company through the cancellation of the paid-up capital of the
Company to the extent of HK$0.199 on each of the issued existing
shares so that the nominal value of each issued share will be reduced
from HK$0.20 to HK$0.001; (i) a subdivision of each authorised but
unissued Existing Share of HK$0.20 into two hundred (200) New
Shares of HK$0.001 each; and (iii) a transfer of the credit arising
from the capital reduction to the contributed surplus account of the
Company.

On 26 February 2021, the Company further announced the proposed
Share Premium Cancellation by way of cancellation of the entire
amount standing to the credit of the Share Premium Account and
transferring the credit arising therefrom to the contributed surplus
account of the Company.

On 3 March 2021, the circular containing, among others, details of
the Capital Reorganisation, Share Premium Cancellation, and other
information as required under the Listing Rules, together with a notice
convening the Special General Meeting on 7 April 2021, have been
despatched.

Details can be referred to the relevant announcements and circular of
the Company.

By the order of the Board
Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board and the Company’s management are highly committed to
maintaining good corporate governance practices, internal control,
risk management and transparency in fulfilling their corporate
responsibility and accountability to the Shareholders. The Board and
the management recognise that the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices is an essential factor in achieving financial
success and enhancing Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and adopted code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on corporate governance
practices.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code during the year, except for the following
deviations:

— Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulation that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Ms. Zhu Zheyu resigned as
the non-executive Director and the chairman (the “Chairman”) of
the Company on 12 June 2020 and no replacement for the post
of the Chairman was appointed. The functions of the Chairman
are performed by the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) of the
Company. On 2 November 2020, the Board designated Mr. Tse
Michael Nam, the CEQ, as the Chairman. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in the
same person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s business
strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation. Therefore, the
Board considers that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1
of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In addition,
under the supervision of the Board which is comprised of two
(2) executive Directors and three (3) independent non-executive
Directors, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange as the code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. All Directors
have confirmed, upon specific enquiries made by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2020. To ensure Directors’
dealings in the securities of the Company (the “Securities”) are
conducted in accordance with the Model Code, a Director is required
to notify designated executive Directors in writing and obtain a written
acknowledgement from the designated executive directors prior to any
dealings the Securities.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this report, the Board is composed of five (5)
members comprising two (2) executive Directors (the “ED(s)”) and
three (3) independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”).

Composition
Executive Directors:

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
Mr. Shen Weidong
Mr. Tian Hong

The number of INEDs represent more than one-third of the Board
membership. One INED has appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The names and biographical details of each Director are
disclosed on page 7 to page 9 of this Annual Report. There is no other
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) among the Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the management

The Board is tasked with the responsibility of directing and supervising
the Company’s businesses and affairs and promoting its success and
growth. The Board is collectively responsible for the management
and operations of the Company and is responsible for directing and
supervising the overall management of the Company with regards to
the implementation and maintenance of internal control procedures
and ensuring compliance with relevant statutory requirements, the
Listing Rules and other rules and regulations.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as required under the CG Code. The major roles and functions
of the Board in respect of the corporate governance are:

— to develop and review the Company’s policy and practices on
corporate governance;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

— to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

— to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance matters
for the financial year 2020:

= review of the compliance with the CG Code; and
— review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk

management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.

A\ 3 ey
ERERHRE

E=2(@
ETEREEEZACREEE

EFEeAFEENER
DIREEBKINNERE BEFeHXAEBEAR
NEIZEMREE  TAEEENEEARN
Tﬁ%aM&$HW$W?&f2%?4
12 WHEREBSTHBETHEE - EWHEEK
H IR AR o

NGIESVISE SN

%AﬁQEEﬁE%EmTWﬁEZE¥

ERRE ESSALEEARATECLEIEA
@&H@%HKQDT :

- BIERBHNARRZEEEBBE
M

- BRAREREFEMSMREEEBZEIK

FEEXER

- RHRERAATEMTEEREEH

ENEZBREER
- BE - REKEREANRERESZ

BTEARERTM Rk

- REAAFRETEEREARTHZBERR
REEERBERNZKE -

i%ﬁif EXgCDERUT

BRSTAZIER : Rk

- BRBERZEERIARRAMERER
R EIR R AL

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #%EEZEREBEBRAT 59



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRER/KRE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the management
(continued)

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing
day-to-day operations, business strategies and management of the
Group’s businesses to the executive Directors, senior management
and certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”) of the Company. Further details of
these committees are set out in this report.

During the year, the management had provided all members of the
Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance and position to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties under
the Listing Rules.

The Company had maintained an appropriate level of insurance cover
in respect of legal action against the Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries throughout the year ended 31 December
2020.

Each Director has disclosed to the Company in a timely manner of any
change, the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitments. All such changes
during the year and up to the date of this report have been disclosed
in the Report of the Directors section of this annual report.

Due notice and board papers were given to all Directors prior to the
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and CG Code. Generally,
at least 14 days notice of regular Board meetings are given and the
Company aims at giving reasonable notice of other Board meetings.
Prior to each Board meeting (for regular meetings, at least 3 days
prior), the Chairman, with the support of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), ensures that every Director has
been properly briefed on issues and provided with the agenda and
accompanying Board papers containing adequate information provided
by the management to enable them to make informed decisions at the
meeting. Every member of the Board has an opportunity to propose
matters in the agenda for discussion at each Board meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the management
(continued)

Minutes of Board meetings and committees meetings are taken by
the Company Secretary and maintained at the Company’s premises.
Minutes of the Board and committees meetings record in sufficient
detail the matters considered by the Board or committees and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors or
dissenting views expressed. Drafts and final versions of minutes are
sent to all Directors for their comments within a reasonable time after
the Board and committees meetings are held. Every member of the
Board is entitled to inspect Board papers and related materials and
has unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed. Where queries are raised by any of the
Directors, responses are provided as promptly and fully as possible.
The Directors may also upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of
the Company. So far and save as disclosed, there has not been any
case where a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the board
has determined to be material.

Appointments, re-election and removal of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will review the
profiles of the candidates and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, nomination and retirement of Directors.

Each of the Directors (including INEDs) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term. Such term is
subject to their re-appointment by the Company at an annual general
meeting upon such Director’s retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and offering themselves for re-election.

The Bye-laws provide that any Directors appointed by the Board, (i) to
fill a casual vacancy in the Board, shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (i) as an addition to the Board, shall hold
office until the next annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election.
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TRER/KRE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Chairman and chief executive officer

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
not performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and chief executive officer should be
established and written.

Ms. Zhu Zheyu resigned as the non-executive Director and the
Chairman on 12 June 2020 and no replacement for the post of the
Chairman was appointed, the CEO performs the functions of the
Chairman. On 2 November 2020, the Board appointed Mr. Tse
Michael Nam as the Chairman.

As Mr. Tse Michael Nam is the Chairman and the CEOQO, it constituted
a deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code since
2 November 2020. Mr. Tse has extensive management knowledge.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and
the CEQ in the same person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s
business strategies and boost its operational effectiveness. Besides,
under the supervision of the Board comprising of two (2) EDs and
three (3) INEDs, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

Non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors

Since more time was needed to find a suitable candidate to act as an
INED, the Board only comprises two (2) INEDs following the conclusion
of the annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) held on
5 August 2020 (the “2020 AGM”). As such, the Company fails to
meet the requirements of having at least three (3) INEDs on the Board
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules for the period from 5 August
2020 to 1 November 2020. The Company has appointed an INED on
2 November 2020 to fill up this vacancy.

Save as disclosed above, during the year and up to the date of this
report, the Company had been in compliance with Rules 3.10 (1),
3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules by having at all times three
INEDs on its Board, one who has the appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and the number of INEDs represented at
least one-third of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors (continued)

Each of the non-executive Director (including INED) was appointed
for an initial term of not more than two years from the date of his/her
appointment. Upon the expiry of the initial term, the appointment may
be renewed automatically for another term of not more than two years.

The Company had received written confirmation of independence for
the year ended 31 December 2020 from all INEDs. Each of the INEDs
met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considered each of them to be so.

The non-executive Directors (including INEDs) have been participating
in Board meetings, taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise, serving on the audit, nomination and remuneration committees,
scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, monitoring performance reporting and making a
positive contribution to the development of the Group’s strategy and
policies through independent, constructive and informed comments
and giving the Board and committees in which they serve, the benefit
of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through regular attendance and active participation. Each Director has
also given sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs during
the year.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in June 2005 with
specific written terms of reference detailing the Remuneration
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee had been published on the Company’s
website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and
making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
and the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration and review of the policy and
the procedure annually. The Remuneration Committee has been
the delegated responsibility to determine the specific remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board for the remuneration of the
non-executive Directors (including INEDs) after conducted the Board
evaluation annually.

In fulfilling its functions, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
respective time commitment, and responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and whether the remuneration packages are
competitively attractive to retain the executive Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee members may consult
the Chairman about their proposals relating to the remuneration
of the Directors and have access to sufficient resources including
professional advice if considered necessary. No Director can, however,
approve his own remuneration.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three (3) members, all of whom were INEDs. The members of the
Remuneration Committee as at the date of this report are Mr. Tian
Hong (the chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin and Mr. Shen Weidong.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review
and approve the remuneration package of the other Directors and
the senior management (which had remained unchanged from
the previous year) and other related matters including the Board
evaluation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 December 2015
with specific written terms of reference detailing the Nomination
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee had been published on the Company’s website
as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprised
four (4) members, three (3) of whom were INEDs. The members of
the Nomination Committee as at the date of this report are Mr. Tse
Michael Nam (the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Tian Hong and Mr. Shen Weidong.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are,
among other things, review the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes;
identify candidates with suitable qualifications as Directors, select and
make recommendations to the Board; assess the independence of
INEDs; and make recommendations to the Board on matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors.

In fulfilling its functions, the Nomination Committee has been provided
sufficient resources by the Company to seek for independent
professional advice to perform its responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has a policy concerning diversity of
Board members which aims to maintain the Board with a diversity of
Directors in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, with a view to enhancing the quality of
performance of the Board.

The Nomination Committee meets not less than once a year to
(i) review the terms of reference; (ii) review the structure, size and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service) of the Board; and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the Company’s
corporate strategy; and (i) review the procedures for Shareholders to
elect Director which had been published in the Company’s website as
well as the Stock Exchange’s websites.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established in June 1999 with clear written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
had been published on the Company’s website as well as the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Since more time was needed to find the suitable candidate to act
as an INED. The Board only comprises two (2) INEDs following
the conclusion of the AGM on 5 August 2020. As such, the Audit
Committee fails to meet the requirement of comprising only non-
executive Directors with minimum of three (3) members under Rule 3.21
for the period from 5 August 2020 to 1 November 2020. The Company
has appointed an INED on 2 November 2020 to fill up this vacancy.

Save as disclosed above, the Audit Committee was comprised of three
members during the year ended 31 December 2020 and as at the
date of this report, all of whom were INEDs. The composition of the
Audit Committee as at the date of this report was Mr. Ho Kin Cheong,
Kelvin (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and
Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

The Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the auditor of the
Company (the “Auditors”), the Directors and other members of the
management. The Audit Committee has met with the Auditors twice
during the year ended 31 December 2020 with regards to review of
the Company’s financial report and accounts.

The Audit Committee meet at least twice a year to review (i) the
Company’s results and the accompanying auditor’s report; (i) the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company; and (iii)
the financial, risk management and internal control systems of the
Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Risk management committee

The Risk Management Committee was established in September 2017
with specific written terms of reference detailing the Risk Management
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the Risk
Management Committee had been published on the Company’s
website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for reviewing of the
risk management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function, and such other duties as stipulated
under the Codes as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee
comprised four (4) members, one (1) ED and three (3) INEDs. The
members of the Risk Management Committee as at the date of this
report are Mr. Tse Michael Nam (the chairman of the Risk Management
Committee), Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen Weidong and
Mr. Tian Hong.

The principal responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee
are, among other things, (i) advise the Board on the Group’s risk
appetite statement(s), risk principles and other risk-related issues
including corporate actions and proposed strategic transactions
such as mergers, acquisitions and disposals; (ii) oversee risk
management framework to identify and deal with financial, operational,
legal, regulatory, technology, business and strategic risks faced
by the Group and amend and supplement this from time to time;
(iii) approve the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances; (iv) consider
emerging risks relating to the Group’s business and strategies to
ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to control and
mitigate the risks effectively; (v) review risk reports and breaches of
risk tolerances and policies; (vi) review and assess the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including the enterprise
risk management program, the risk management systems, the
internal audit function relating to risk management and the Group’s
contingency plans; (vii) review the Group’s capital adequacy and
solvency levels; (viii) monitor stress testing results of the Group’s key
risk exposures; (ix) to deal with other work assigned by the Board;
and (x) issue report(s) on how the Risk Management Committee met
its responsibilities in its review of the risk management, the internal
control systems and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Risk management committee (continued)

In fulfilling its functions, the Risk Management Committee has been
provided sufficient resources by the Company to seek for independent
professional advice to perform its responsibilities.

The Risk Management Committee meets at least twice a year to
(i) review the terms of reference; and (i) review any risk or potential
risk of the Group and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related
matters and the overall risk management strategies of the Company.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses and
formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors financial
performances and discusses the annual and interim results, as well as
discusses and decides on other significant matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED) 440 )
Attendance records at meeting HESELE

The attendance of each Director at the general meetings (included BZEBEEZRFRNRITZREAS (BIERE
annual general meeting), Board meetings and meetings of the Audit BFAE) - BEE &%  EELZECE
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee % * FNEEe g IERZES LA
and the Risk Management Committee held during the year is set out BEEZE@gm s HERNT ¢

below:

I

No. of meetings attended/held

HE/BIEERE
Risk
General Audit Remuneration = Nomination = Management
Meetings Board  Committee Committee = Committee Committee
BBEE
BRRAE EFE® ENXZES FMEEE REZEE Z8®
Number of meetings 4 24 3 ) 4 1
=R 8
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo 3/4 19/24 - - - -
KR=EHX4E
Mr. Tse Michael Nam 4/4 24/24 - - 11 1/1
HEF R E
Ms. Zhang Tingting (Notes 3) 1/4 8/11 - 2/2 11 -
ke &+ (H153)
Non-executive Directors
HTES
Ms. Zhu Zheyu (Notes 2) - 6/7 - 2/2 11 -
Repl i+ (fitat2)
Mr. Chang Che-Fa (Notes 4) 2/3 0/11 - - - -
R E S 4 (BT 4)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Ms. Leung Yin Fai (Notes 1) - 0/1 = 0/1 0/1 =
R+ (it aE1)
Mr. Lam Chi Wai (Notes 7) 3/3 4/10 11 0/1 - =
MR K& (K7
Mr. Lyu Guoping (Notes 5) 3/3 3/11 11 0/2 11 =
ElERS (1))
Mr. Jin Xuliang (Notes 6) 0/3 1/11 0/1 0/2 11 =
g8 se ik & (KiEte)
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (Notes 8) 11 12/12 2/2 3/3 3/3 11
Al 8 % & (H13E8)
Ms. An Juan (Notes 9) - 3/3 - 1/1 11 =
Zg 2+ (H139)
Mr. Tian Hong (Notes 10) 11 9/9 2/2 11 11 11
A % & (3 10)
Mr. Shen Weidong (Notes 11) = 11 11 2/2 2/2 11
LER KA (HiEE11)
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Attendance records at meeting (continued)

Notes:

1. Ms. Leung Yin Fai resigned as independent non-executive Director on

10 January 2020.

2. Ms. Zhu Zheyu resigned as the non-executive Director on 12 June 2020.

3. Ms. Zhang Tingting retired as the executive Director on 5 August 2020.

4. Mr. Chang Che-Fa retired as non-executive Director on 12 July 2019.

5. Mr. Lyu Guoping retired as independent non-executive Director on

5 August 2020.

6. Mr. Jin Xuliang retired as independent non-executive Director on 5 August

2020.

7. Mr. Lam Chi Wai was appointed as independent non-executive Director on

10 January 2020 and retired on 5 August 2020.

8. Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin has been appointed as the independent non-

executive Director on 5 August 2020.

9. Ms. An Juan was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on

5 August 2020 and resigned on 10 August 2020.

10. Mr. Tian Hong has been appointed as the independent non-executive

Director on 10 August 2020.

11. Mr. Shen Weidong has been appointed as the independent non-executive

Director on 2 November 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Directors’ training and professional development

Every Director knows that they should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for the Directors. Accordingly, during the year, the
Company had made available trainings and development programmes
for the Directors for their participation.

During the year, all the Directors were provided with commentary
on the Group’s business, operations, and financial matters as well
as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The Company had also provided the Directors with the materials and
information update including the Directors’ obligations as required
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In
addition, individual Directors have also participated in other courses
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director
or further enhancement of their professional development by way
of attending training courses or via online aids or reading relevant
materials. All the Directors had provided their training records to the
Company for the year under review.

Directors

=

Executive Directors
HITES

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
wk=EEAE

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
AEFERE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin

(Ef=A=Pites

Mr. Shen Weidong

IERTE

Mr. Tian Hong

HRFEE

A: attending internal briefing sessions/reading materials in relation to
corporate governance and regulatory updates.

B: attending seminars/courses/conference to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that all employees,
including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated for their efforts
and time dedicated to the Company and remuneration offered is
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions and individual
performance, qualification, experience and the remuneration policy
are reviewed on a regular basis. Other employee benefits include
mandatory provident fund, insurance and medical coverage, training
programs and share option. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The EDs are closely involved in and are directly responsible for
all activities of the Group. The Board considers that the senior
management comprises the EDs. Particulars regarding senior
management and other Directors’ remuneration and the five (5)
highest-paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for the year
fell within the following bands:

R

ARARZHFHMBREEEREEER (B
EREF)IRF/ARANEZE N RE
BESRAME - MR ZHMIIRIER
TANTSRRNERE - I FE @ EAR
B BF  KREFHEE - HMEEREH
BREBHELES  RiRREEERM - H
eI N ERE - B ERHEEABEAR
TTRABSHEEEEARS 25 -

ESNaREEESH

HNITEETY2ERERAEARBZAE
A EEERASAEEERRUTE
- RELTRAUMEIGZATREBBSMR
EIEE N EMEEF AR F(5)% &= H B
BB ZFHIBHNRE P MARMEE5

= R EE E H

FRAXNTERREEEZHFMWN FUATEH
i

Nil = HK$500,000 T 500,000 7T 4
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,0017% 7L &=1,000,0007% 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000/ 7T -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T & 2,000,00078 7T 1

HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the Company re-appointed Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
(“Crowe”) as the Auditor in the Company’s general meeting held on
5 August 2020. On 20 January 2021, Crowe has resigned as the
Auditor while Elite Partners CPA Limited has been appointed as the
Auditors to fill to casual vacancy following the resignation of Crowe
and to hold office until the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

The Auditors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2020
was as follows:

Nature of work

THHEE

Audit services

EZIRH

Non-audit services

IREZ RS

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the Company’s financial statements and that the financial statements
are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. It is also the responsibility of the
Directors to ensure the timely publication of the Company’s financial
statements. During the year, the management has provided sufficient
explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before
it for approval including the monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.
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Amount
Kok |
HK$'000
FHET
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

With the outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease (“COVID-19”), a number
of provinces and municipalities in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) had taken public health and emergency and transportation and
travel restriction measures (the “Measures”) in order to prevent further
spread of COVID-19. While preparing the audit works of the 2019
annual results, the Company understands from its auditors that the
original schedule is affected as a result of the Measures, in particular
the postponement of the field works. As such, the audit works of the
2019 annual results cannot be completed on or before 31 March
2020 and the Company had published the unaudited financial results
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 together with the
comparative figures for the corresponding period in 2018 on 30 March
2020 to minimise disruptions to the trading of the Company’s shares
while ensuring the Shareholders and potential investors to receive
sufficient information. The 2019 annual report had been despatched
on 7 July 2020 and the AGM was held on 5 August 2020. For details,
please refer to the relevant announcements of the Company.

A discussion and analysis of the Groups’ performance, an explanation
of the basis on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering the Company’s
objectives have been prepared and included in the Chairman
Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this
report.

The statement of the Auditor on their reporting responsibilities in
respect of the Company’s financial statements is set out on page 87.

The Directors confirm that, except for the issues as explained under
the basis of presentation section in Note 2 to the consolidate financial
statements, they are not aware of any other material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2020 after taking
into consideration of the following:

(i) the Group is negotiating with non-controlling interests of the
amounts due by the Group of approximately HK$5,572,551,000
for extending the repayment due dates;

(i) the Group is negotiating with the holder of the convertible loan
notes issued in 2017 by the Company with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$312,000,000 which were matured on 10 July
2020 (the “2017 Convertible Loan Notes”) to restructure the
repayment timetable; and

(iiiy external facilities shall be available to the Group.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial and
operating cash flows through the following:

(i)  successfully negotiation with non-controlling interests to extend
the repayment due dates;

(i) successfully negotiation with the holder of 2017 Convertible Loan
Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations; and

(iiiy successfully obtain external facilities for fulfilling its other existing
financial obligations.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the disclaimer of opinion
relating to going concern (the “Audit Qualification”), the Board’s
response to the disclaimer of opinion, and the Company’s action plan
in addressing the Audit Qualification and concurred with the Board’s
view. The Audit Committee is in agreement with the Management with
respect to the Audit Qualification and the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and the actions or measures to be implemented
by the Management or the Group. The Audit Committee’s views are
based on a critical review of:—

(i) the Management’s action plan to address the Audit Qualification
(and the assumption of successful and continued implementation);
and

(i) a review of the Group’s cash flow projections which covers a
period of not less than 12 months from 31 December 2020, and
also discussions between the Audit Committee, the Auditor and
the Management regarding the Audit Qualification.

The Audit Committee is of the view that the Management should
continue its efforts in implementing the actions and measures set out
in the action plan below to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and
remove the Audit Qualification.

ACTION PLAN TO ADDRESS THE AUDIT
QUALIFICATION

The Group has commenced the following action plans to remove the
Audit Qualification:

(@) the Group is in the negotiation with the non-controlling interests of
the amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

(b) the Group is in the negotiation with the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of

the Group’s financial obligations; and

(c) the Group is actively seeking external facilities and fund raising
opportunities.
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ACTION PLAN TO ADDRESS THE AUDIT
QUALIFICATION (CONTINUED)

The Company has taken various actions since publication of the 2019
annual results to address the audit modification. As at the date of this
report, neither the non-controlling interests nor the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes has demanded for immediate repayment of the
outstanding indebtedness. Whilst there is no formal documentation,
the non-controlling interests had indicated its willingness for extension.
The Company has also completed fund raising exercises during the
year ended 31 December 2020 as disclosed in the announcements
dated 22 April 2020, 27 April 2020 and 4 May 2020. As a matter
of fact, the Company has successfully reached agreements with
relevant subscriber for the extension of the convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$395,000,000 as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 22 July 2020.

Regarding the negotiations status of the repayment timetable for
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note, the Company has been actively
negotiated with the holder of the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes for
possible extension and up to the date of this report, the negotiations
remain in good progress and the holder of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes did not demand for immediate repayment of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes. However, the repayment timetable has not yet
been finalized. For the avoidance of doubt, further announcement(s)
will be made by the Company in compliance with the relevant Listing
Rules requirements to inform the public and its Shareholders upon the
entering into of relevant definitive agreement(s) on the restructuring of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes.

In respect of seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities,
the Group had approached and in the negotiation with a number
of financial institutions in PRC. Up to the date of this report, the
negotiations are still in progress but the Group has not concluded or
reached any agreements with those financial institutions. The Company
will continue to explore appropriate fund raising opportunities.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern will depend
upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial cash flows.
Assuming that the Group can successfully implement the aforesaid
measures, the Group considers it would address the going concern
issues.
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ACTION PLAN TO ADDRESS THE AUDIT
QUALIFICATION (CONTINUED)

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditor needs to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the audit
evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As such, assuming
the successful implementation of the action plan in time with sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the directors are of
the view that Disclaimer of Opinion is expected to be removed in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2021. The Company will continue to exercise its best
endeavours to resolve the audit modification within the year ending 31
December 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised three
members, all of whom were independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Audit Committee is Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian
Hong. Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. None of the
members is a partner or former partner of the Auditor, Elite Partners
(CPA) Limited.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management in conjunction
with the external auditor of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing,
risk management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance and the implementation of the CG
Code. The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the CEO. All
Directors also have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. The selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company
Secretary is subject to the Board approval.
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COMPANY SECRETARY (CONTINUED)

On 15 July 2020, Mr. Shek Wing Wa resigned as the Company
Secretary and Ms. Chu Ka Ying was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 16 July 2020. During the year, she has
completed over 15 hours of relevant professional training.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for ensuring a
sound and effective internal control system is maintained within
the Company and its subsidiaries so as to safeguard the Group’s
assets and its Shareholders’ investments. The Board established
the Risk Management Committee to conduct annual reviews of the
effectiveness of the system of internal controls as well as the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting
and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget.

The Risk Management Committee reviewed the need for an internal
audit department and considered it appropriate to adopt an internal
group policy to review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries for the financial
year ended 31 December 2020. Given the Group’s simple operating
structure, as opposed to a separate internal audit department, the
Risk Management Committee engaged an independent professional
third party for reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control of the
Group.

The Risk Management Committee conducted a review on the
internal control system of the Group on an annual basis and has the
responsibility to maintain an effective internal control system in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests. It covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Company. And the
policy had be reviewed annually by the Board to ensure it fulfilled the
statutory requirement.

The Risk Management Committee has also reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function. The Risk Management Committee will keep review and
monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate.

A\ 3 ey
ERERHRE

NEAWEE)

RZB-BFLATHR  BAERLERE
ATNE  MABRLTA-E-BFLS
HARREEEARARE  RAEE - &
R BIE 15 2 IR -

REPEZEN AR EE

BEEQNE - HARARBRNARA] REM
BRBAIANERREBRCNEREIESIE - A
REAEEEENEBRRZRE - EFECE
RYRBREEZEE  SFOHNEEES
B23ee - BRFARE - ARG MY HH
BREEC B TEFERER - AREE 25
AR RFEEEITRA

EREELZESCYRITADTEZIMZE
T RERMRBEBRRABT AR R
HETHBARAREBEZE-_Z2-_2F+=A
=+ —HIEBRFEE RN EBEE I HIE /A W
BiAE ZENALEELERBHE  RRE
BEESZRBYEEF - FMIERBILL
REBEAZZIBPIAR 5T AN B N FBEE IR AR o

RREEZEeSFOHAKRB Z ABIEE
BIEEITIRG YA BRRRF AR ARREE
HE - AREAREEERERR 20 -
R BEEREMAEEAERSEE  B8FEAR
A5 - EERA BB N AR E R
B EXQCEFRAAEEK - AR
BIRRHE -

BN AR S Ve G NN Ve B e
BREEZER - BTERNRER - 55l
LREEEERE  BREEZEEHTEHE
Hite st M R R A R ES 1 I LR B IR ) 2
& AERATERBIE R -

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #%EEZEREBERAT 79



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRER/KRE

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Risk management system

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises
the following phases:

e |dentification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted for the year 2020, no
significant risk was identified.

Internal control system

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission 2013 framework. The framework enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework
are shown as follow:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the
Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information needed
to carry out day-to-day controls.

e Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Internal control system (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information,
and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness
of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an
inside information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards
exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group, which include:

e The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

e Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

e The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties
such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the year 2020, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal audit

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an internal audit
team, which consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise (such
as Certified Public Accountant), which reports directly to the Risk
Management Committee.

In addition, the Group has engaged a professional advisory firm of
internal control to perform regular review of the internal control system
of the Group and the results were summarized and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Board will continue to strive for
a better control by way of consulting with the professional adviser and
adopting the recommendations made by the professional advisory
firm.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring
review of the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Risk
Management Committee’s reviews, which include but not limited to (j)
the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since the last
annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment; and (i) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control
systems.

The Risk Management Committee, through its reviews and the reviews
made by internal audit function and Audit Committee, concluded that
the risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and
the training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

Based on the above, the Risk Management Committee is of the view
that the Company has established a proper internal control system
which is effective and adequate. And the Board also considers the
internal control systems of the Company effective and the resources,
qualifications and experience of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, adequate for the period in review.

In year 2020, the Group has engaged Absolute Value Business of
Asset Valuation Limited, an independent professional third party, to
review the Group’s internal audit function. The internal audit function is
independent of the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal
of the risk management and internal control systems by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness. An
internal audit plan as suggested has been approved by the Board.
According to the established plan, review of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted annually and the results are
reported to the Audit Committee afterwards.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders. A shareholders’ communication policy setting
out the principles of the Company in relation to Shareholders’
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and
timely communication with Shareholders via various means, had been
established and published on the Company’s website. And it will be
reviewed annually after the annual general meeting. The Company’s
annual general meetings and other general meetings are valuable
forums for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders
and to answer questions Shareholders may raise. Another key element
of effective communication with Shareholders and investors is the
prompt and timely dissemination of information in relation to the
Group.

Separate resolutions are proposed by the chairman at general
meetings for each substantial issue. The detailed procedures of
conducting a poll are explained to Shareholders at the commencement
of the general meetings, to ensure that Shareholders are familiar with
such procedures.

The Company’s last AGM was held on 5 August 2020. Notice of the
last AGM were sent out 21 clear business days before the AGM. All the
resolutions proposed at the AGM were approved by the Shareholders
by poll. Details of the poll results are available on the Company’s
website. The Auditors and the Company’s legal advisors were also
available during the AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders.
An executive Director, chairman/members of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Auditors’
representative, and the Company’s legal advisors were available at the
2020 AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of Association
and the Bye-laws during the financial year 2020. Copy of the latest
version of the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws has been
posted on the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s
websites.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of general meetings

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a general meeting. Shareholders holding an aggregate of not less
than one-tenth (10%) of the Company’s paid up capital may send a
written request to the Board to request for the convening of a general
meeting. The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholders
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s registered office. The Company would
take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, and
the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for the expenses
incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements
under Section 74 of the Act once a valid requisition is received.

The Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal (which may
properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company: (a) any number of members representing not less
than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of the Company on
the date of the requisition; or (b) not less than 100 members holding
Shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposal must be deposited at the Company’s registered office.
The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Act once valid
documents are received.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as Director at a general meeting, the Shareholder
should lodge at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit A, 12/F., Central 88, 88-98 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong, the necessary documents as mentioned in the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director of the Company” which had already been published in
the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may make enquiries with the Board at the Company’s
general meetings or at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact
details are as follows:

Green Leader Holdings Group Limited

Unit A, 12/F., Central 88,

88-98 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2889 6289

Fax: (852) 2897 9137
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS
GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 88 to 216, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$660,458,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2020 and as of that date, the Group had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$6,260,753,000
and HK$1,423,988,000 respectively whereas its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$48,097,000 only as at the
same date. Besides, included in the net current liabilities of the Group,
there are other borrowings related to the convertible loan notes issued
in 2017 by the Company with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$312,000,000 (2017 Convertible Loan Notes”) which were
matured on 10 July 2020 and amounts due to non-controlling interests
of approximately HK$5,572,551,000 was either past due as at 31
December 2020 or will be matured on or before 31 December 2021.

B ZBERE

HBRARREMERAAZERR
(REFREZMALZ BRAE])

TRRE
RIFIEZEEZFCBEEFE 216 A FTHARE
ZREEBRABTERRDLEMB LA
([EREDZHEEMBRE - thiRa M KR
REER-_Z-_TF+_A=t—HZKSE
MBRARARBEZAEFEZHEER
R GeEmlkHEMEERER  FeER
HPRNMFAHEEMRER - AREAMBR
RHfE - BRIESABREME -

BMY BEREZGEAMBHRIRILERE
RN BPIRER/ T RXERZEE]—
TPt EIEMEE N - HPILREEHIF
RARBEBZBREARZFHRAMBRRE
RIBEZBREHEE - EFAAHMTE
BB REZEAMBEHRRCRETE QAR
ZEBEREZRER -

TRRERZEE
FRFEREZZETRERER
WS AR RWEFoMM - BEE
REBEE_E_ZEF+_A=+—8BILFE
EA I8/ F 5 41660,458,000/8 T R H B %
H ESEERHEEFBERBEFEY
511#76,260,753,000/8 7T I 1,423,988,0007
T HRAAZBHERBSEEWERY
48,097,000 7C - B4 BEBEZRBE
BEFEREEARRARN -t FHITER
{E47/5312,000,0008 02 A IR B X2 &
([Z2E—FRBREFREE] ERZZT=
TFELATHIMB@A s EMEE RER
IRV AR R 2 R IA 495,572,551,0008 T — &
—EFE+-_A=t+—HeBHsERN T =
—F+-A=t+—H=%ZAEIH-

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #%EEZEREBBR AT 85



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS R

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (CONTINUED)
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(continued)

These conditions, together with other matters described in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors have been undertaking certain measures as set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of these plans and measures, which are
subject to multiple uncertainties, including: (i) negotiation with non-
controlling interests of amounts due by the Group for extending the
repayment due dates; (ii) negotiation with the holder of the 2017
Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable; and (iii)
external facilities shall be available to the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to reclassify the
Group’s non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively, to write down the carrying amounts
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for
any further liabilities which may arise. The effect of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a
basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate
number PO7543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—B-FF —TNEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5T FExT FHIT
Revenue WA 8 1,303,796 944,258
Cost of sales and services rendered  $5% RIR MRS 2 AR (1,175,929) (844,110)
Gross profit E¥ 127,867 100,148
Other operating income Hih g ez 8 23,778 69,350
Selling and distribution expenses SHEMDHEA (4,406) (4,208)
Administrative and other operating THRHEALEE B R
expenses (283,442) (590,958)
Change in fair value of derivative ARBREREEITET A
component of convertible loan notes #8902 A FEEH) 26 (27,870) 22,843
Impairment loss recognised in MR R 2 R EEE -
respect of mining rights, net T 17 (170,267) (336,249)
Impairment loss recognised in MU - HE RFEER
respect of property, FEEE - FRE
plant and equipment, net 16 (120,962) (160,102)
Impairment loss recognised in BIBEEHEEEBERX
respect of financial assets under e EERER
expected credit loss model, net TEEE - TR (35,946) (9,149)
Finance costs A& A 9 (361,665) (415,590)
Loss before taxation FRELATE 18 10 (852,913) (1,323,913
Income tax credit FTiSHiiE % 11 192,455 119,054
Loss for the year FEBE (660,458) (1,204,859)
Loss for the year attributable to: U T ALTEEFEEEE
Owners of the Company RABEEA (312,362) (695,650)
Non-controlling interests AR (348,096) (509,209)
(660,458) (1,204,859)
Loss per share (HK cents) FIREE (GBL) (restated)
(& E5)
Basic and diluted BERNEE 13 (63) (159)

88 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 F &



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERERREMEEHKER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—EBEF —ZT-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ExT FHT
Loss for the year FEEBR (660,458) (1,204,859)
Other comprehensive expense: Hih2mEpBX :
ltems that may be subsequently RErAEMnEEEmsIEE ¢
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange difference on translation MEGINETS L TEH ZRE -
of foreign operations:
- Exchange difference arising - FEEACIENEZRE
during the year (40,939) (5,875)
- Reclassification adjustments on — HEEINTE AT
disposal of foreign subsidiaries LB EHE - (13)
Other comprehensive expense FEHMZEAX
for the year (40,939) (5,888)
Total comprehensive expense FELHMBXHEE
for the year (701,397) (1,210,747)
Total comprehensive expense DTATEMFEE
for the year attributable to: 2HEMXALE
Owners of the Company AKRBHEE A (345,913) (697,339)
Non-controlling interests IR (355,484) (513,408)
(701,397) (1,210,747)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e IR 3R

As at 31 December 2020 W =—ZE=_ZF+—-_HA=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-NEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FHBxT FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BEREE 16 1,810,589 1,699,009
Mining rights g 17 4,965,468 5,273,466
Intangible assets mEEE 15,970 18,299
Goodwill BES 18 = =
Deposits paid for acquisition of Wb 1 b (F AR 2
land use rights Bt e - 35,946
Deposits paid for acquisition of WHEMZ - BE REE 2
property, plant and equipment BEffiEe 11,114 22,910
6,803,141 7,049,630
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 19 6,283 16,456
Trade receivables Z 5 EWRIE 20 117,855 55,904
Prepayments, deposits, bills FEMRIE - e B
receivables and other receivables Zg M E R EIE 20 96,640 43,796
Amounts due from related FEUR B8 B R R A
companies 2il 5,980 5,750
Amounts due from directors FEUE E 08 22 235 233
Derivative component of ARBRERERZ
convertible loan notes PTHEI RIS 26 - 28,719
Cash and cash equivalents B FREEEBY 23 48,097 45,788
275,090 196,646
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables =) AE e 24 1,798 1,796
Other payables o FE A FRIE 24 623,838 613,013
Amount due to a director BN —R%EEHA 22 13,108 13,108
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAS FEVERR iR SR IR
interests 25 5,572,551 1,128,128
Other borrowings HEmEER 33 313,621 23,202
Liabilities component of ARRERER
convertible loan notes BEXD 26 - 660,722
Derivative component of ABMBRERER
convertible loan notes PTTHEIT RIS 26 - 850
Lease liabilities HEAE 39 10,327 8,548
Income tax liabilities FrigtiatE 600 5,096
6,535,843 2,454,463
Net current liabilities REEEFE (6,260,753) (2,257,817)
Total assets less current liabilities EEZEBERABAE 542,388 4,791,813
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A MR R R

As at 31 December 2020 W —Z —ZF+-A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-NEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FH&x FHT
Capital and reserves EAXRf#HE
Share capital [N 27 105,252 87,732
Reserves B (2,726,156) (2,542,167)
Capital deficiencies attributable EATEEAEEER
to owners of the Company B 4t (2,620,904) (2,454,435)
Non-controlling interests IR 38 1,196,916 1,552,400
Total capital deficiencies EAREB AL (1,423,988) (902,035)
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAT IE 1R AR i 2 OB
interests 25 - 3,805,546
Provision for restoration, R1E - BB RIRIBA AR
rehabilitation and B
environmental costs 28 83,414 75,914
Liabilities component of ABMBRERERZ
convertible loan notes BEED 26 310,059 =
Amounts due to related companies T BEE N RIFIE 21 125,891 159,576
Other payables Hofh fE T3R8 24 422,112 508,478
Lease liabilities HERGE 39 49,023 20,486
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBAEE 29 975,877 1,123,848
1,966,376 5,693,848
542,388 4,791,813

REMBREN_T-_—F=A=1+—AK
EEeMERRENE  YAATEEAR
BE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2021 and are signed
on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Mr. Tse Michael Nam

R=8%4% HEFLEE
Director Director
EF EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BER

e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTRAARR
Convertible
Exchange Share  Statutory loan notes Non-
Share Share  Contributed  translation options surplus Other equity Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve res;rvﬂ; losses  Sub-total interests Total
T
Efis BRE  iEEs ERE8 FER
ke ROEE  HAER i BE DEHE BMEE  RABE  2ifEE gt B @it
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK§'000
Tin Tin T ThI Th Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin  Thn
(Note ) (Note i) (Note i) (Note ) (Note )
ik (W) (W) (W) ()
Asat 1 January 2019 R=F-N§-A-R 73110 8882864 1077104 (95,781) 95,256 54,843 7449 - (11990439 (1828551 2085414 236,863
Loss forhe eer FEEE - - - - - - - - EE)  P%60 19 (1204859
Other comprehensive expenses for the yer —~ EE £ 2 AR
~ Exchange difference on translaton of -BERNEH
foreign operations EfzE - - = (1,676) = = = = = (1,676) (@199 (87
- Reclassfication adjustments on - LEBIMEARZ
clisposalofforeign subsiciries ELip - - 2 (13 - - - 5 - (1) - (13
Total comprehensive expenses for heyear B2 AR &% a - - (1,689) - - - - B0 (697309 (613408 (1210747)
Recognion of share-based payment expense BRI EMHE & ; & < 13,285 = = = = 18,285 - 138
Disposal of subsiciaries HERBAA - = = = = = S = 3 30
Appropriaton ofstatutory reserve EEREIR - - = & s 11,9% = - (119%) = = =
Appropriation of maintenance and BEREEESAR
production fund - 5 o 3 S 84,408 - - (84,408) - - -
Utlisaion of maintenance and IRELREEES
production fund 3 g 5 (68,951) - - 58,951 -
Placing of new shares REMRA 14622 43,866 & 5 3 3 3 : : 58,488 - 58488
Share issuing expense POEES 3 (319 = = 5 = = = = (319 = (318)
Asat 31 December 2019 RZ5-NE
and 1 January 2020 tZA=+-Rk
Z2255-R-B g7 896412 1,077,104 (97.470) 108,541 92.29% 7449 - (12723542) (2454435 1552400 (902,035
Loss for the year FEEE - o c o = = = - 312362 (312362 (48,09  (660458)
Other comprehensive expensefortheyear ~ SEE{2 AR
- Exchange difierences on ranslaton of -REENERZER
foreign operations %8 S S c (33,551) o o = = S (33,551) (7,388 (40939
Total comprehensive expense for theyear ~ £E2 AR R &% = = = (33,551) = = = - (312362  (45913) (385484 (701,307
Issue of convertible loan notes Fmake - - - - - - - 49,054 - 49,054 - 49,054
Deemed contrioution rom a shareholder RE- %MZW?&Q - = = = = = 53,857 = = 53,857 - 5gE
Appropriaton of maintenance and BERAEESAR
production fund D O = O O 65,344 0 - (65,344) - - -
Utisation of maintenance and IREEREEES
production fund o o o o o (19,421) o o 19,421 o o o
Subscription of new shares RERHR 17520 18,670 = = = = = = = 36,190 - 3,190
Share ssting expense BOEGLS = (%) = = = = - - - %) - %)
Recognifon of equity-setfed share-besed ~ BMEREE
payments R = = = o 99 = = = = 99 = 99
Cancelation of share options e = = = - (1086%9) = = - 1086% = = =
Contrioution rom a sharefolder Re-4BE A - - 30,450 - - - - - - 30,450 - 340
Transfered to accumulated losses 8R22:EE - - (1,1655) - - - - - 111655 - - -
As t 31 December 2020 i 3
TZRzt-A 105,252 8,944,986 - (131,021) 831 138,213 128,349 49,054 (11,056,568) (2620904 1,196,916  (1,423,988)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEREEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

Notes:

)

(i)

(i)

(V)

Contributed surplus represents the reduction of the Company’s issued
share capital upon cancellation of paid up share capital, and the deemed
contribution from equity holder which has arisen from the waiver of
promissory notes in previous years and contribution from a shareholder in
current year.

Exchange translation reserve represents exchange differences relating
to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations
from their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency
(i.e. Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") and are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the exchange translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Share options reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to
be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over
the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of
the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined
by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting
period (if any) and is recognised in administrative and other operating
expenses with a corresponding increase in the share options reserve.

Statutory surplus reserve consists of (i) subsidiaries in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) have appropriated 10% of the profit to the
statutory surplus reserve which is required to be retained in the accounts
of the subsidiaries for specific purposes and (i) pursuant to the relevant
PRC regulations, the Group is required to transfer maintenance and
production funds at fixed rates based on relevant bases to a specific
reserve account. The maintenance and production funds can be utilised
when expenses or capital expenditures on production maintenance and
safety measured are incurred. The amount of maintenance and production
funds utilised would be transferred from the specific reserve account to
accumulated losses.

Convertible loan notes issued are split into their liabilities and equity
components at initial recognition by recognising the liability component
at its fair value which is determined using a market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debts and attributing to the equity component
the difference between the proceeds from issue and the fair value of the
liability component. The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The equity component is recognised in the convertible
loan notes equity reserve until convertible loan notes are either converted (in
which case it is transferred to share premium) or the convertible loan notes
are redeemed (in which case it is released directly to accumulated losses).

Witk :

U)

(i)

(i)

()

BABRBRIEARTF S BITIRA RSB
AR 2SR BB EARBEFE
HReALREMBIEIENSBURKREE
KEBRRZEE -

FERIMEEBERAEEEIEBCEEF
EREDREEEREAREE 25 EH% D
BLTIETD)AERZELZSE  YEERNE
fo 2R R R E R B R R o %
EREAMEFRBRACELZENLES
SNEBB B RERS ©

B RAEENEREE AR L AREER
HE AR ER i 5T CEUIR  2 X P 1B - H AR
TRBEEEERNRHARZ AFEFE - &
HRzeBHEBSEREZ A FEREH
FEH(NA)NEOETE  WRTTR R EM
LR P RER  MBRERETSERE
i

EERBAEREEE)TEARLME(F
BB 2R 10% 208 M EEE RSN
ERA BRTCARRENMBARRAE
FrE M RiREHBEMERRY - AEEA
BRAEEENEEL R EREEREER
CEZERER - BEREEESTREL
EERBRZ2HEBZAXREAT KRS
B -EgREREEES R ERFERR
BRERERE -

ERTIRBREREERVSEREDHE
EREDERD  DERBRATEERAR
Bo(RABEU T BRBRER TSN RE
B UHBETRESFREEBROAFEZ
Mz =R AR D - AEHNY HREE
TR - E DR AT MR ERFIRE
mFERER  EEURREREREER(E
R T E B =R )5 B) kAT R B R R E
EED (LB TEREBRERAER) -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—BRCRHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEEH
Loss before taxation BB A BT 18 (852,913) (1,323,913)
Adjustments for: RTANZIBELAE
Change in fair value of derivative ARBREREBITETE
component of convertible loan notes Bo 2 AT EZS 27,870 (22,843)
Depreciation of property, Wz - BB R
plant and equipment (BIEEREEE)TE
(including right-of-use assets) 188,761 178,171
Amortisation of mining rights PR 413,756 315,756
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERE 2,649 2,318
Finance costs AEKAR 361,665 415,590
Recognition of expenses from ERENREZAZ
prepayment - 66,300
Impairment loss recognised in respect PRI TR 2 B 1E
of mining rights, net FE 170,267 336,249
Impairment loss recognised in respect wE - BEMRHEERZ
of property, plant and equipment, net FEEE - FRE 120,962 160,102
Written off of prepayment i EE TR K08 2,383 21,534
Impairment loss recognised in respect BEEEEEEER
of financial assets under expected NEMEEERLZ
credit loss model, net WIEEIE - F5 35,946 9,149
Bank interest income RITHBHA (888) (57)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME BERREZ
plant and equipment (Wezs) /B 18 (2,608) 280
Government grants S # Bh (4,927) (29,902)
Share-based payment expenses RS 989 13,285
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMMB AR Z W (334) (1,119
Gain on extinguishment of convertible EIHMREREE 2 s
loan notes (2,126) -
Waiver of other payables #A o H A FE (< FRIA (11,465) (33,980)
Operating cash flows before RETEBESEEA
movements in working capital KEEERE 449,987 106,920
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,/ (5 m) 10,545 (14,399)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 R HAbpE YR IR
other receivables (g m) m A (104,001) 119,590
Decrease in amounts due FE UL B8 38 N B R IE R
from related companies 101 1,683
Increase in amounts due from directors FEULE S 5RIEE N = (229)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and E 5 R EMENFRIE
other payables CR ) /10 (91,426) 104,406
Cash generated from operations REFBHRE 265,206 317,971
Income tax paid EAETER (14,530) (67,031)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETHHMBRSFH
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 250,676 250,940
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZE_TF+_A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Acquisition of property, plant and WHEMZ - B E MG
equipment (255,188) (154,720)
Acquisition of other intangible assets Mo s B T2 B - (8,574)
Deposit paid for acquisition for property, WY BEREZREZ
plant and equipment BEffiERe (3,922 (17,437)
Net cash inflow from disposal of HE—FHRBARIRSE
subsidiaries MAFER - 48,272
Government grants received B U AT 48 B 4,927 29,902
Interest received BB 888 57
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEREE
plant and equipment FriS k18 5,718 1,070
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZHTARS FH
ACTIVITIES (247,577) (101,430)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R ESEE
Contribution from a shareholder KA —RBRFTE 39,450 =
Repayment to a director BRT—RES - (1,400)
Proceeds from other borrowings Ht g ESHRIA - 21,581
Repayment of convertible loan notes BETRBRENRER = (78,000)
Proceed from issuing of new shares BT TS FE 14,609 58,488
Share issuing expense AR B TR (96) (318)
Repayment of capital elements of BEHAEEEZELRTNS
lease liabilities (18,678) (89,487)
Repayment of interest elements of EEHEEERZMNELD
lease liabilities (4,502) (14,042)
Interest paid EATHLE (11,380) (79,360)
(Repayment to)/advance from BN R (EER),BR
related companies (39,271) 13,388
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMETBHAREEHE
ACTIVITIES (19,868) (119,150)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE ReRBSZEEWERED)
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EhNFEEE (16,769) 30,360
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BEPUZ2RERALE
AT THE BEGINNING OF By
THE REPORTING PERIOD 45,788 19,538
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE IEERBB oE
RATE CHANGES 19,078 (4,110)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BERRAZRERALE
AT THE END OF BY
THE REPORTING PERIOD 48,097 45,788
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries, (collectively known as the “Group”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is Unit A, 12/F., Central
88, 88-98 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding
and provision of finance and treasury services to the Group. The
Group was principally engaged in (i) the development of cassava
cultivation and deep processing business for the related ecological
cycle industry chain; (i) coal exploration and development, sales
of coking coal and other coal products and the provision of coal
trading and logistics services; and (iii) the sales of information
technology products and provision of system integration services,
technology services, software development and solution services.

BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institution of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”) Cap.622.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

2. BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of Hong Kong dollar (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise
stated, which is also the functional currency of the Company.
The directors (the “Directors”) consider HK$ is the appropriate
presentation currency for the users of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. The functional currency of the Company’s
major subsidiaries in PRC and the Kingdom of Cambodia
(“Cambodia”) are Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States dollar
(“US$”) respectively.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of the reporting period except
for derivative component of convertible loan notes, which are
measured at fair value.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

2.

mAGEMBHRR 2 EEE)

BRIERBIER  GEMBHMERUATE
TTTFAETDREMZS  BLITRAE
REZYEEE - EX(EFDRA
BTHARESREWBHRRERAEMNS
RABEINEY - RATNPE R
RIB(RBEDZEEZHBRR 2
REEEIRAARBTARE EET
(I=TT)EHE »

AN RETEEERAEENEE
HIRAR Y+ HERT AR S SRR 2 0T T
AHSHATE BRI -

s kA — AR I 1 R R @ R AR TS
i REZ ATESE -

RFERTH2EERTERNRERF
RphE—BEEMSIRMKEE 7
BEMBNOER  TwZEBREE
EEBRIAEREMEETAGESE -
KA EERBBENRATER  ~A&E
SEEMG2EENGEARHEER
BEEERMEERNEEXRRBNR
B ERSHEAVBBRRFAER XL
BEOAFESGENLER ETURE
HEREW B MEENE2HRK D XA E
BEANBHXNRS  RIEFBHBER
SFERNFIGSFEARNEERH U R AR
FEELEALFAFENTEDIW - &
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BB ERIFEICHKEERETHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 2. REFREUBRR ZEEE)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$660,458,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and as of that date, the
Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$6,260,753,000 and approximately HK$1,423,988,000
respectively whereas its cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$48,097,000 only as at the same date.
Besides, included in the net current liabilities of the Group, there
are other borrowings related to convertible loan notes issued in
2017 by the Company with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$312,000,000 (“2017 Convertible Loan Notes”) which were
matured on 10 July 2020 and amounts due to non-controlling
interests of approximately HK$5,572,551,000 was either past
due as at 31 December 2020 or will be matured on or before 31
December 2021.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

2. BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2020 after
taking into consideration of the following:

(i) the Group is negotiating with non-controlling interests of the
amounts due by the Group for extending the repayment due
date;

(i) the Group is negotiating with the holder of 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable; and

(i) external facilities shall be available to the Group.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern,
which will depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate
financial and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully negotiation with non-controlling interests to
extend the repayment due dates;

(i) successfully negotiation with the holder of 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes to restructure the repayment timetable of the
Group’s financial obligations; and

(i) successfully obtaining external facilities for fulfilling its other
existing financial obligations.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

2. RAGSNBHRR2EE(H)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 3. ER#IEAMBRELENRE
HKFRSs CH)
(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily (a) RAFERFERZERBUBER

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments’

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 -20207?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs (CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

The Directors anticipate that the application of new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

® has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBERGE

(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and (i) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSSs).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUS”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently whenever there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of
CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, TEDFTBEKR(E)
(CONTINUED)
Leases HE

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases with
similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when the
Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account for
the lease component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBERGE

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to the Directors and other
employees of the Group and others providing similar services are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress and
freehold land as described below), are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBERGE

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Freehold land are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than freehold land and properties under construction)
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives
are as follows:

Mining structure 10%

Leasehold improvements 33'/5% or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33'/3%

office equipment

Motor vehicles 33'/:%
Plants and machineries 10%
Buildings 10% or over the lease terms

Construction in progress intended to be used for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property,
plant and equipment, commences when they are ready for their
intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of the exchange
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHBEKRGE)
(CONTINUED)
Mining rights PRiERE

Mining rights with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for mining rights is recognised on the units of
production method based on the total proven and probable
reserves of the mine.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHBEKRGE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) SR T HE(E
Financial assets (continued) THEE(EB)
Impairment of financial assets LA ERE

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, refundable deposits, bills receivables, other
receivables, amounts due from related companies, amounts due
from directors and cash and cash equivalents) which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the end of the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and/or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instruments as at the end
of the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instruments as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instruments’ external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

4. TESTHHERE)

¢RI A&

E2HEE(E)

TREEREE)

RABEMTAMSE AEEFEER
12 AMNEHREEBEBNEERREE K
EEERR B VS HERAREZ LN
AAEEERAEEAFTESRNEHEES
B A AETERBEFTENNTERSE
BEBNDRT a8 HERUAREEELD
AT Mk R R A BRRE L INmE °

() EERRAEZIEM
HEEERRBVSERARESR
BEEENE  AEEgRem T A
R ERRZFEENNERES M
TERVIPHEREBBEEENNR
REITLLE o T H B AR -
AEFEeEZEABEANENEEM
EUHER  BERTERLRESRM
ETNERK AN RN ERH
ATEIE B KL ©

ABME  GEfEEEERRELTR
ERMESZERUATER

o TRTAINFEIA)XRAIEE
%%&E’J,ﬁ?’éjﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%k :

o EERBRMINBTEEIERE
Zi - PInEBANERES
= FHREARBREKEEZ L
H

.:Jr/\’rrﬁlf:’fﬂ‘k/d BRENEE
TR #I3R B K TEEAT R &1L

s EBARZXEMNERXEY
mER

s BERAWETE  EHEIKIMER
BEERIFEHNERE T &
B BREHFAEEBERNEE
NBETR -

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #%EZEREBERAT 117



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

U)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credlit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the end of the reporting period. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a
low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. TESTHHERE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over one year
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on
the following basis:

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHBEKRGE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) SR T HE(E
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) THEERE (B)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables,
amount due to a director, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, amounts due to related companies and liabilities
component of convertible loan notes) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does
not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair
value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised
and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not
subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option
classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion option
is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will
be transferred to share premium. Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible loan
notes, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible loan notes (continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Group’s own equity instruments is a conversion
option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods,
the liabilities component of the convertible loan notes is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the debt and derivative components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the derivative component are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the liabilities component are included
in the carrying amount of the debt portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an existing financial liability is renegotiated in such a way
that the liability is extinguished fully or partially by issuing equity
instruments, it is accounted for as an extinguishment of the
original financial liability (or part of the financial liability) extinguished
and the consideration paid (being the fair value of the equity
instruments issued), recognised to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTHBEKRGE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) SR T HEE
Derivative financial instruments PTEZHTA

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The
entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in
its entirely as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as
separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative,
their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of
the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at
FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a single
compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives relate to
different risk exposures and are readily separable and independent
of each other.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on the weighted average
method or first-in-first out method as appropriate. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling prices for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with

finite useful lives other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBERGE

(CONTINUED)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with

finite useful lives other than goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “loss before taxation” because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHBERGE

(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying
amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grant are presented under
“other operating income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the PRC government retirement benefit scheme,
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in PRC
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in
Hong Kong are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, TEDFTBEKR(E)
(CONTINUED)
Provisions BiE

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental costs

Provisions for the Group’s restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental expenses are based on estimates of required
expenditure to restore the sites of Group’s mines in accordance
with PRC rules and regulations. The Group estimates its
liabilities for final reclamation and mine closure based upon
detailed calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash
expenditure to perform the required work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs
so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a
provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. When inflow is virtually certain, an
asset is recognised.

Related party transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
Related party transactions (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same Group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member);

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of
whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members who

may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation, the Directors have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern basis

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the basis
as set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Control over subsidiaries

The Group owns 49% equity interest in LLI 75 & 7% 22 $4 £ E 42 R 3%
BRI AR AT (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing
Group Energy Investment Development Company Limited®)
(“Shanxi Coal”). The Group’s ownership of 49% equity interest in
Shanxi Coal gives the Group the same percentage of the voting
rights in Shanxi Coal. The Group’s 49% equity interest in Shanxi
Coal was acquired on 7 June 2013 and there has been no change
in the Group’s ownership in Shanxi Coal since then. The remaining
51% of the registered capital of Shanxi Coal is owned by two
equity interest holders, who holds 41% and 10% respectively,
belonging to a same group of companies. The Directors made an
assessment as at the date of completion of acquisition as to
whether or not the Group has control over Shanxi Coal based on
whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of Shanxi Coal unilaterally.

* For identification purpose only

5 BARESTTHE R TREMZ

EEZRR

A K 4R AN R E & R
EXAHREEFUEMRREEZE
ERBEREEREDHE - SRR
R ZEHARBERRIBRBEBEL
BERBERAZEMEAREL - BERE
RIGEZFHATR -

fEt RERARREFERE - WEHE
FrZERTER BB AT < BHE - Rl
RERTNZPRER - HABTZERE
RARREAE - AIRMERT B 5t 2 B KR
REAREIRERR ©

FE & 5t B SR BR T 4/ B8 42 ) i
NTREFERAASESHBRERT
FEH R M BAERCERELR
BERFEZBERAE - P RGER
Sh o

BT
BANBRAREECSEEES . &
REHRIRREGA B R M B2
5|2 H o

ESl AT

AEEHEA LARKEHSBEREREE
FEARAR (TR KR])49%M% A #
oo REERNILFAKRES Z249% A
s ANE BRI KES BRI
ZIRERE  AREEN_T—=F At
BUEE L AR R 49% AN HE 2 - B IR
EENILTEE R 2 FTA I E A o |
PR RAME AR AR TE51 %R A MRS
BARERFEARES  ZMAEFEAD
AFEAI%R10%ER - BENE—%
BN R - EERTEAKEE BRERS
ERGAEFEERETRLUARRZHE
BEETEASEE LARKELHER
PEIRE

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #%8ZER&EBEBR AT 133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. RS HERMESTTIRESEZ
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY FERRE)
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgments in applying the entity’s accounting
policies (continued)

Control over subsidiaries (continued)

The Directors concluded that it has had control over Shanxi Coal
since the completion of acquisition on 7 June 2013 on the basis
that under the memorandum and articles of association of Shanxi
Coal (as amended on 21 December 2009), the Group is able
to appoint five directors out of nine on the board of directors of
Shanxi Coal through its wholly owned subsidiaries and a resolution
to be passed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal requires
a simple majority. Upon Shanxi Coal being effectively acquired
by the Group on 7 June 2013, the Group is able to control the
decision making of the board of directors of Shanxi Coal through
its wholly owned subsidiaries.

In addition, all the shareholders of Shanxi Coal agreed that
they will approve the plans and proposals, including operating
and investment plan, financial budgeting, profit appropriation,
extraction of discretionary reserve and the issuance of bonds,
proposed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal. The Directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting interests
to direct the relevant activities of Shanxi Coal, and accordingly the
Group has control over Shanxi Coal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
depreciated and amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account their estimated
residual values. The determination of the useful lives and residual
values involve management’s estimation. The Group assesses
annually the residual values and the useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets and if the expectation
differs from the original estimates, such a difference may impact
the depreciation and amortised in the year and the estimate will be
changed in the future period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment assessment on non-current assets

In considering the impairment losses that may be required for
certain of the Group’s non-current assets which mainly include
property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
and mining rights, the recoverable amount of the asset need
to be determined. The recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. It is difficult to
precisely estimate fair value because quoted market prices for
these assets may not to be readily available. In determining the
value in use, the Group uses all readily available information in
determining expected cash flows generated by the CGU to which
the asset belongs and they are discounted to their present value,
which requires significant judgment relating to discount rates,
future selling prices, future production costs, future recovery
rates regarding coal washing process and anticipated production
capacity.

Notwithstanding that the Group has used all available information
to make this estimation, inherent uncertainty exists and actual
write-offs may be higher or lower than the amount estimated.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses
provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on aging of trade receivables as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns.
The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At the end of each reporting period, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 37.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. BRESFTHERATTREEZ

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are inherently
imprecise and represent only approximate amounts because of
the subjective judgments involved in developing such information.
There are authoritative guidelines regarding the engineering
criteria that have to be met before estimated mine reserves can
be designated as “proven” and “probable”. Proven and probable
mine reserve estimates are updated at regular basis and have
taken into account recent production and technical information
of each mine. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. In addition, as
prices and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of
proven and probable mine reserves also changes. This change is
considered as a change in estimate for accounting purposes and
is reflected on a prospective basis in related amortisation rates
and impairment of mining rights.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates,
these estimates are used in determining depreciation expenses
and impairment losses. The capitalised cost of mining rights is
amortised over the estimated unit of production. The estimated
unit of production are reviewed annually in accordance with the
production plans of the Group and the proven and probable
reserves of the mines.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
are different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
provisions in the period in which such determinations are made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of derivative component of convertible loan notes
The Directors use their judgment in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique for financial instruments not quoted in an
active market. Valuation techniqgues commonly used by market
practitioners are applied. For derivative components of the
convertible loan notes, assumptions are made based on quoted
market rates adjusted for specific features of the instrument.
As at 31 December 2019, derivative components of convertible
loan notes recognised as current liabilities was approximately
HK$850,000 and as current assets was approximately
HK$28,719,000. There is no derivative components of the
convertible loan notes as at 31 December 2020.

Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and

environmental costs

The provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental
costs has been determined by the management of the Group
based on their best estimates. The management of the Group
estimated this liability for final reclamation and mine closure based
upon detailed forecast of the amounts and timing of future cash
flows for a third party to perform work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability, such that the provision reflects the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
However, the estimate of the associated expenditures may be
subject to change due to new government environmental policy
in the future. The provision is reviewed regularly to ensure that it
properly reflects the present value of the obligation arising from
the mining activities.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.
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6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. EXEEEE (&)

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (which
included convertible loan notes, amounts due to related
companies, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other
borrowings and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents)
and capital deficiencies attributable to owners of the Company.
The Directors review the capital structure monthly. As a part
of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues and repurchase
of existing shares as well as issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debts.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments, based on information reported
to the Board (being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”)) for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment are as follows:
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Cassava starch - Provision of cultivation and processing of REBNER - REBERAZRD
operation cassava starch for sale I TLAYESHE
Mining operaton = Geological survey, exploration and IR TS - Rk WEE 2 E
development of coal deposits, and 7T~ MR A
selling of coking coal and other K E R R H A
coal products R EE o
Coal operation ~  Provision of coal trading and logistics BRI ST - RHEXREZ SRR
services AR 75
Systems integration — Sales of information technology AEENKRYE - BFAREEREE -
services and products, provision of systems R B R RHERZEEKR
software solutions integration services, technology HE % BTERTS - 8
services, software development and HRERBATR
solution services AR 7%

For management purpose, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services. The management
of the Group monitors the operating results of its business units
separately for the purposes of making decisions on resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on the operating profit or loss which in certain
respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently
from the operating profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the CODM also reviews
other segment information.

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable and operating segments.

Systems integration

7.

2 EBE R ()

ERDBRBELND BHESEERM
5 IBRERRENEHNEMORE

%o

DEBAREE

ATEHINRAI2BMRELED AN ZA

SEWMAREES -

services and Cassava starch
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation operation Total
ZESREHR
BEBARR Rk RERBER -h
2020 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

ZBIEE DTN ZBIEF CTNF ZBIEF CTNF ZBIEF CToNF ZBCEF CTNE

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
THR Tén Thr TEr  TEr  TEn  TEn
For the year ended BETZA=1-H
31 December LEE
REVENUE WA
Seles to external customers  FANIRP{EL 72 HE S = - = - 1,303,796 944,258
RESULTS E+ |
Segmentloss HHEE (179 = - (89315  (89406) (414968) (378,730)
Change i fair value of THRERS B
derivative component of 18852
convertile loan notes LTERY (27870) 22,843
Unallocated income RABBA 2818 112
Unallocated expenses FARTM (51,228)  (5355)
Finance costs BERA (361,665)  (415,590)
Loss before taxation RiAER (852,013) (1,323,919
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
loss represents the loss from each segment without allocation
of central administrative expenses, including directors’ and
chief executive’s emoluments, change in fair value of derivative
component of convertible loan notes, certain other income and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

For the purpose of assessment by the CODM, the finance cost
of amounts due to non-controlling interests, advances drawn on
discounted bills and leases liabilities were not included in segment
results while the corresponding liabilities have been included in the
segment liabilities.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable and operating segments.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 B E ()

i L ONES {C )
2REEENBLEABRALES
ZEHBEMAR - HBERIE D BE
EZER - MERDERRITHAX -
BREEERITRARMS - TRIRER
EEVETARBSZATEES T
A A RBE KA - it T3 E RS A
RERFENEBEERRERSE 25t
B -

REBRERKELTHEMS @ BN
R ERR - REERZRZ B
MEEBEZRERAIL RFTADRE
A MEERBETANRAE -

TMEERER
AT REAZFREED BN 2 AE
MEENAE-

Segment assets TEEE
2020 2019
. —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT

Systems integration services and R ERARTE KB

software solutions fRR R 6,455 6,469
Mining operation IR TS 7,053,815 7,143,191
Cassava starch operation NEWDE 12,287 51,306
Total segment assets D EERE 7,072,557 7,200,966
Unallocated corporate assets RAOMEEEE 5,674 45,310
Consolidated total assets LEBERE 7,078,231 7,246,276
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

7. ZEREF ()

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PBEERAEE)
Segment liabilities HESEE
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
Systems integration services and FHA SR A BR T SR R
software solutions S 4,569 4,320
Mining operation RIEZET 6,820,599 6,263,439
Cassava starch operation NE R ETE 4,879 5,023
Total segment liabilities HEAERE 6,830,047 6,272,782
Unallocated corporate liabilities IOl EaE 1,672,172 1,875,529
Consolidated total liabilities meBRERE 8,502,219 8,148,311
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MER D BRI RN D EBHE 5 BB IR T
allocating resources between segments: = ¢

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
certain property, plant and equipment, certain prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, amounts due from directors, cash and cash
equivalents, derivative component of convertible loan notes,
and assets jointly used by reportable segments.

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain other payables, certain amounts due to related
companies, amount due to a director, other borrowings,
derivative component of convertible loan notes, liabilities
component of convertible loan notes, deferred tax liabilities
and liabilities jointly liable by reportable segments.

EBEEEHNEESAZ2HNH
HERNBRETYE - BFER&E
HTENE - ke REMBEKR
H - BMEENRNE  BRES
FE - REMRSEFEY - THRR
EXREBZITETIASH»ARAS
A2H/ D HBHARER 2 EE ©

EREODEERA2®RNEL
HTBERETHEMENRE  ET
ENEEARRE EBN—RES
RE - HiEE  AIRRERRR
ZUTETA#Y ATRRERREE
ZBES ELEHBEABNARH
BRI 2|MOMHEAEZEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

7. ZEREF ()

Other segment information H{th 2 &5 & Kt
Systems integration
services and
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation Cassava starch operation Unallocated Consolidated
AEEARER
LS Y VE S RREH REH RERRER i) &&
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
8o "R CBC®E SR CBCBE CRnF ZBIBE CERNE ZRIRE CENF R CENE
HK$000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Tn Thn Tin Thn Fin T TEn T Tn Thn Tn Thr
For the year ended BEt-A=t-B
31 December LEE
Amounts included in the HEANERLSS
measure of Segment loss or BERHR
segment assets: TR :
Depreciation of property, plant ~~ #1% + BERiRIE
and equipment (ncluding (BEFRELR)
right-of-use assets) bii o 2 178,960 163,681 = = 5499 9,853 4302 46% 188,761 178,171
Amortisation of mining rights FEERS - - 43756 315756 = = © o = - M3e 315756
Amortisation of infangble assets ~ ER/AERH - - 2,649 2318 - - o = = = 2,649 2318
Addtionstonon-curentassets  FEFREEE = - 402301 294,416 = - 42 16,649 5 28 40278 311088
(Gein)loss on dlsposal of HENE  BER
property, plant and equipment R 2 (k%) /BB = . 2 (361) = = (2,629) 211 = 430 2,608) 20
Impaiment loss recognised in SRR ZAE
respect of mining rights F# - i 170,267 336,249 - - - - - - 170,267 336,249
Impairment loss recognised in 0% BERSE
respect of property, ERZAERE
olent and equipment - - 1w 10102 - - - - - - 1% 160102
Impaiment loss recognised in REEHEERIE
respect of financial assets HeREE
under expected credt loss HEEE 38
model, net - 9,149 - 3 - e - - 35,946 - 35,946 9,149
Amounts reguiarly provided to ERRHTEELE
CODM but not included in RRERLEFA
the measure of segment HEANEBL
Joss: HE:
Interest income FERA @ 6 (885) 49 © 5 o @ ) ] (888) (57)
Finance costs BENAK 1 . 274,398 295,286 - = - 304 81,266 120,000 361,665 415590
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. DEER @)

Other segment information (continued) Hi o &R ()

Geographical information HhEER

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, elsewhere in REBEBFURES - PR HAMMER
PRC and Cambodia. RIESE ©

REBRBINBE P ZWAIZ L E 10 B
25 - BRAKEERBEE(TEEE
BTE)ZEMAREEMEHRZS -

The Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based
on the location of the operation. Information about the Group’s
non-current assets (excluded financial instruments) is presented
based on the geographical locations of the assets.

Hong Kong PRC Cambodia Consolidated
- HE RER &e
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZECEE CT-NE ZBZERE O CT-NE BB CENF O CECEE O CENF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thxr T i T i T i T
Segment revenue AHRA
Revenue from extemal customers — RESMIEF 2\ - - 130379 944258 - - 130379 944058
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,921 6218 6,787,269 6,973,203 2,831 11,353 6,792,027 6,990,774
Information about major customers ERXEREFZER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing HAREEEAFEAESE10%HIA L2
10% or more of the total sales of the Group is as follows: BERPZWBAMT
2020 2019
—EBEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Customer A BEA 621,553 =
Customer B’ EFB 227,444 =
Customer C' ®HC - 124,080
Customer D' EFD! - 211,699
Customer E' EPE = 381,293
T Revenue from mining operation. T ORBEB A o
Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or br EXFI#EEEEIN Rz EFE - #

more to the Group’s revenue for both years.

BEMEFPRAKESR10%HNA LK

AEFR -

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #%EEZEREBERAT 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE
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8. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME

i)

8. WARHEMEE W

Revenue from goods and Services i) EmRERBHBA
Disaggregation of revenue ZHRA
Systems integration
services and Cassava starch
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation operation Total
FESRRHR
Segments 28 BHBANE FEER Bk RERBER )
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Z3I%F C2N\F CBC%E CENF CBCBF C30F CBCBE CTNE ZBCBF R0
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS000
Tén TEr Tz TEx Tz TEr  TER  TEr  TER TEn
Types of goods or senvices  EmaiRB AR
Sales of goods HEEm
= Raw coals -FE - - 15483 607017 - - - - 15483 607,017
- Clean coals -Bi = - 1,134,123 318,259 = - = - 1,134,123 318,250
- Other coal products -EfpERER = 154190 18,780 = = = - 154190 18780
Provision of system REZRENRE
integration services and S G
software solution - 202 - 3 - i - - - 202
- 202 1,303,796 944,056 - - - - 1,303,796 944258
Timing of revenue WARRER
recognition
A paintin time K% - 200 1,303,796 944,056 - - - - 1,303,796 944,258
Notes: HiaF -

U]

(i)

For sales of raw coals, clean coals, other coal products,
computer products and cassava starch, revenue is recognised
when control of goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been accepted by customers (acceptance) after goods
delivered to the specific location or picked up by customers.
Following acceptance, the customers have full discretion over
the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, have the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bear the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. The
normal credit term is 30 to 60 days upon acceptance.

All performance obligations of the Group’s revenue are part of
contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

8. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME
(CONTINUED)

8. WARHEMEE W ()

i) Other operating income

i) Efges

2020 2019
. —FNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Bank interest income RITH BWA 888 57
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BERE&#EZ
plant and equipment e 2,608 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB ARz W
(Note 31) (H17E31) 334 1,119
Gain on extinguishment of convertible KSR S N E i 2 WEs
loan notes 2,126 -
Government grants (Note) R 6 B (B 3E) 4,927 29,902
Sundry income MR A 1,430 4,292
Waiver of other payables e H A T IR 11,465 33,980
23,778 69,350

Note:

Government grants mainly represent subsidies granted by the
government authority to compensate the Group’s relocation expenses
already incurred with no future related costs to be incurred. There is
no unfulfiled condition or contingencies relating to such government
subsidies recognised.

Hitk -

BT B ZIEBT MR T 28
NHEAEEEELZREBR - B
BT E SRR o BERZ
HE O MR Z R B R RER G
HHRAEIR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BE R
2020 2019
—B2HF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Effective interest expense on AR EREE BB
convertible loan notes (Note 26) B EZ (#iE26) 77,754 119,196
Interest on other borrowings and HEMEERERMRERZ
advances drawn on discounted bills R ZH B 10,412 2,944
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZFE 2,916 8,961
Interest on amounts due to FEAT IR AR 2 BUIR 2 FILE
non-controlling interests 350,722 358,232
Total interest expense on financial liabilities 3 3EiZ A F(EET ABR 2
not at fair value through profit or loss =N N Bt 441,804 484,333
Less: amounts capitalised in construction &, : RERZ TREBEFTEAR 2 5
in progress (83,031) (71,866)
Imputed interest for provision for R1E ~ (BB RIRIBR A 2
restoration, rehabilitation and FEET I B (KT2F28)
environmental costs (Note 28) 2,892 3,123
361,665 415,590
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

10.LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRFL BB 18
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Loss before taxation has been arrived BRELRIES R E 0Bk -
at after charging:
Auditor’s remuneration for audit services X ERATIR X BRTE 2 B & 1,620 2,550
Auditor’s remuneration for non-audit ZEEN R IEZE AR < Bl
services 700 750
Amortisation of mining rights (included in ~ ERARE S 65 (GT ASHE
cost of sales and services rendered) R ARIS 2 &) (A2t 17)
(Note 17) 413,756 315,756
Amortisation of intangible assets (included EZ&EE# 5 GT AHE &
in cost of sales and services rendered) AR 2 A A) 2,649 2,318
Amounts of inventories recognised EEREATIZFESE
as expense:
- System integration services and — RSP RTS S B R R
software solutions and cassava FRARAKRE WD E
starch operation - 195
~ Mining and coal operations — BRTE I R T 1,166,188 843,915
1,166,188 844,110
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB RS E(BE
equipment (including right-of-use assets) & E) T E
(Note 16) (Hiaz16) 188,761 178,171
Directors’ and chief executive’s EERITEREHINE KE15)
emoluments (Note 15) 3,090 5,140
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BEMEHEZ
equipment &8 = 280
Expenses relating to short-term leases B HAHERE X 7,033 6,644
Staff cost (excluding directors’ and BIRA(TEREESER
chief executive’s emoluments) TRBHEME) (B715)
(Note 15) 68,266 85,410
Share-based payment expense to M 3EME B 5 2 LARR D
non-employees TRX 201 4,132
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11.INCOME TAX CREDIT 11. 8RR
2020 2019
= = s
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHBT
Current tax expense: BEAFR BRI ¢
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) RS
(B 10,150 43,946
Deferred tax credit (Note 29) EIERE B & (B 7£29) (202,605) (163,000)
Income tax credit Frgtise (192,455) (119,054)

)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda,
Independent State of Samoa (“Samoa”) and British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in
Bermuda, Samoa and the BVI.

No provisions for Hong Kong Profits Tax have been made for
subsidiaries established in Hong Kong as these subsidiaries
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for both years.

Profit of the subsidiaries established in PRC are subject to
PRC EIT.

Under the Law of PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of EIT Law, the tax rate of PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for Cambodia corporate income tax have been
made for subsidiaries established in Cambodia as these
subsidiaries did not have any assessable profits subject to
Cambodia corporate income tax for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

No dividend was paid or proposed for both years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$312,362,000 (2019: approximately
HK$695,650,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 494,428,052 (2019: 437,059,190 (restated)) in issue
during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year
ended 31 December 2019 for the purposes of calculating basic
and diluted loss per share have been adjusted for the capital
reorganisation which took place on 7 August 2020.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 does not assume the conversion
of all convertible loan notes and exercise of share options, since
these conversion and exercise would result in an anti-dilutive
effect on basic loss per share.

.INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 1. TSR K% (8])
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss FRNABRIEREGESERER ZBRTA
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as EEEROT -
follows:
2020 2019
—E-EHE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Loss before taxation BRELRIESE (852,913) (1,323,913
Notional tax on loss before tax, REBEA A EEREARE
calculated at rates applicable in FTE R RTBEED
the jurisdictions concerned HEBIA (190,115) (313,992)
Tax effect of income not subject to tax BARBBMAZHBTE (82,140) (23,598)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ NAJFOF B L~ B FS S &
tax purpose 113,460 199,410
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERTBEE L RIE 2 - 19,126
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B A SLRIARIER 2 MG EE
recognised (33,660) -
Income tax credit for the year FAMSHER (192,455) (119,054)
DIVIDENDS 12. R E

BE_Z-_ZFR-_FT—NF+_A=
+f5¢mm¢ﬁiﬂam%ﬁm%
B BEmMEHARURTERZRETR

PRE e

BRER

EREAREEEENRIERQRE
B ARG AT EEIEL312,362,000%
TT(=ZZ—LF : #9695,650,000/87T)
RAFEDHTEBEKRMEFH
#494,428,052K/ (=& — N &F
437,059,190% (L& E5))) &t & o

Eyt”r HEBREALBEEETNS B2
—NE+-A=+—HLEFEZE

ﬁﬂxﬁﬂ%ﬁi’ﬁiaﬁﬁf?f?i)\ﬁ
ETZIRAREAEHRE

AR KR AR B S E IR R 1T AR 4
%E%ﬁﬁﬁﬁFi&%%?% HEt
EHE_ZT-_TFER_T—NF+=A
=+ —HUEFEZEREEFEERITE
BEZEHBRITE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ AND 14.EIXA(TEBREREER

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS) THEAZME)

2020 2019

—E-EF —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Wages, salaries and other benefits TE  HFehkEMETR 64,470 70,645

Retirement benefit schemes contributions iR K@ )5t 214 5x 3,008 6,606

Share-based payment expense B AR 788 8,159

68,266 85,410

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate the MPF Scheme
which are available to qualified employees. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the subsidiaries in
independently administered funds. Monthly contributions made by
the subsidiaries are calculated based on certain percentages of
the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as stipulated under the
relevant requirements, as appropriate.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in PRC,
the subsidiaries of the Group in PRC participate in respective
government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”) whereby
the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the Scheme to
fund the retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Monthly
contributions made to the Scheme are calculated based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs as stipulated
under the requirements in PRC. The relevant authorities of PRC
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the
retired employees. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing required contributions under
the Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions represent gross
contributions by the Group to the Scheme operated by the
relevant authorities of PRC and the MPF Scheme operated in
Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 15. 5% « THHERBR
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS SREBEAEMES
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERITHARM S

Directors’ and chief executives remuneration for the year is as AEEEERITHABEE B E D

follow:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

T

BE_FT-_BF+-A=t—-HL
FE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit  Share-based
and other scheme payment
Fees benefits  contributions expense Total
e 2R BIRER BReE %At
ik At ER B Bx &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tir THr THR Thr TEn
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (‘Mr. Zhang’) R=ERE(RLE) = 240 15 = 255
Mr. Tse Michael Nam (‘M. Tse) B A(E v ) = 1,560 21 = 1,581
Ms. Zhang Tingting REERT
(Resigned on 5 August 2020) W=Z-ZF)\ARAREL) = 420 14 = 434
Non-executive directors FYTES
Ms. Zhu Zheyu KEELT
(Resigned on 12 June 2020) (R-B=ZEXA
TZREE) 432 = = = 432
Mr. Chang Che-Fa REFEE
(Resigned on 5 August 2020) (R=Z-ZF/\ALARE) 42 - - - 42
Independent non-executive BUkHITES
directors
Mr. Lyu Guoping RETEE
(Resigned on 5 August 2020) (RZZZTF/\ARARE) 42 - - - 42
Mr. Jin Xuliang i ib2% e
(Resigned on 5 August 2020) (R=Z2=2F )\ ARRFT) 42 = = = 42
Mr. Lam Chi Wai (Appointed on WEREE
10 January 2020 and resigned (R=2=TF-A+H
on 5 August 2020) e s
NARAE) 96 - - - 96
Mr. Shen Weidong MEREE
(Appointed on 2 November (RZ2ZZF+-A
2020) ZHEZM) 27 = = = 27
Mr. Tian Hong R%E
(Appointed on 10 August (RZZ=FFN\A
2020) +REZT) 66 - - - 66
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin (Df=3=pi
(Appointed on 5 August (R=Z=ZFN\A
2020) LREZM) 68 = = = 68
Ms. Leung Yin Fai 2RBIL
(Resigned on 10 January 2020) (M=Z=FF—f
TRFE) 5 = = = 5
Ms. An Juan RN T
(Appointed on 5 August (W=Z2=ZF)\A1H
2020 and resigned on [ e s
10 August 2020) NATREHE) - . - - -
820 2,220 50 - 3,090
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15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

1. 5% TRAERK
EREEAESME (E)

(a) EERTHARMNE (F)

BE_T-NF+-A=+—HI

FE

Selaries, Retirement
allowances beneft  Share-based
and other scheme payment
Fees benefits  contributions expense Total
Eo = ) RN OS]
idkin Ethigh HEE 353 Bt
HK$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL T TiEr THL THL
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo R=ERE = 1,101 18 = 1,119
Mr. Tse Michael Nam HEELE = 1,560 18 994 2572
Ms. Zhang Tingting REBRL
(Appointed on 2 July 2019) (R=F-NEF+tA-REZMA) 5 356 8 - 364
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Zhu Zheyu Kegrt
(Appointed on 2 July 2019) (R=ZE-NE+tA-REZ) 456 s = = 456
Mr. Chang Che-Fa REREE
(Appointed on 12 July 2019) (R=Z-hE+tA+=H
Z4) 79 = - - 79
Mr. Zou Chengjian PApLE
(Resigned on 5 August 2019) (R=Z-nF/\ALARE) 11 = 3 = 1
Dr. Lam Lee George MEEELT
(Appointed on 1 June 2019 W=Z-NEXA—H
and resigned on 22 July BZARR=F-NEtA
2019) Z+ZBEf) 24 = = 2 24
Independent non-executive BUkHTES
directors
Mr. Lyu Guoping nETEE
(Appointed on 12 July 2019) R=F-nEFtA+=H
Bz 79 - 5 - 79
Mr. Jin Xuliang skt
(Appointed on 20 August (R=Z-nEN\A=TH
2019) BZA) 61 - A - 61
Ms. Leung Yin Fai 2RETL
(Resigned on 10 January (R=Z-ZF-A+ARE)
2020) 168 - - - 168
Mr. Leung Po Wing, RERFEGBS, P
Bowen Joseph GBS, JP (RZB-NENAZTHEE)
(Resigned on 20 August 2019) 107 - = o 107
Mr. Zhou Chunsheng REEEE
(Resigned on 5 August 2019) (R=2-nE\ATARE) 100 = e a 100
1,085 3,017 44 994 5,140
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15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)
Mr. Tse is also the chief executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive.

Except for Note 32, no other material transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of the
Company was a party and in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2019: three) were directors (including the chief
executive) of the Company whose emoluments are set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2019: two)
highest paid individuals were as follows:

15. 5% THRARRK
EREEAESME (F)

(a) EERTRARMNE (H)

AHEETMAARRBITHRAR - £X
B MEeBREERTRAESR
RERB2HME -

BRBTRE325N » AN A A S EAEfAIFH B
REMETVERNEEXBEER -
MEERETEXRKFEEFTEAN
#xm  BRNFRIFRTAERD
REMZEMBEARS - RHELE
# o

(b) EBEZEFMAL
AEBREZZRTFMATBELRR
RIZH(ZE—NF: ZR)EE(B
FBITHAR)  BEz2MeE»N b
X HBEMA(ZE—NF : WA)
EaTMALZEEIT

2020 2019
—EC-FF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥4 -~ 2 8E R H A EF| 1,270 1,167
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R4 K 5T 21 2k 36 36
1,306 1,203
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMENFTYEE :
2020 2019
—E-%F —F-NF
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAE =N
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 2 2

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to any
directors, chief executive or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of the office both years. None of the
directors, chief executive or five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both years.

R M EFE - A5 B3 & T
EF TREZIBAEBEZSFMA
TS - ARSI ENAREE
HAEDIMARE B 2 SZR) BB AR
E-RNEZMEFE  HEEE
ETBAHEIOELEZERHFALHE
R B REEMFHM -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 413 - BERKRHE

Furniture,
Construction fixtures
Mining in progress Right-of-use Leasehold  and office Motor ~ Plantsand  Freehold
structure (“CIP")  Buildings assets improvements  equipment  vehicles machineries land Total
Bk
RBIR HENE EERER BER AA¥E
REREn  (£RIR) BT [REEE 8 BOZRE hE #E 1# Eh)
HK$'000 HKB000  HKS000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000
Thn T Tin T Thn Tér  Tin Tén  TEr T
Asat1 January 2019: RZF-NE-A-B:
Cost KA 850,207 1,415,838 147,794 40,198 16,156 13,166 35499 80,996 4501 2,604,355
Accumulated depreciation ZERAE
and impaiment (291,166) (298,890) (88,561) - (@173 (13062 (16,082 (63477) - (176,001)
Carying amounts RZE-nE-A-A
asat 1 January 2019 LEEfE 559,041 1,116,948 59,233 40,198 11,383 114 19417 17,519 4501 1,828,354
Asat1 January 2019, net of R-Z-N\%-A-H"
accumulated depreciation TRZERAE
and impairment 509,041 1,116,948 59,233 40,198 11,383 14 19,417 17,619 4501 1,828,354
Additions AE 21992 271,804 11,490 308 - 3,986 446 936 126 311,088
Disposals HE (175) = (840) (1,704 (374) o = = - B
Disposal of subsicaries e 3y WEMBA A (Hietsn) N (47,699) 2 (1,018 (10,331) (464) (349 - 82 (p448Y)
Impairment loss, net REEE F8 (04,625) (31,470) (3,509) (659) = (1,089) (13 (28,799) - (160,102)
Depreciation for the year ERE (114,907) < (26,945) (10,759) (635) (119%) (1,954 (21,776) - (1117)
Transfer from O ERRERIE 639,856 (853284 68,125 = = = = 145,303 = =
Reclassfication EFipl] - 5 < o = - (1421 14,274 = =
Exchange realignment LS (18,882) (11,195) (1.870) (397) - (138) @) (1,979 - (3448
Asat 31 December 2019, netof ~ R-E-NE
accumulated depreciation +-A=t-H"
and impaiment MEZ:TERAE 992,300 45104 105690 25969 3 1,173 325 125,478 - 1699009
Asat31 December 2019and ~ WZE-NE
asat 1 January 2020: +ZA=t-Hk
ZRoEE-R-R:
Cost AR 1,620,995 578,844 236,767 36,346 2,937 14,09% 14,676 278,380 - 2783041
Accumulated depreciation ZHAERAE
and impairment (628,695) (133,740)  (131,077) (10,377) (2894 (12,923 (11,424) (152,902) - (1,084,082
Carying amounts as at RZE-NE
31 December 2019 and TZA=+-Bk
1 January 2020 “5-%5-f-H
ZEAEE 992,300 445104 105,690 25,969 43 1,173 3,252 125478 - 1,699,009
Asat 1 January 2020, net of RZETF-A-R-
accumulated depreciatonand B Z:FAERAE
impaiment 992,300 445,104 105,690 25,969 43 ) 3,252 125,478 - 1,699,009
Additions AE 11,19 287,832 %7 68,768 - , B 32,849 - 40218
Disposals HE @) - . > . > - (3.089) - (3,110
Impairment loss, net REEE F8 (55,074) (50,141) (6,005) 073 = (144) (102 (8523 - (120962)
Depreciation for the year FRRE (118,597) = (13,337) (31,120) (37) (560)  (1,226) (23,884) - (188,761)
Transfer from CIP EREHREIR 11,586 (11,586) = = 3 = v = = =
Exchange reaignment ERRE 2,150 5774 4,598 3523 = 691 47 4912 - 216%
Asat 31 December 2020, netof ~ R=-F-%F
acoumulated depreciaionand  TZA=T-8 Ik
impaiment ZEMERNE 843,538 676,983 91913 66,167 6 2,268 1971 127,143 - 1810589
As at 31 December 2020: WZZZEE
Cost 1,748,673 887,121 248,147 110,519 2422 20674 16,150 309,720 - 3343426
Accumulated depreciationand 23t E R
impairment 905,135) (210,138)  (156,234) (44,350) (2.416) (18408)  (14,179) (181,977) - (1582837)
Carrying amounts RZB-BF+25
as at 31 December 2020 St-AZEEE 843,538 676,983 91,913 66,167 6 2,268 1,91 127,743 - 1810589
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, based on the valuation
reports in relation to the mining operation as obtained by the
Group, the Group recognised impairment loss of approximately
HK$179,412,000 (2019: approximately HK$31,444,000) in
respect of property, plant and equipment during the six months
ended 30 June 2020. A further assessment was carried out as at
the 31 December 2020 to further update the status of the mining
operations and the Group recognised impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$120,962,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020 as a whole (2019: approximately
HK$160,102,000).

Particulars regarding impairment assessment are disclosed in
Note 30.

Right-of-use-assets
The analysis of expense items in relation to lease recognised in
profit of loss is as follows:

16. 1% - BB R R%E (@)

REE-—Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—HI1LF
B RBEAEBRRESZEBRBEESZ
HERS  AEEREBEZZT_ZFTFS
A=+BLXNEARDE  BERZE
R EEEA179,412,0008 L (=&
— N 431,444,000 7T) © AR TR
—E_EF+_A=1Tt—BR1TFEA
E—PRESEEBRES 2 ETHERE
AEEGRHE-_ET-_SEF+-_A=+—
HIEEREFTFERIAEEBYE  BERRK
% 2 BB E 18 47120,962,000 7T (— &
— N4 : #9160,102,000/87T) °

BB 2 F BRI S0 E -
EHEEE

REEBERANEEEFBENMALIER S
TR -

2020 2019
p ot 22 —ZE-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use LEMEEENEI DA%
assets by class of underlying asset: BEMNITEER -
- Properties and lands leased for -MHEEERZMER T
own use 9,630 10,759
= Mining structure - FRIBHEEY - 16,555
— Machineries - e 21,490 <
31,120 27,314
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9) HERE 2R HZ9) 2,916 8,961
Expenses relating to short-term leases SR ERRE AR RS (i 10)
(Note 10) 7,033 6,644
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 68,768 308

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in Note 23(c).

HERSREABELEERENIIMA
DT FBEN M E23(C) °
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 413 - = & & 15 ()

(CONTINUED)

Right-of-use-assets (continued)

The Group leases various staff quarter, office premises and
lands for its operations. Lease agreements are typically made for
initial periods of 3 to 30 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
and the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office and
warehouses. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

ERAEEE (&)
AEERHELEHEZEBEETIHES -
NREYER L - BEHZE 2 VIRHIR
BEB3EI0F - ME SRR IR E R E
ERER - LB SETRRRK RN
REEES M ETAIREEE &S
B AEERAANZEELEESL
A 52 ) B 1T 2 HAR o A&t 3 S A AN
ERE  BHEEETSREEER
e

SETHARAEREER M EHME
CRIEZEFR T -NF+ZAH
—B - LHHTHEQ\HD,\J:XFTT&E&
LH}ﬁHT%EJiZLHHfoZH/\ifE

\l ‘W‘H‘

17. MINING RIGHTS 17. RIERE
HK$'000
FET
COST 2%
As at 1 January 2019 RZE—NFE—HA—H 11,098,347
Exchange realignment ﬁ?@%ﬁ%& (213,430)
As at 31 December 2019 and —jl¢+_ﬂ =t+t—B8k
as at 1 January 2020 —E-FF—H—H 10,884,917
Exchange realignment M H B 637,379
As at 31 December 2020 RZZEZZTF+-A=+—H 11,522,296
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT B R E
As at 1 January 2019 RZE—hF—HA—H 5,079,872
Amortisation for the year FNEH 315,756
Impairment loss recognised for the year FAERZRBEEIE 336,249
Exchange realignment ME H B (120,426)
As at 31 December 2019 and —NW&F+=-—A=+—H8Fk
as at 1 January 2020 —E-TF—H—H 5,611,451
Amortisation for the year FAEEH 413,756
Impairment loss recognised for the year FERERZRIERR 170,267
Exchange realignment M H PR 361,354
As at 31 December 2020 RIZBZTF+_A=+—H 6,556,828
CARRYING AMOUNTS ﬁEEE
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZB-—ZBF+=-A=+—H 4,965,468
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+ZA=+—H 5,273,466
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17. MINING RIGHTS

The five mining licenses in relation to the coal mines will expire
from 28 November 2022 to 8 January 2023 and subject to
renewal. In the view of the Directors, the Group will be able to
renew the mining licenses in relation to the coal mines with the
relevant government authority continuously at insignificant cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, based on the valuation
reports in relation to the mining operation as obtained by the
Group, the Group recognised impairment loss of approximately
HK$591,211,000 (2019: approximately HK$58,993,000) in
respect of mining rights during the six months ended 30 June
2020. A further assessment was carried out as at 31 December
2020 to further update the status of the mining operation and the
Group recorded impairment losses in respect of mining rights of
approximately HK$170,267,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020 as a whole (2019: approximately HK$336,249,000).

Particulars regarding impairment assessment are disclosed in
Note 30.

17. FRERE
ANEMERZREIIESEN T
—F+—AZ+N\BEZZE-_=F—A8
NBHEEE - WATAEH - EER
A ANEE A AR R B 2N £ B A AR
BRI HEAEBEE RBHIEE
H o

REE-_ZT-_TF+_A=+—HILF
B BEAEEREZEHERBER
ZEERE  AKEREBE-_Z=-F
FERNAZTHIEANEARKBERER
BEE1847591,211,0008 T (ZZE— N,
F : #4958,993,000/870) - AAAR =
T _ZTF+_A=1+—HBHIBTFHEU
HE—SIRHEBRBES 2 SHERE
REBREBEE T -_TF+_F=+
—AIEEEAFEHSRBERERERIE
49170,267,0008 L (ZZE—NF : 4
336,249,000/ 7T) °

BAERT G 2 F BRI S0 FE

18. GOODWILL 18. &
HK$’'000
FET
COST 2%
As at 1 January 2019, as at 31 December 2019, WR_ZE—hF—F—H ZZT—N&F
as at 1 January 2020 and as at 31 December +=—A=+—8 T F2F—A—8k
2020 —E_EF+_-_A=+—H 3,676,679
IMPAIRMENT HE
As at 1 January 2019, as at 31 December 2019, HR-_Z—hF—HA—H —ZT—N4F
as at 1 January 2020 and as at 31 December +=ZA=+—H - Z2=FF—A—AK
2020 —E_TF+_A=t+—H 3,676,679

CARRYING AMOUNTS
As at 31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2019
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18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 18. & (&)
Goodwill arising from acquisition of CGUs were allocated to CGUs AWERESELAEUMEAZEHZESE
in the following segments: EUTHE R ESEEEM
HK$’000
FET
Mining operation BT 3,661,555
Systems integration services and RRERRIE R GRRF R
software solutions 15,124
As at 31 December 2020 and R_E_ZEF+_A=+—HRK
as at 31 December 2019 —E-hEF+HA=+—8H 3,676,679
19.INVENTORIES 19. 78
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Consumables SHFE 6,283 5,496
Finished goods-coal products RIAK o — BEIRE M - 10,960
6,283 16,456
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, 20.E5 FEWNFIE - FEfIRKIE
DEPOSITS, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND e EBRE E&ﬁﬂﬂﬂﬁl&
OTHER RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Trade receivables from contracts with RERFPEHZE S EWIR
customers 136,371 74,420
Less: Allowance for credit losses (Note (b)) & : 1= & &8 B & (= (b) (18,516) (18,516)
Trade receivables net of allowance for B 5 EWGRIE (IR EERE
credit losses (Note (a) &) (@) 117,855 55,904
Prepayments, deposits, bills receivables ~ FEfMFUE - 2% - EWEE &
and other receivables (Note (c)) H e Wk 38 (B 3E(c) 96,640 43,796
As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables arising from contracts RZE-—NF—A—H8 RAREF&EH
with customers (before allowance for credit losses) amounted to 2B ZREMGE R EEBERER

approximately HK$192,028,000. #7192,028,000/8 7T, °
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,

DEPOSITS, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods ranging
from 30 days to 60 days (2019: from 30 days to 60 days) which
are subject to periodic review by management.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
periodically.

The Group applied simplified approach to provide the expected
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. The impairment
methodology is set out in Note 37.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance as at 31
December 2020 are aggregate carrying amounts of approximately
HK$7,073,000 (2019: approximately HK$119,000) which are
past due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past due
balances, approximately HK$125,000 (2019: approximately
HK$119,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable
based on historical experience.

No allowance for credit losses has been recognised for both
years. As at 31 December 2020, trade receivables with the
amount of approximately HK$18,516,000 (2019: approximately
HK$18,516,000) was determined as credit-impaired.

20.E S5 EWFIE - FARRIE

BrE - EH&&%&EWBEH&,&E
(&)
AEETERZFTERTFHTMAER

[}
oo °

AKEI—iA%EJESOBEEesOBE(::
=G ¢ sanieo%>T~fz1:ﬁ |
IEE EEEFEqu*AAN

REMNEAHESH  AEEGTHE
AR EHAEYREFAEERE
B BFESHEE RIS DT
it o

AEBEBBET AT REBY B ME
ERFORARENTAREEEE - B
BT A& SIS -

RZEZEF+=ZA=+—H &K

EZESEEREAGBIERRAEY
7,073,000 70 (ZZF — L4F : £9119,000
B ZEcERREHARCEE -
RE s - #9125,0008 (= F —
JLE - 49119,0007% 7T) B #1HF90 A 3k A
o BTHERELN  DAREEEE
WEBZEZLARBEBELHZESE
TR BT e -

RZMEFEER - IEEE.:E%EJ%%%
H-R-_E-_TF+_A=+—
%JEHSZMIE%’NS,M6,0007‘%75(_73*
& #918,516,0008 L) BEBIEER
& -

#‘W‘Q%
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS, BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

20. B 5 BWGKIE - AN RAE
BrE - EH&&%&EMEH&%’\IE

RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) (#)
Notes: K -
(@) The aging analysis of the trade receivables, net of allowance for credit @ MIEHR - MBREEBHEBEEKR

BEAHHIRAERARAUREER
)G EZE S RUGRAERE DT

losses, based on earlier of the invoice dates or revenue recognition
date at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

2020 2019

—E-EHF —ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FET

Within 30 days 30 KA 110,782 55,785

31 days to 60 days 31 RE60K - -

61 days to 90 days 61 REIOKR 6,948 =

91 days to 180 days 91 RE180K - -
181 days to 365 days 181X E 365K -

Over 365 days B iB365K 125 119

117,855 55,904

(o) The movements in lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) that has been o) RFMETERR 2 EEFERRBE

EBEHEEHREERBZEHNT

recognised under the simplified approach were as follows:

2020 2019

—B-EF —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FER FAET

As at 1 January and as at 31 December N E RS E S 18,516 18,516

() The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance of deposits © TRIVR—MFTE TR KE YR

and other receivables under general approach: THE BB 2 H0R -

Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired)

BATFER

FEREEERE

(BHREEESS)

HK$’000

FET

As at 1 January 2019 RZE—NE—H—H =

Impairment loss recognised B R EE 18 9,149

As at 31 December 2019 and as at 1 January 2020 RZTE-NFE+ZA=+—HBF

—ZT-FTF—H—H 9,149

Impairment loss recognised BERAEER 35,946

As at 31 December 2020 R-E-_EHF+=-A=+-—H 45,095

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 37 to the BEFGHFEBRNEAETHRERM T
consolidated financial statements. 37 °

160 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 & &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

COMPANIES
The related companies are wholly owned by a director of the
Company.

The amounts due from related companies are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand. The maximum balance
during the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately
HK$9,123,000 (2019: approximately HK$9,037,000).

As at 31 December 2020, certain related companies of the Group
had confirmed that they shall not demand settlement of the
amounts due by the Group of approximately HK$125,891,000
(2019: approximately HK$159,576,000) before 1 July 2022 (2019:
1 January 2022). The respective amounts are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and are classified as non-current liabilities as at 31
December 2020 and 2019.

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) DIRECTORS

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. As at 31 December 2020, the amounts due from
Mr. Zhang and Mr. Tse were approximately HK$40,000 (2019:
approximately HK$38,000) and approximately HK$195,000 (2019:
approximately HK$195,000) respectively. The maximum amounts
outstanding for amounts due from Mr. Zhang and Mr. Tse during
the year were approximately HK$40,000 (2019: approximately
HK$38,000) and approximately HK$195,000 (2019: approximately
HK$195,000) respectively; and the amount due to Mr. Zhang
was approximately HK$13,108,000 (2019: approximately
HK$13,108,000).

23.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise
Bank balances earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated
in RMB which are located in PRC are subject to PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.
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23.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 23. B4 RE&ZEY(H)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) METHEL ZABHER
activities

Amounts Amounts

dueto due tonon- Amount
related  controlling Other Lease  Convertible due to
companies interests  borrowings liabilities  loan notes  a director Total
Eft
EfHE FER TRR B2
DRAGE  BERE HifE  HEEE  ERRE  E#33E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TR TiEr TEx FiEn THL Thx
Asat 1 January 2019 RZZ-hE
—-A-H 148,742 4,730,508 14,101 36,595 636,653 14,508 5,581,107
Impact on initial application of BRERBANBRE
HKFRS 16 ERE16H 22 & = - 40,198 - - 40,198
Changes from financing REREMEL
cash flows g 13388 (7200 21581 (63529 (100,159 (1400 (177,320)
Exchange realignment B iR (2,554) (96,660) - 459) = = (99,667)
Interest expense recognised BRRTIERZ 5 353,232 = 8,961 119,196 = 481,389
Change in fair value of THRREHRE
derivative component of ITETESS
convertible loan notes ZATEE . 5 = = (22,843) = (22,843)
Disposal of subsidiaries LEMBAR o 2 (12,480) 3 = = (12,480)
Other non-cash movements LR LESEE ) = 3,801 = (2,738) = = 1,063
As at 31 December 2019 and RZE-hE
asat 1 January 2020 +-A=+-8k
“Z-F%-f-H 159,576 4,933,674 23,202 29,034 632,853 13,108 5,791,447
Changes from financing cash flows  BIER 722 # (39,271) = = (23,180) (11,380) = (73,831)
Exchange realignment ERA% 5,586 288,155 = 2,442 = = 296,183
Interest expense recognised BERFSHY = 350,722 = 2,916 71,754 - 431,392
Gain on extinguishment of RETAREFZEL
convertible loan notes W - - - - (2,126) - (2,126)
Change in fair value of derivative ~ TRREFEEITATA
component of convertible loan A2 LT EES
notes - - - - 217,870 - 27,870
Transfer to other borrowings ERZHMEE = = 312,000 = (312,000) - -
Other non-cash movements HEiRe% = = (21,581) 48,138 (102,912) = (76,355)
As at 31 December 2020 .
+-A=1+-H 125,891 5,572,551 313,621 59,350 310,059 13,108 6,394,580
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23.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 23. B¢ RBELZEY (H)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESR LA
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHEIT
Within operating cash flows KERSREN 7,033 6,644
Within financing cash flows BMERESMENA 23,180 53,529
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRSRLA%E 30,213 60,173
24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. E 5 R HMEMFKRIE
2020 2019
= —TNEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHEIT
Trade payables 2 SR RIA 1,798 1,796
Other payables (current portion): E At E A (BHAEE ) ¢
— Contract liabilities —aHBeE 10,701 51,204
— Accrued staff costs —EFFEIRAR 13,615 39,117
— Other taxes payable —H A TR 11,882 4,759
- Considerations for acquisition of — R B AR 2R E
subsidiaries 301,087 190,302
— Payables for construction works and —RETE R AKS
purchase of machineries e FIA 44,736 151,003
— Accrued expenses and other payables — — [T 8 A Kk H b B A 241,817 176,628
623,838 613,013
Other payables (non-current portion): E 5 IE GERNERES ) -
- Considerations for acquisition of —WEHE AR ZRE
subsidiaries 7,055 84,742
- Payables for construction works and —BEIELEEHS
purchase of machineries FERTFRIE 215,821 206,906
- Accrued expenses and other payables ~— — &5t 5z 2 H A &~ 508 199,236 216,830
422,112 508,478
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$21,684,000.

Contract liabilities represented advance payments received from
customers for sales of coal products to the respective sales
contracts before the control of the products are passed to the
customers.

As at 31 December 2020, certain creditors of the Group had
confirmed that they shall not demand settlement of the amounts
due by the Group of approximately HK$422,112,000 (2019:
approximately HK$508,478,000) before 1 July 2022, and the
respective amounts are classified as non-current liabilities as at 31
December 2020 and 2019.

The aging analysis of the trade payables based on the invoiced
dates at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

24. B 5 & H A FE 4 7R ()

R-ZF-NF—A—H aHREH
21,684,000/ 7T °

BHEEERERENREREREP
Al RIBRHES QML HEERIKEM
A& P Y ER B TR 5RIR o

R—E-_TFE+_/F=+—8 K&EE
ETERADER  FETER_T=
—Ft+tA—BREREEARAEBLE D
FRIBAI422,112,0008 (= F—LF
47508,478,0007%87T) © mA BERER =
EEFR_E-NF+ZA=+—H
DERIERDERE -

RBEMR  KREZAHRAEZES
PR RIARRE DT

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Within 30 days 30K A - -
31 days to 60 days 31 REB0K - -
61 days to 90 days 61 RXE9I0K - -
91 days to 180 days 91 RE180K = 16
181 days to 365 days 181 X2 365K - -
Over 365 days HBiE365K 1,798 1,780
1,798 1,796

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days (2019:
90 days). The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2020, the amounts due to non-controlling
interests classified as current liabilities amounting to approximately
HK$5,572,551,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,128,128,000) of
which approximately HK$4,171,645,000 (2019: approximately
HK$140,946,000) are unsecured, interest bearing at fixed
rates ranging from 5.50% to 7.50% (2019: 5.50% to 12.05%)
per annum, while the remaining portion of approximately
HK$1,400,906,000 (2019: approximately HK$987,182,000) are
unsecured, interest-free, and all these amounts are repayable
within twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The
amounts were entrusted loans provided by non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary through banks.

As at 31 December 2019, the amounts due to non-controlling
interests classified as non-current liabilities amounting to
approximately HK$3,805,546,000 are unsecured, interest bearing
at fixed rates ranging from 5.50% to 12.05% per annum and
repayable after one year. The amounts were entrusted loans
provided by non-controlling interests of a subsidiary through
banks.

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

2013 Convertible Loan Notes

On 7 June 2013, the Company issued convertible loan notes
to the shareholders of City Bloom Limited (“City Bloom”), a
company incorporated in BVI, with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$3,548,271,713 (the “2013 Convertible Loan Notes”) with
coupon rate equal to the rate of dividend per share from time to
time declared and paid by the Company to the shareholders as if
the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes have been converted in full into
shares at the same time when the relevant dividend is payable to
the shareholder, in respect of the acquisition of entire interests
in Lexing Holdings Limited. The 2013 Convertible Loan Notes
had a maturity date of 6 June 2018 and can be converted up
to an aggregate of 20,872,186,547 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each at HK$0.17 per share. The notes were denominated in HK$
and entitled the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of
the Company at any time during the period commencing from
immediately after the date of issue of the 2013 Convertible Loan
Notes up to the maturity date. The effective interest rate of the
liability component is 9.78% per annum.

25. FEfY FF IR EHR IR

NZE-_FEE+-_A=+—8 " H
HARBBEBE CENEEREZR
JH#5,572,551,0008 L (Z 2 — A
£ #491,128,128,00067T) © H A4
4,171,645,0008 T (ZF— NG : 4
140,946,000/870) BEEIF - £5.50%
ZE750%MBEEFFEGFE(ZZTE—N
F 550%212.05%) @ MEHBEDH
1,400,906,0008 L (ZZE—NF : 4
987,182,000/ 0) AMEEA « TETE - A
BZEFEYARBREHRET Z[EA
WNERE - 2S5 HA—HNB AR 2 IEE
R ERIRITIRH 2 TFEER -

R-ZE—hhE+-_A=+—H DA
FERBEBEENIEZERERKIAL
3,805,546,000/% 7T A EIIF « 1£5.50%
Z12.05%MEEFMEGFERER—F
#%ER ZEeBABEWBRARZIE
TRERBEBRRITIRECEZTAER °

AEEBEERR

—E-=HFRRERE
R-ZZ—Z=ZFAtR  AQAHKE
SR BFRAR 2 EPERBEITAS
#EE3,548,271,713B T 2 AT IR E X
ZR(ZE—=FBBRERZE]D T
WEARAR([HE]  —HREBE
THEAMKIZ AR ZKRE 2@
BEREENARATERREEIR LR
Nz ERBEE BT —=Frk
=G e=E AN AR E RPN
ERHEBARD - —T—=Fa %
EFZER AR AT N\FENAN
B AREBR0I17TETAEARSZ A K
20,872,186,547 xS EE0.01E T2
TR o ZEZEIABTIHE BT
EABFNNBE T —=ZFaBIRER
ERBTHEAEIPASE  BRBEE
BRBAEARREAERK BEHXHE
BREFIEBI.78% °
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26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. TR EREE (&)

2013 Convertible Loan Notes (continued)

The Company may redeem in whole or part of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes at 100% of the outstanding principal
amount together with declared but unpaid dividend of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes (the “Redemption Amount”) at any time
after six months of the date of issue of the 2013 Convertible
Loan Notes and before the maturity date with prior notice to the
shareholders of City Bloom.

The shareholders of City Bloom may at any time after one year of
the date of issue of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes and before
the maturity date with prior notice to request the Company to
redeem whole or part of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes at
Redemption Amount.

All the remaining principal of the outstanding 2013 Convertible
Loan Notes, with the maturity date of 6 June 2018, were held by
China OEPC, Ms. Hao Ting (the spouse of Mr. Zhang) (“Ms. Hao”),
and two independent third parties (collectively the “Holders”). The
remaining principal of the expired 2013 Convertible Loan Notes
of HK$409,101,000 was classified as “other borrowings” under
current liabilities upon the maturity, whereas HK$380,000,000
payable to Mr. Zhang and HK$15,000,000 payable to Ms. Hao
were offset against the issuance of convertible loan notes on 30
July 2018 (2018 Convertible Loan Notes A and 2018 Convertible
Loan Notes B respectively).

2017 Convertible Loan Notes

On 10 July 2017, the Company issued 2017 Convertible Loan
Notes which will be matured on the third anniversary of the issue
date (the “Initial Maturity Date”) with an aggregate principal amount
of US$50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$391,436,000)
and with coupon rate of 6.5% per annum, settled semi-annually.
The 2017 Convertible Loan Notes can be convertible into up to
an aggregate of 11,926,605,505 ordinary shares at a conversion
price of HK$0.0327 per share. The notes were denominated in
US$ and entitled the holders to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company on the Initial Maturity Date. At any time following
the first anniversary of the issue date, the Company may, if it gives
the relevant noteholder written notice not less than thirty days prior
to the proposed redemption date and obtains such noteholder’s
consent with seven business days after the day of such written
notice, redeem the whole or any part (in multiple of US$1,000,000)
of the principal amount of the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes held
by such noteholder on the early redemption date. The effective
interest rate of the liability component is 25.15% per annum.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

2017 Convertible Loan Notes (continued)

On 28 August 2017, the conversion price of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes was adjusted from HK$0.0327 per share to HK$0.327
per share pursuant to share consolidation. After adjustment, the
2017 Convertible Loan Notes can be convertible into up to an
aggregate of 1,192,660,550 ordinary shares.

On 9 January 2019, the conversion price of the 2017 Convertible
Loan Notes was adjusted from HK$0.327 per share to HK$0.26
per share pursuant to certain adjustment terms and conditions of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes as a result of the placing of the
Company’s shares on the same date.

On 9 January 2019 and 10 July 2019, the Company settled an
aggregate amount of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$78,000,000) to the noteholder.

As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding principal of the
2017 Convertible Loan Notes was US$40,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$312,000,000) (2019: US$40,000,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$312,000,000). The outstanding
2017 Convertible Loan Notes was matured and remained
unsettled at the end of the reporting period and classified as
“other borrowings”. The Group is in the negotiation with the holder
of 2017 Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment
timetable of the Company’s financial obligations.

26. TR ERFE (F)
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26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. TR EREE (&)

2018 Convertible Loan Notes A/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes A

On 30 July 2018, the Company issued convertible loan notes to
China OEPC which will be matured on the second anniversary
of the issue date with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$380,000,000 (“2018 Convertible Loan Notes A”) and with
coupon rate of 1.5% per annum, settled quarterly in arrears or
such other date as noteholder and the Company may agree in
writing. The 2018 Convertible Loan Notes A can be convertible
into up to an aggregate of 1,151,5615,151 ordinary shares
at a conversion price of HK$0.33 per share. The notes were
denominated in HK$ and entitled the holder to convert them into
ordinary shares of the Company on the second anniversary of the
issue date. The Company may at any time before the maturity
date by written notices to the holder, and with consent of the
holder, redeem the 2018 Convertible Loan Note A (in whole or
in part) at 100% of the principal amount of the part of the 2018
Convertible Loan Notes A to be redeemed together with accrued
and unpaid interest. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 13.12% per annum. As at 31 December 2020 and
2019, the remaining principal of the 2018 Convertible Loan Notes
A was HK$380,000,000.

On 22 July 2020, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreement with China OEPC to issue the convertible
notes (“2020 Convertible Loan Notes A”) with principal amount of
HK$380,000,000 to settle the outstanding principal of the 2018
Convertible Loan Notes A.

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and will be matured on the second anniversary of the
issue date. The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A entitle the holder
to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time
between the date of issue of the notes and the maturity date at
an initial conversion price of HK$0.22 (subject to adjustment,
if necessary). If 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A have not been
converted or redeemed, they will be redeemed on 20 October
2022 at par. The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A was issued on
21 October 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

2018 Convertible Loan Notes A/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes A (continued)

At initial recognition, the equity component of 2020 Convertible
Loan Notes A was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible loan
notes equity reserve”. The early redemption option is considered
as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest rate of
the liability component is 14.4%.

As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding principal was
HK$380,000,000.

2018 Convertible Loan Notes B/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes B

On 30 July 2018, the Company issued convertible loan notes to
Ms. Hao which will be matured on the second anniversary of the
issue date with an aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000
(2018 Convertible Loan Notes B”) and with coupon rate at 1.5%
per annum, settled quarterly in arrears or such other date as
noteholder and the Company may agree in writing. The 2018
Convertible Loan Notes B can be convertible into up to an
aggregate of 45,454,545 ordinary shares at a conversion price
of HK$0.33 per share. The notes were denominated in HK$
and entitled the holder to convert them into ordinary shares of
the Company on the second anniversary of the issue date. The
Company may at any time before the maturity date by written
notices to the holder, and with consent of the holder, redeem the
2018 Convertible Loan Note B (in whole or in part) at 100% of the
principal amount of the part of the 2018 Convertible Loan Notes
B to be redeemed together with accrued and unpaid interest.
The effective interest rate of the liability component is 13.12% per
annum. As at 31 December 2019, the remaining principal of 2018
Convertible Loan Notes B was HK$15,000,000.
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26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. TR EREE (&)

2018 Convertible Loan Notes B/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes B (continued)

On 22 July 2020, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreement with Ms. Hao to issue the convertible
notes (“2020 Convertible Loan Notes B”) with principal amount
of HK$15,000,000 to settle the outstanding principal of the 2018
Convertible Loan Notes B.

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and will be matured on the second anniversary of the
issue date. The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B entitle the holder
to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time
between the date of issue of the notes and the maturity date at
an initial conversion price of HK$0.22 (subject to adjustment,
if necessary). If 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B have not been
converted or redeemed, they will be redeemed on 20 October
2022 at par. The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B was issued on
21 October 2020.

At initial recognition, the equity component of 2020 Convertible
Loan Notes B was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible loan
notes equity reserve”. The early redemption option is considered
as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest rate of
the liability component is 14.4%.

As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding principal was
HK$15,000,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. A AR EREE (B
The movements of the liabilities and derivative components of the MR EREEEERTETARS 2
convertible loan notes are set out below: SHEHNMT :
2017 2018 2018 2020 2020
Convertible ~ Convertible ~ Convertible ~ Convertible ~ Convertible
LoanNotes  LoanNotesA  LoanNotesB  LoanNotesA  Loan Notes B Total
A% BE Mg BE

R-tE RN ZR-\F ZRCRE CERCRE

TR TR TR TR TR
LEE EREE EREE EREE LEE it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

Liabilities component 8&Hs
Asat 1 January 2019 R-B-N\%-A-H 310,527 318,577 12,575 = - 641,679
Effective interest expenses (Note @)~ ZRFI B8R % (B39) 73,053 44391 1,752 = = 119,19
Interest paid during the year EREHTHIE (22,159) = S = = (22,159)
Repayment of principal portion AEBAERN (78,000) = = = = (78,000)
As at 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+ZA=t-H
asat 1 January 2020 RZZ-EF-f-H 283,427 362,968 14,327 - - 660,722
Issue of convertile loan notes HITARENEE = = = 290,352 11,461 301,813
Effective interest expenses (Note ) EPEA| 853 (Ff3£9) 39,953 2843 1123 7933 313 71754
Interest paid during the year EREHTIE (11,380) = = = = (11,380)
Transfer to other borrowings ERTHMRE (312,000) = = = = (312,000
Redemption of convertile loan notes BRI TAREFHZ = (391,400) (15,450) = = (406,850)
As at 31 December 2020 RZB-ZF+-A=1-A = = = 298,285 1,774 310,059
Represented by: R
As at 31 December 2020 RZE-BE+-A=+-H
Current liabilties I = = = = = =
Non-current fiabilties FrBaE o - - 298,285 1,774 310,059
- - - 285 14 310059
As at 31 December 2019 RZ2-NETZA=T-A
Current liabilfies REAE 283,427 362,968 14,327 = = 660,722
Non-current liabiities EnBaGE - - - - = =
4T 36298 14327 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. A2 IR &5 =N = 4 (48)

2017 2018 2018
Convertible ~ Convertible  Convertible
Loan Notes Loan Notes A Loan Notes B Total
AE BE
“E-tf “E-N\E “E-N\f
B3 R CIE:
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAR TAT
Derivative component FTEIEHS
As at 1 January 2019 RZB-NE—A—H (7,356) 9 2,321 (5,026)
Amortisation of deferred day NEEREETE B Ka
one gain in profit or loss - - (1,471) (1,471)
Repayment of principal portion AEHHER 6,918 = = 6,918
Change in fair value of BARITAETARTEE
embedded derivative (28,281) 9 - (28,290)
(21,363) ©)] (1,471) (22,843)
As at 31 December 2019 and RZB-NE+=A=1+—A
as at 1 January 2020 k=F-TF-H—H (28,719) - 850 (27,869)
Amortisation of deferred day REGBHETE Ak
one gain in profit or loss % & (850) (850)
Change in fair value of BASTETAATEE
embedded derivative 28,719 - - 28,719
28,719 - (850) 27,869
As at 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZF+-A=+-H - - - -
Represented by: e
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-NE+ZA=1+—A
Current assets TEEE (28,719) = = (28,719)
Current liabilities nHEE - 3 850 850
(28,719) X 850 (27,869)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

The derivative component of 2017 Convertible Loan Notes
which represented the conversion option of the holder and the
redemption option of the Company, was valued on 31 December
2019 based on the valuations performed by Greater China
Appraisal Limited (“Greater China”), using Black-Scholes model
with trinomial tree model. The significant inputs to the models
were as follows:

26. R ERERE (&)

T LFABERERERZTAETA
BB BEAZRABBRARBZEE
B BERZE-NEFTA=T—81&K
RREETFEERQR(DEE] R AME
7 - HEBATE e EER R = E A AR
EEAETZHERE - ZEHAZE
REABLT :

31 December

2019

—E-h%F

+=—BA=+—8

Spot price (HK$) BEEGET) 0.0270

Risk-free rate 12 3 fg 1 =

- without extension - TEER 1.9575%

- with extension - EER 1.6648%
Expected option period (year) TE HA B 42 HABR (4F)

- without extension - TNEER 0.52

- with extension - EiEK 2.52

Expected volatility TEHRR 1R 42.2093%

The derivative component of 2018 Convertible Loan Notes A
and B represented the conversion option of the holders and the
redemption option of the Company, was valued on 31 December
2019 based on the valuations performed by Greater China, using
Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree model. The significant
inputs to the models were as follows:

ANEMBE T N\FABEBRERERE
ZUTETEHDEREAZLBERR
NRAIZERE BER_ZE—NLF+=A
=+ —BEBEEFRAMKR - HRAT
T EEA R =BT ERET
ZIHEBE - ZEEA 2 EREAEDN
T

31 December

2019

—Z-hF

+=B=+—H

Spot price (HK$) WERCGET) 0.0270
Risk-free rate 42 8, i 1) = 1.9297%
Expected option period (year) T8 B R BARR () 0.58
Expected volatility TEHAR 18 37.5800%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)
The loss on change in fair value of embedded derivatives of the
convertible loan notes for the year ended 31 December 2020
of approximately HK$28,720,000 (2019: gain of approximately
HK$28,290,000) and amortisation of deferred day one gain of
approximately HK$850,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,471,000)
were recognised as “Change in fair value of derivative component
of convertible loan notes” in the consolidated statement of profit

26. AR EREE (B
HE_T-TF+-_A=1+—HILHF
E - AImBREREBERARNITEIAR
FEEE) 2 E1E 428,720,000 T (=
T— N ¢ JRE5£728,290,00078 7T) K #
SR FE & B W25 49850,000/8 (=& —
NE  #91,471,00058 ) RNiE A B R
BRAEIATMREREBEITETAILD 2

or loss. NEEEZS] -
27.SHARE CAPITAL 27. R
Number of shares Share capital
RAEAE R
2020 2019 2020 2019
s i 23 —2-hE - S 33 —Z-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.2 EERER0.2ET
(2019: HK$0.01) each (Z2-H%F :0.01%T)
Authorised: AT
As at 1 January »—HA—H 200,000,000,000  200,000,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Share consolidation (Note ¢) S R=Xcadl I 30) (190,000,000,000) = - =
As at 31 December ®+=A=1+-H 10,000,000,000  200,000,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR -
As at 1 January ®—H—H 8,773,232,014 7,311,032,014 87,732 73,110
Issue of shares upon: BT EHEETR? -
Subscription of new shares (Note b)  REHIRID (HfzEb) 1,751,976,070 = 17,520 =
Placing of new shares [t
(Note a) (hiita) - 1,462,200,000 = 14,622
Share consolidation (Note ¢) Bt &6t (hitc) (9,998,947,680) = = =
As at 31 December ®»+-A=+—H 526,260,404 8,773,232,014 105,252 87,7132

Notes:

a. On 14 December 2018, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent for placing a maximum of
1,462,200,000 ordinary shares (the “Placing Shares”) of the Company
at a placing price of HK$0.04 per shares. On 9 January 2019,
1,462,200,000 Placing Shares were placed by certain independent
third parties at a subscription price of HK$0.04 per share. The net
proceeds of approximately HK$58,170,000 will be intended to apply
towards repayment of indebtedness of the Group, for business
development in Cambodia and general working capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

27.SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

b.

On 22 April 2020, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreements which each of the subscribers subscribe
an aggregate of 1,751,976,070 new ordinary shares at a price
ranging from HK$0.019 to HK$0.0212 per share. On 13 May
2020, 1,751,976,070 shares were completed to subscribe by
certain independent third parties at a subscription price ranging
from HK$0.019 to HK$0.0212 per share. The net proceeds of
approximately HK$36,094,000 will be intended to apply towards
repayment of indebtedness, set off outstanding indebtedness owned
by the Company to certain subscribers and general working capital.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by shareholders at
the special general meeting held on 5 August 2020, the share
consolidation of every twenty issued and unissued shares of HK$0.01
each into one consolidated share of HK$0.2 each became effective
on 7 August 2020.

28.PROVISION FOR RESTORATION,

27. R (48)
iz - ()

b.

R-ZE-ZFEMA=-+=H ' XAF:]
VEGHRERZ  SRBAENTE
B%0.0198 70 20.02128 T 2 BIZRES
#1,751,976,0700 31 L@k - R=ZF =
TERAF+=H ' 1,751,976,0700% A% 1D
EETEIYE=FRE REENTE
f%0.01978 T £0.0212/8 7T ° TS FIE %
RE#136,094,000/8 o AR EEER
BHEARBSERETREAZKEER
Bh—MEBEES -

BERER-_Z-_TENARBEETZ
BREFNASG BBz ERIER K
MAMER-ZE-_TFNALBLER
Bt $E-+REREMEC.O1B T
BRETRABTROAHAE—BRERE
B0.2B T2 A B -

28. 18 - BERRERAEE

REHABILITATION AND
ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS
HK$’'000
FAT
As at 1 January 2019 RZE—hFE—H—H 74,279
Imputed interest expense (Note 9) HE R SR (Hi79) 3,123
Exchange realignment i 5, A% (1,488)
As at 31 December 2019 and as at NZE-—NEF+A=+—8kK
1 January 2020 —E=-FTF—H—H 75,914
Imputed interest expense (Note 9) HE R B (HaF9) 2,892
Exchange realignment ME 5, e B 4,608
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZE_ZEF+_A=+—H 83,414

The restoration and rehabilitation works will be performed in the
years from 2022 to 2040. The provision is carried at amortised
cost at effective interest rate at 6.96% per annum.

MEREEZTIERIR _FT__F=5
“ENTET c BEIRERFMNE
6.96%TH 2 # S AT iR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

29 EERIRE E

The following is the movements of deferred tax liabilities during the
current and prior year:

REERBATFEZEENBEES
mE

Mining rights

R

HK$’'000

TET

As at 1 January 2019 RZE—hFE—H—H 1,304,801
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) BiEmAR®Z11) (163,000)
Exchange realignment b 5 S B (17,953)

As at 31 December 2019 and as at 1 January 2020 RZE-—NF+ZA=1+—HK

—Z-ZTF-H—H 1,123,848
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) BREHARKZ11) (202,605)
Exchange realignment ERSH*& 54,634
As at 31 December 2020 —E-FF+-A=+—H 975,877

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, movement
in deferred tax liabilities mainly comprised of the impairment loss
or reversal of impairment loss on mining rights of the Group.

At the 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$53,415,000 (2019: approximately
HK$87,075,000) that will be expired on or before 2025 (2019:
2024). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Under the New EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from
1 January 2008 onwards (the “Post-2008 Earnings”). As at 31
December 2020, deferred taxation has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
difference of approximately HK$382,355,000 (2019: approximately
HK$383,378,000) attributable to the “Post-2008 Earnings” as the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

As at 31 December 2020, for the purpose of impairment
assessments on mining rights and property, plant and equipment
in relation to mining operation, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s mining operations were allocated into five CGUs namely
IWAKERKEHER S RAEKXEEBR A A (Shanxi Coal
Transportation and Marketing Group Gujiao Bolong Coal Industry
Company Limited*) (“Bolong”), HLIF8 5 78 $1 &8 B & 2B IR 3%
BBR AT (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing Group
Guijiao Liaoyuan Coal Industry Company Limited*) (“Liaoyuan”), 1L
FHEREHEESREBEZEABR QA (Shanxi Coal
Transportation and Marketing Group Gujiao Xinfeng Coal Industry
Company Limited*) (“Xinfeng”), L PEE B HEE S R EE M3
BR A7 (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing Group
Gujiao Fuchang Coal Industry Company Limited*) (“Fuchang”) and
WK KEHSEEG R L EEEFR QT (Shanxi Coal
Transportation and Marketing Group Gujiao Century Jinxin
Company Limited®) (“Jinxin”), which represented five subsidiaries
in the mining operation segment to determine their recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group kept negotiations with the
Shanxi government (LU FEEXfF) on the Group’s restructuring plans
(“Committed Restructuring Plan”). The Committed Plan consists
of: (a) Xinfeng, which was confirmed to mandatorily suspend all
operations and constructions in 2018, will close down whereas
its coal reserves shall be transferred to Bolong, and Bolong shall
apply for a new mining license to cover the coal reserves of Bolong
and Xinfeng while the annual mining capacity of Bolong maintained
at 1,200,000 tonnes per year; and (b) Jinxin will change its
company name and apply for a new mining license to change its
mining capacity from 450,000 tonnes per year to 600,000 tonnes
per year. Subsequent in 2020, the Shanxi government approved
the Committed Restructuring Plan. Therefore, as at 31 December
2019, for the purpose of impairment testing on mining rights and
property, plant and equipment in relation to mining operation,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s mining operations were
allocated to four CGUs namely Bolong, Liaoyuan, Fuchang and
Jinxin.

In 2019, the Group engaged independent third parties to process
coal-washing works, and started to sell clean coal rather than
raw coal since September 2019. Due to the drop in selling price
of clean coal since September 2019 and postponement of
production schedules of certain coal mines, impairment indications
existed for certain coal mines as at 31 December 2019.

30. RIBEUARME - BER

FERE
NRZZEZFTF+-HA=+—H ' pLHEK
BEBBEIRBENEDE BEKX
REBEEME  AEEREEL 2
EEABEIREEAERSELSM - A
LA KEBHEERERBEEEESRA
A([4A%ED) « LB R E S B d RE
RREEBRAR(TER] - IWAKKE
HEBEOTREBEHEEERAR (S
) LR REHER G R EE K E
ERAR(EBEDRLAKKEHER
aRtLEEEERAR(EE] KK
ERESHB2ABEMBAGR  UEBTE
HATWE &5 -

R-Z—-hAhFE+-A=+—8 x&E
BERAEB cEHEFE([ERFER
&) B LFBUSER - EARBAEE
15 (a) BE(EBERR-_ZE—NFAHES
TEALEERER B MEE
REFEEREREINE  HESBRBH
R ERRERF ] B LUR ESHRE R B IR AR ik
2 MIAENFRERNRBESSF
1,200,000 : ()& BB ERE R AIE
T WERBHRETAE  BERERS
7188 B 450,000 5 24 & & 5 600,000
W - EBEN T -TF - |IAWFI A
EAGEEMAE - Al - RZFE—NF
+ZA=+—8 " AHETHREXKAR
B RBEARYE  BEREEZR
BAR  AEERBEXK2EERARE
ENREMNE - BER EEXESENE
MEEFBEN -

R-FE—NF AEEBZBBEIE=)
BITERTIR BT —hFNLAEHA
RIHERRK - MIERE - BRNBREE
B-Z-NFAARE THREETHRE
MAEERERER  BTRER_-_F—
NFF+_A=+—HEHERETR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & — T -_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND 30. IRIERELAR % - BER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the five (2019: four) CGUs in the
mining operations were determined from value-in-use calculation.
Their recoverable amounts are based on certain similar key
assumptions. The management of the Group prepared cash flow
forecast derived from the most recently available financial budgets
approved by management and cash flows beyond 5-year period
were extrapolated using 3% (2019: 3%) growth rate which does
not exceed the long-term growth rate, assuming the extension
of mining licenses is available and administrative in nature. In
preparing the forecast, management made reference to the
latest verified levels of mineral reserves presently verified and the
production cost projection and the future production capacity
according to the technical report issued by John T. Boyd (“JT
Boyd”) dated as of 28 February 2017.

Impairment testing of mining rights, property,

plant and equipment in relation to mining operation
The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation are those
regarding discount rates, anticipated changes to future selling
prices, future production costs, future recovery rates regarding
coal washing process, and anticipated production capacity, as
follows:

— Management used a pre-tax discount rate which was derived
from the Company’s cost of capital, representing the expected
return on the Company’s capital, and assigned the following
pre-tax discount rates to each mine approximately at:

Bolong Eisk:d
Fuchang =
Jinxin &8
Liaoyuan R
Xinfeng Bl

RAERE (&)

REXBReELEVPARCE—

i-WNZT%@@@&E%F@ﬁE
EETE - HAalWE 5B LREE TEMU
FTERIETE - AEEERERRIIY
REBABHEZMBRERHEATR
EBA - BRAAFHRCRESRERIR
B%(ZT—NF : 3% HRE(WEBB
RARRE)EE  ShBRREBETA
BAEMHAERBEITHMEE - BERASR
2ZHBT.EEAR(ITEEDEL Z
BEA—Z—tF_A-+/\BHZEM
HERMBEBRBE 2 KR EBYHE
IR~ A EARANTEOR ROR R EE R AR L TR

Al e

e ] A 1 I E

B 5 & 5 AR (B R =
EREEFEEAMAZERZR/RRS L
BE - RARREEEHELE - RREEK
KRR BEEARKE KRR R EHE
B FEIBAT

- EEREABRABAIRRBRREADE
BARKA(MARREAR ZFAHE
) RIS ERE 2 EROTA
MR ERETE

2020 2019
—EC-EE —ET-hEF
% %

17 1.7

20 20

19 19

18 19

14 N/A NjiE A

—  Future recovery rates regarding coal washing process from
raw coal to clean coal were estimated with reference to
historical data.

= Future selling prices were estimated with reference to existing
and past quoted commodity prices in the mining industry.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND 30. RBERELUERYE - BER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT R R E ()

(CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights, property, HRBEER BRI RKERE - WE -

plant and equipment in relation to mining operation & 55 1% 5% 48 R (BRI = (48)

(continued)

- Future production costs were derived in accordance with - RREERANTIRBITHEEL
feasibility reports issued by JT Boyd with reference to the AT RETRERRE 2 &VEE
mines’ preliminary design report and current industry cost WERBAITEARIERE -
indicators.

- Future production capacity estimation was made in - RREKBEBITEEZLEZ2BHA
accordance with the feasibility report issued by JT Boyd —E—+tF A+ NBZA{TE
dated 28 February 2017. W& bE -

As extracted from Greater China’s valuation reports for the FunEEGHERSE ((HERSEDFAIR

recoverable amounts as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 (the TECEERE-NEF+A=1+—

“Valuation Reports”), the recoverable amounts of the relevant BzrAllkE &% EEREEGERSE

mining operations CGUs are determined as follows: B ZAWRESEETAT

31 December 31 December

2020 2019
—E-_EHF —E-NEF
+=BA=+—8B +=—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Bolong Fisl=id 3,755,719 3,950,173
Liaoyuan ER 1,580,697 1,679,861
Xinfeng s& 274,856 =
Fuchang 128 600,050 679,991
Jinxin 5= 553,064 634,967
The recoverable amounts of the mining operations CGUs in RZZEZTFE+HA=+—H @A
relation to Bolong and Liaoyuan (2019: Bolong, Fuchang and ERERCZE-NTF K- BEED
Jinxin) were lower than their carrying amounts as at 31 December SNREXBReEABMNTIRE S
2020. BENEKRE -
The recoverable amounts of the relevant property, plant and NR_ZB_ZF+_A=+—8  KRES
machinery under mining operation other than Fuchang and Fes(ZT—NF BRI - REE
Jinxin (2019: other than Liaoyuan) were lower than their carrying BIETHEEYE  BEE#EE K E
amounts as at 31 December 2020. SRRERNERMEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND 30. FRIERE AR W3 - BB =R

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights, property,

plant and equipment in relation to mining operation
(continued)

The Directors were of the opinion that, based on the Valuation
Reports, impairment loss for the relevant mining operations CGUs
were recognised and were allocated to the assets of the relevant
mining operations CGUs, except for goodwill, pro rata with their
carrying amounts.

The impairment losses made in 2020 were attributable to
construction delay or suspension of the Group’s coal mines
under construction affected by the outbreak of COVID-19 and
the implementation of policies on dissolving excessive capacity
of coal. The impairment losses made in 2019 were attributable to
the net impact of () the drop of selling price of clean coal since
September 2019: (i) the Committed Restructuring Plans; and (jii)
the commencement of selling clean coal in 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)
Impairment testing of mining rights, property,
plant and equipment in relation to mining operation
(continued)
The following table shows the reversal of impairment/(impairment
loss recognised) on property, plant and equipment and mining

30. RIBEUARME - BER

R AERE (&)

BRI E SR R - W -
T 55 % 5% i (B R 2, ()

TRBATNERRBEGREELE UL
M~ BB MR A MR TR 2 RE R

rights of the relevant mining operations CGUs: B/ (ERERRERIE) :
Property, plant and equipment Mining rights Total
nE - BERRE Rk @t

Reversal of impairment loss/
(impairment loss recognised)

Reversal of impairment loss/
(impairment loss recognised)

Reversal of impairment loss/
(impairment loss recognised)

REGRRE/ CRINESR HEFERED/ CRINESR RHEFRRD/ CRIAESS

For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended

BEUTHELEE BEATRELEE BEUTHELEE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIER —Z-NEF b 23 —T-NEF ZBIER —Z-NF
+=ZA=+-A TZA=+—HB t=ZA=+-B +ZA=+—H +=ZA=t—-H tZA=+-H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THER THET TER THIL THERT FAET
Bolong s (104,813) (32,997) (428,959) (197,344) (533,772) (230,341)
Liaoyuan ER (12,966) 33,150 (28,427) 71,583 (41,393) 104,733
Xinfeng Blg (26,993) - 260,254 - 233,261 -
Fuchang "Ee 2,023 (84,772) 1,911 (90,683) 3,934 (175,455)
Jinxin & 21,787 (75,483) 24,954 (119,805) 46,741 (195,288)
Total @t (120,962) (160,102) (170,267) (336,249) (291,229) (496,351)
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31.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Disposal of Technology Venture Investments Limited

On 16 October 2020, the Company completed to dispose the
entire equity interest in Technology Venture Investments Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its subsidiaries
(the “Disposal Group”) to an independent third party with total
consideration of US$1 (equivalent to approximately HK$7.8). The
net liabilities of the Disposal Group at the date of disposal were as

3. HEHBE LT
BE-—FT-_FTF+-A=+—HL
FE
1 ETechnology Venture Investments
Limited
RZZEZZTF+A+T/H ' AAFTK
& H 2 & /B A Bl Technology Venture
Investments Limited & EKiE QAR ([HE
SEDEHRET —RBEBLF=7 B
RERIEZTHEERN7.8ET) - HE
SEREERHcABEFENOT

follows:
Consideration of the disposal: HERE : HK$
BT
Cash received BUE ¢ 8
HK$’000
FHBxT
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which Kk EZEZ4ICEEREBIT :
control was lost:
Other payable and accruals o 5RIE K JEETRIE (334)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEREFHE (334)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMB ATz W :
Consideration received BURE -
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAEFE 334
Gain on disposal gz W 334
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A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

31.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

A. Disposal of Cosmo Soar Limited and its subsidiary

(together the “Cosmo Soar Group”)

On 10 July 2019, Oceanic Zone Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company completed to dispose (i) the
entire equity interest in the Cosmo Soar Group; and (ii) the
debts owing by the Cosmo Soar Group to Oceanic Zone
Limited, for a consideration of US$7,400,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$57,720,000) to an independent third party
(the “Purchaser A”). The Purchaser A was one of the holder of
2013 Convertible Loan Notes which were matured on 6 June
2018 and not convertible into ordinary shares of the Company
thereafter, and the amounts owed to Purchaser A by the
Group were classified as “other borrowings”. Therefore, the
consideration of approximately HK$57,720,000 was partially
satisfied by setting off against with the other borrowings
account with Purchaser A amounted to approximately
HK$7,020,000 and by cash of approximately HK$50,700,000.
The net liabilities of the Cosmo Soar Group at the date of
disposal were as follows:

31. HEME A 7 (&)
BE-F-hEF+=-A=+—HL
FE
A. MHiECosmo Soar Limited % E /B

2 5] (##[Cosmo Soar%[E /)

R-—ZF—FtA+H Oceanic
Zone Limited(R 2 5] — M2 &K B
AaE)) ek H () Cosmo SoarteE
7 & EBR% 4 © K (i) Cosmo Soartk
B 45 /x Oceanic Zone Limitedfyf&
BF—2BUE=HUTEHAD -
KRB AE7,400,000E 7T (HEE RN D
57,720,00087T) - B AR _E—
—FBRBRERERIZBEAZ—
ZEZEINHEAE T N\FEN
AXNAB EBTALBAEARR T
TER AEBERE HARNKIE
DEAIEMEE] - At REL
57,720,000 7L B35 1B 56 5 5 £ Bl
BHAZ EMbEERRA7,020,000
Btz AR KRIBE #50,700,000/8
TLER - R E HEICosmo Soargk

B BEFEOT -
On the
completion
date
H5ERK A 8
HK$'000
FHEIT
Net liabilities disposed of: BREaEFE
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) Y - BB REREM E16) 58,397
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEMFE ~ e REAMEWEIE 35,426
Cash and bank balances B KIRTTE 2,353
Amounts due to group companies RSB R RFIE (61,729
Other payables H b FE T FRIE (39,201)
(4,754)
Assignment of amounts due to group companies 5 % & < £ 2 /A 7] 5018 61,576
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB ARz W= 898
Total consideration BRE 57,720
Satisfied by: HRUTANER
Cash Be 50,700
Offset with other borrowings account with HIHEE B 7 AR Efth (§ B RR K
Purchaser A 7,020
57,720
Analysis of the net inflow of cash and REEMBARICEE R
cash equivalents in respect of disposal REZBMZRNFRBIN -
of subsidiaries:
Cash BHe 50,700
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances B BEHERSRRSEEMER
disposed of (2,353)
Net cash inflow REMANFEE 48,347
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31.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

B. Disposal of (i) Grand Athena Limited and
its subsidiaries (together the “Grand Athena Group”);
and (ij) Polaris Spark Limited and its subsidiary
(together the “Polaris Spark Group”)

On 10 September 2019, the Company completed to dispose
(i) the entire equity interest in the Grand Athena Group
and the Polaris Spark Group; and (i) the debts owing by
the Grand Athena Group and the Polaris Spark Group to
the Group, for an aggregate consideration of US$700,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$5,460,000) to Purchaser A.
The consideration was satisfied by setting off against other
borrowings account with Purchaser A. The net liabilities of the
Grand Athena Group and the Polaris Spark Group at the date
of disposal were as follows:

31. &%WE’A?(#@)
—h&E+ZA=+—H1t
f.EJE(,%E)

B. 4 £(i) Grand Athena Limited
RENE L (%7
[Grand Athenaf%E ) ; &
(ii) Polaris Spark Limited % & /&
4\ 5] (##[ Polaris Spark£ .J)
E"_f NERLATH AR
B H £ () Grand Athena: [ &Polans
Spark& B /)2 5B ¢ K (i) Grand
Athenaf B| ) Polaris Sparkf B4
REAEENEBTERA REA
700,000 7t (#8E 1 495,460,0007%8
JL) ° fﬂEE}éiﬂﬁﬁﬁéEﬁiEﬁAE’JE
MEERR 2 AAEMN - REER
HiGrand Athena%s & }z Polaris Spark
SEBEFHEAT

On the completion date

R A H
Grand Athena Polaris Spark
Group Group
Grand Athena Polaris Spark Total
- - st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FAET FAT FHET
Net liabilities disposed of: EHERBETFE -
Property, plant and equipment WE - BB REE
(Note 16) (Hfex16) 1,464 4,627 6,091
Prepayment, deposits and TENRIE - Hme Rk
other receivables o W Sk IE 383 5 388
Amount due from a group Bl —REEE AR
company A 26 = 26
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBEIRE 66 9 75
Amounts due to group FERT SR E A RIFKIE
companies (7,908) (4,838) (12,746)
Other payables E h FET FRIE (151) (241) (392)
Lease liabilities HERE (1,206) - (1,206)
Non-controlling interests FEfE IR = 183 211 394
(7,143) 227) (7,370)
Assignment of amounts due to ERENEEANT]
group companies IR 12,622
Exchange translation reserve EERELRERE
realised (13)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBA Rz W 221
Total consideration wRE 5,460
Satisfied by: BRUTANER
Offset with of other borrowings HIEE S JTAR
account with Purchaser A Hi g EIRR 5,460
Analysis of the net outflow of cash ZLHEMBE AR 2
and cash equivalents in respect ~ IRE& NS HEY
of disposal of subsidiaries: RS
Cash Re iy
Less: cash and cash equivalents & : EHERE K
balances disposed of ReZEEY
iR (75)
Net cash outflow REMHF5E (75)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

32. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Other than the balances and transactions with related parties
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has entered into the following transactions with its
related parties for the current and prior years:

2.BHMAERZ
Bk fer & B 765 ¥R 2% LA BB o0 P 45 R B R g
HRZERRRZZIN  REERAFER
BEFEEREBBAOGIIATRS

Relationship Nature of transactions 2020 2019
B% REHE —EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Close family member of Interest expense of the convertible loan note
a director 130 225
EEOH AHMRERREZFBFHX
Shareholder Interest expense of the convertible loan note 3,295 5,700
MR TMRERRE 2 FBAX
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEREKE M2

The remunerations of the key management personnel during the
year were as follows:

FR-TEEEEKRBEZHFHMOT :

2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET

Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances and  ZE#4% » HE& REWEH
benefits in kind 4,311 5,269
Retirement benefit schemes contributions Rk 1& F| 5T 2144 5% 86 80
Share-based payment expense B AAX = 994
4,397 6,343

The remunerations of Directors and other members of key
management were determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

EENHEMTFETEEKRE ZFHMAF
WEZEeRBEARRRTEBEETE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

33. OTHER BORROWINGS

The exposure of the Group’s other borrowings are as follows:

33. Hftfg &
AEBEMERZRBRIT -

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Interest-bearing (Note i) B (KD 312,000 =
Non-interest bearing (Note i) ® 8 (K ati) 1,621 23,202
313,621 23,202
Notei:  As at 31 December 2020, the Group have other borrowings Ktagi: RZZTEZTF+ZA=+—HB &
related to 2017 Convertible Loan Notes which were matured on SEEH_ZT—+FIBRRERRE
10 July 2020 and remain unsettled at the end of the reporting BERANEMES  ZZEEEER
period. The amount is unsecured and interest bearing at coupon T ELATHATE  BR®
rate of 6.5%. The Group is in the negotiation with the holder EHRMARGEE - ZRBAEER
of 2017 Convertible Loan Notes to restructure the repayment RIEEE B E6.5%T 8 - NEEIE
timetable of the Company’s financial obligations. HoT—+FAMREREERS
AER - WERAARRMBETZ
BRREE -
Note ii:  The remaining portion are matured convertible loan notes issued Bidti - BTBHIRRNBERBETZER
in prior periods that remain unsettled at the end of the reporting B REREE - RREBRKRD
period. The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and REEH - ZEHXEAERT - &8
repayable on demand. RBEREREE -
34. COMMITMENTS 34. &I
(a) Capital commitments (a) EAXEE
2020 2019
—B-BHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHT
Contracted but not provided for BERTHB R
in respect of:
- acquisition of property, — Y - B REAE
plant and equipment 454,318 207,362
- acquisition of land use rights in — R RIEZE i
Cambodia & 1 462,915 462,915
917,233 670,277
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34. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Environmental contingencies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has not incurred any
significant expenditure specific for environmental remediation
and, apart from the provision for restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental costs (Note 28), has not accrued any amounts
for environmental remediation relating to its operations. Under
existing legislation, the Directors believe that there are no
probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect on
the financial position or operating results of the Group. Laws
and regulations protecting the environment have generally
become more stringent in recent years and could become
more stringent in the future. Environmental liabilities are
subject to considerable uncertainties which affect the Group’s
ability to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation efforts.

These uncertainties include:

(i) the exact nature and extent of the contamination at the
mine;

(i) the extent of required cleanup efforts;

(i) varying costs of alternative remediation strategies;

(iv) changes in environmental remediation requirements; and

(v) the identification of new remediation sites.

The amount of such future cost is indeterminable due
to such factors like the unknown magnitude of possible
contamination and the unknown timing and extent of the
corrective actions that may be required. Accordingly, the
outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed for future
environmental legislation cannot be reasonably estimated at
present but could be material.

34, & IE (48)
(b) RERBEH

RZEZFF+HA=+—H0 " K
EETEELEERNERNREER
X BT IE - BERRERKAE
B (I 5E28) 4 » INEFEHE & IE
ERMNRBENERTIMNEE - B
BIRITED - EFRB - WEABE
EEBeH RS R FMRRTLL
XBEERBERTIZENET - R
BIRRAEAZEANOF L RS
HERFE - RIRITE e E BEGE o
REEFAGTIRETHEREKM
- mMZzEREReFERNEE M
R TAERA K ARIBES] ©

It EIHEERERER

) BEANSEANEENLERIIR
=3

(i) FTRBEIIENEE
(i) EL AL AR BE Y RIS
(v) REHRAETHES : &
V) FERCH B ER

ERERZE  BIREEMBAEE
PS5 ) B E 1 I R Be AN AT RE R
ZERBETHNSHEREE - )
REEBEERRKASE - Bt - ]/
E#Tﬁﬁé\fiﬁﬁﬁﬂiXiﬁfﬁiﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁk
FNREEEER  EZERTE
BEK-
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. R AR5

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:
The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2015 for the
primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
employees and loan arrangement with an independent third party
(the ‘Lender’), and will expire on 27 May 2025. Under the Scheme,
the Directors may grant options to eligible employees, including
Directors and directors of its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
upon which it is made provided that no such offer shall be open
for acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary of the date
of adoption or the termination of Scheme or the participant to
whom such offer is made has ceased to be a participant.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
by the grantee upon acceptance of an option. An option shall
be deemed to have been accepted when the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the participant
together with the said consideration of HK$1.00 is received by
the Company. The exercise price is determined by the board of
directors at its absolute discretion but in any event will not be less
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price
of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the share on the date of
grant.

As at 31 December 2020, the number of shares in respect of
which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted
and remain outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was
1,000,000 (2019: 9283,341,370), representing 0.19% (2019:
10.5%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

(continued)

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Option granted on 14 July 2015

Vesting

Grantee proportion

ERA BELA

Directors 17%

E=

Directors 17%

E=

Senior Management & 9%
Employees
RREBERESR

Senior Management & 9%
Employees
ERERERES

The Lender 1%

The Lender 1%

B = A

Employees 46%

E8

Vesting
period

BES

N/A

TEm

14 July 201510
13July 2016
ﬁﬁtﬂ THAEE
—~ELAT=H

—7

N/A

TEm

14 July 201510

13 July 2016
‘?—ﬁitﬂ+ﬂﬁi
—RNETA+T=H

—7

N/A
@R
14 July 201510
13 July 2016
—AFELATHREZE
“E-RELAT=R
N/A

TEm

35. B < ¥ XX 5 (%)

KRRz EREERBRETE
(%)
PR ARBRIFRT

R-Z-HFtA+HARHZBERE

Exercise
Exercisable price Fair value
period (adjusted) at grant date
1B REREBHZ
fER (ERE) AFE
HKS HK$
o BT
14 July 2015 to 30,000 0.815
13 July 2025
—hE+A+NABEE
,?fﬁitﬂ+ H
14 July 2016 to 30,000 0.831
13 July 2025
“E-XEt+AtTMmEZE
2 s
14 July 2015 to 30,000 0.453
13 July 2025
“E-REtLATHWABZRE
ZZ-RELA+=A
14 July 2016 to 30,000 0.575
13 July 2025
-5t ATHmABEZRE
ZEZRELA+=R
14 July 2015 to 30,000 1.051
13 July 2025
—hE+LA+RAEZE
fjfﬁitﬂ+ A
14 July 2016 to 30,000 1.051
13 July 2025
7 /N i‘t ﬂ —I_ IE EI ==
ZEZhE+LA+=H
14 July 2015 to 30,000 0.453
13 July 2025
—hFEtA+mAERE
;7fﬁﬁtﬂ+ A
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

(continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows: (continued)

Option granted on 29 May 2017

Grantee

ERA

Director and chief
executive officer

BEERITHAH

Vesting
proportion

BELA

33.33%

33.33%

33.33%

Vesting
period

BEH

Immediately vested

MR

29 May 2017 to
28 May 2018
“E—+FAAZtARBEE
- \FRAZTNR

29 May 2017 1o
28 May 2019
—E—+FRAAZTNEE
—E-NFRAZTNH
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35. B < ¥ X 5 (%)

RAFzEREERERESS -

Rz RRBRFHBNT - (B

R-ZB-—tFHEA-TABEREZ

B

Exercisable
period

T

29 May 2017 to
28 May 2027
“T—+FRA=-+NAZE
“E-+FRAZT\H

29 May 2018 to
28 May 2027
ZZ-\FRAZTHhRZE
“Z-+HERAZ+NR

29 May 2019 to
28 May 2027
ZE-NERAZTNEE
“EZtERAZT\H

Exercise

price
TEE
HK$

BT

0.0352

0.0352

0.0352

Exercise
price
(adjusted)
TEE
(R
HK$

BT

7.040

7.040

7.040

Fair value
at grant date
RELHBEZ

AVE
HKS
BT

0.192

0.192

0.196



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R R M aE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. R X+ 5 (&)

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

(continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows: (continued)

Option granted on 2 November 2017

(%)

RRFzEREEERESS -

Rk RRBRFHEBWT - (B)

R-ZE—+tFE+—F-HRHZERE

Exercise
Vesting Vesting Exercisable Exercise price Fair value
Grantee proportion period period price (adjusted) at grant date
TRE RELHAHZ
AREA GELE BRE GiEd: TRE  (REB) AYE
HKS HKS HK$S
BT BT BT
Employee 33.33% 2 November 2017 to 2 May 2018 to 0.368 N/A 0.11292
1 May 2018 1 November 2027
B8 “Z—+&+-f-HE —E-\¥RA-HZ TEA
—E-/\fRA-R ZEotF+—A—H
33.33% 2 November 2017 to 2 May 2019 to 0.368 N/A 0.12552
1 May 2019 1 November 2027
“Z—+F+-A-AEF Z—E-NERAZ-AZE NEMA
—Z-NF5HA-R B o e Rl =
33.33% 2 November 2017 to 2 May 2020 to 0.368 N/A 0.13761
1 May 2020 1 November 2027
“T—+F+—A-AE Z—E-_ZFHA-AZE i
—Z-TFRA-A “Et+F+—A-H
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 &2~ T —ZTF+ - fF=

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

(continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows: (continued)

Vesting Vesting
Grantee proportion period
REA BELE HBEH

Option granted on 24 May 2018

Consultant 50.00% Immediately vested
B HEs5HE
50.00% 24 May 2018 to
23 May 2019
- N\FRA-tEmEEZ
~E-NEEA-+ZA

Option granted on 17 January 2019

Consultants 20% Immediately vested

B MR

20% 17 January 2019 to
16 January 2020
—E-N5-A+tRBZE
N WA=
30%

Employees Immediately vested

RH MEBE

30% 17 January 2019 to
16 January 2020
“E-NE-A+tBEE

“ECRE-A+KH

The exercise price and number of share options outstanding were
adjusted as a result of share consolidation which has become

effective on 7 August 2020.

192 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 F &

T—BLFE
35. R XWX 5 (&)
RPRzERERBRETE -

(%)
BREZ RRBRFEBWT - ()

Exercise
Exercisable Exercise price Fair value
period price (adjusted) at grant date
THE REHAHZ
Cigd: TRE  (REB) AYE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
REZB-NFHEAZ-+THAREZERE
24 May 2018 to 0.35 7.000 0.08127
23 May 2028
“E-N\FRAZTHHEZE
—Z-)\fRA=-t+=H
24 May 2019 to 0.35 7.000 0.08315
23 May 2028
“E-NERAZTHEAE
—Z-\fFRA-t=H
REB-AF—A+tBEREZBERE
17 January 2019 to 0.0544 1.088 0.0131
16 January 2029
“E-NE-ATtRZE
Sy 2 S WA E
17 January 2020 to 0.0544 1.088 0.0166
16 January 2029
S R =
Sy SR WA E
17 January 2019 to 0.0544 1.088 0.0131
16 January 2029
“E-NE-ATtRZE
e Sy S WA E
17 January 2020 to 0.0544 1.088 0.0166
16 January 2029
S R =E
Sy SR WA=

FEERMFTEBRERE ERA =T
B\ A+ B AR RIA A B -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. R IR % (H&)
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

RRFzEREEERESS -

(continued)

Details of the number of share options outstanding during the year

are as follows:

(%)

FRRAITEBEARBBFBWT

Outstanding Exercisable
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed as at as at
as at 1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
2019 the year the year the year 2019 2019
R=Z-n% R=B-1E RIZ-NF
—-A-H t=ZA=+-A t+=A=t-AH
HATE  FARE  ERTE FREXM AT AR
'000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
Tin Tin Tin T Tin 7
Option granted on RZZ-1F 45,900 - = (3,900) 42,000 42,000
14 July 2015 tA+mA
R 2 B
Option granted on RZZE—+FhA 72,967 = = = 72,967 72,967
29 May 2017 ZthBEi
Bl
Option granted on RZE—+F+— 58,374 = = = 58,374 38,912
2 Noverber 2017 AZRELZE
e
Option granted on RZZE-\FhA 20,000 = = = 20,000 20,000
24 May 2018 “tmARTZ
Bkt
Option granted on RZE-hE—A = 730,000 = = 730,000 365,000
17 January 2019 +tARLZE
ftE
197,241 730,000 - (3,900) 923,341 538,879
Weighted average MEFITEE 0.6237 0.0544 = 15 0.1699
exercise price (HK9) (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

35. B < ¥ X 5 (%)

(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company: RARZERGEBRESTS
(continued) (#&)
Details of the number of share options outstanding during the year FRAMATEBRESBEFBOT ¢
are as follows: (continued) (#&)
Outstanding Exercisable
Outstanding Lapsed  Adjusted Cancelled asat asat
as at during during during  31December 31 December
1 January 2020 theyear  theyear theyear 2020 2020
R-B-%E RIB-F  RIR4RE
== RER RER RER  +tZA=t-B +ZR=1-A
HARTHE 3 it B HRITHE CRidiid
'000 '000 '000 '000 000 '000
SN T SN T SN T
Option granted on 14 July 2015 W-Z-RE+A+MmA 2000 (1600 (38380  02) - -
Option granted on 29 May 2017 RIE—tERR 72,967 - (69,319) (3,648) - -
ZThREE ERE
Option granted on 2 November 2017~ W =F—+F+—A=H 58,374 (58,374) S = = =
R BRiE
Option granted on 24 May 2018 RZE-\ERAZTHEA 20,000 - (19,000 = 1,000 1,000
R B
Option granted on 17 January 2019 W=E—AF—A++H 730,000 - (6935000 (36,500) - -
0334 (59974 (820199  (42,168) 1,000 1,000
Weighted average exercise price (HKS)  JIETS77( B (R TT) 01699 0.3982 2.9879 7,000
The estimated fair value of share options granted on 17 January RZE-—NE—A++tBREZERE
2019 were approximately HK$10,835,000. The weighted average ZEETAF{EX10,835,0005 7T ° HnkE
remaining contractual life is 8.44 years. FHER T A K FHIR8.445F o
The Group recognised the total share-based payment expenses of REBEEZZT-_FTF+—H=1T—HIEHF

approximately HK$989,000 (2019: approximately HK$13,285,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2020 in relation to share options
granted by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. R IR % (H&)
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company: AR ZERGEBRESTS
(continued) (#&)
These fair values were calculated using Black-Scholes model with ZENFEDFEAMKER - 5 RETEE
binomial tree method. The inputs into the model were as follows: EEER R -IEABREEETE - 18
A7 ABIEOT -
Options
granted on
17 January 2019
RZB-hF
—-A+tA
Rz BRE
Weighted average share price IR E HK$0.0497 7T
Exercise price 18 HK$0.0544% 7T
Expected volatility BHKE 54.36%
Expected life TEHIFH 10 yearsE
Risk-free rate BN = 2.0282%
Expected dividend yield TRHRE X 0%
Suboptimal factor VRS
Directors £ N/AE A
Senior management and employees SREEERES 2.2
Consultants B 2.2
Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility TEHRBIEAR R RIRMREREF 2 E
of the Company’s share price over the previous year. The SOREET - HAME 2 BHEFHE R
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on REBE c&EMT - BAAATeEEN -
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, TEREIRITRERZZEELHTE -

exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

36. N2 B BN &R

2020 2019
ol 3,23 —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEKERE 1,727 5,857
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZRE 5,208,132 5,207,013
5,209,859 5,212,870
Current assets REEE
Other receivables Hofth EY /IR 2,435 8,100
Amount due from a director Y —REEFHIE 195 195
Derivative component of convertible loan notes AR ERZEH 2 TE T A EHH = 28,719
Cash and cash equivalents HERBREEEY 727 1,683
3,357 38,697
Current liabilities nEaE
Other payables H i e 308 6,758 9,138
Amounts due to subsidiaries L ENGIE 8] 57,852 57,852
Amount due to a director BN —%EEFE 13,108 13,108
Other borrowings Hinfg & 313,621 23,202
Liabilities component of convertible loan notes BB ERERZB8ELS = 660,722
Derivative component of convertible loan notes AR EHZE 2 STE T EEHH = 850
Lease liabilities HERE 1,681 4,276
393,020 769,148
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(EE),/ EEFE (389,663) (730,451)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERREBAEE 4,820,196 4,482,419
Capital and reserves BEXR#HE
Share capital B 105,252 87,732
Reserves [ 4,356,138 4,367,370
Total equity RERAE 4,461,390 4,455,102
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a related company PN —RRAE A R 5RIE 48,747 25,636
Liabilities component of REEFEE8EDH
convertible loan notes 310,059 -
Lease liabilities HEEE = 1,681
358,806 27,317
4,820,196 4,482,419

Signed on its behalf of the board of directors by: ATIIEERREFEEE -

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Mr. Tse Michael Nam

R=8%X4% HEEEE
Director Director
EE2 EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. 7~ 7] Bt B AR S 3k (1)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Reserves of the Company KAT®EE
Convertible
Share loan notes
Share  Contributed options Other equity Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TRREH

BiEE  SARR BEERRE  HERE RERARE  ZHER Lh
HKS000  HK§000  HKS000  HK§'000 HK$000  HK§000  HK$'000
TATL TAR TAT TAT TAT TAT TATL

As at 1 January 2019 WZE-NE—F—H 8882864 1,116,664 95,256 74,492 - (b427956) 4,741,210
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (430,673 (430,673
Recognition of share-based ~ ERBHBXARR

payment expense - - 13,285 - a - 13,285
Placing of new shares REHRR 43,866 = = = = = 43,866
Share lssuing expense RipgaHS (318) = = = = = (318)
Asat 31 December 2019and ~ WZF—-1F

asat 1 January 2020 +ZA=+-Hk

“E-FE-F-H 8926412 1,116,554 108,541 74,492 - (5858629 4,367,370

Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEBBRZARY

expense for the year ek - - - - = (133,706) (133,706)
Subscription of new sheres  FREATRI 18,670 - - - = = 18,670
Share issuing expense BipEIRS (9) = = = = = (96)
Cancellation of share options - $EEE R 12 - = (108,699) = = 108,699 =
Recognition of equity settled TAEREE 2

share-based payments OS] = = 989 = S = 989
Issue of convertible loan notes /TR EHZ - - - - 49,054 = 49,054
Deemed contribution foma  RE—AKEZ

shareholder BiETE - = - 53,857 - = 53,857
Transferred to accumulated ~ BEZZEEE

losses - (1,116,554) - - - 1,116,554 =
As at 31 December 2020 RZBZ%F

+-B=1+-H 8,944,986 - 831 128,349 49,054 (4,767,082 4,356,138
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

37.€MTH
@ EMIAZHE

2020 2019
. i —FNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Financial assets EWMEE
At amortised cost BESHA A 225,711 134,380
Derivative financial instruments TR A = 28,719
Financial liabilities =R
At amortised cost B SHA AR 7,346,780 6,818,489
Derivative financial instruments PTESMIA = 850

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, refundable deposits, bills receivables, other
receivables, amounts due from related companies, amounts
due from directors, cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other payables (exclude contract liabilities), amount
due to a director, liabilities and derivative components of
convertible loan notes, other borrowings, amounts due to
related companies and amounts due to non-controlling
interests. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. €M T E (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BiiEE B EE B ERBUER ()
(continued)
Market risk HiEE R
Currency risk B m b
Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are ETemEERCRABUEERR
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency A BN EE AN B¥EETE -

of the respective group companies.

The Group’s currency exposure based on the information BERETEZEEEECEH K
provided to key management is as follows: SEEBRRAT
Cambodian
dollar
HK$ RMB Us$ (“KHR”) Total
L3 30
B AR® ES(E: i 1) &t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
TER TER TER TER TER

As at 31 December 2020 ZEITETZA
_+ =
Non-derivative financial assets FTESREE
Cash and cash equivalents BeLBLEEY 594 47,354 147 2 48,097
Amounts due from directors i3 Hﬁlﬁ?m 195 40 = = 235
Amounts due from related companies  FEMEIE A AlFUE 9 5,971 = = 5,980
Trade and other receivables excluding %%&ﬁ‘rﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁl%@ﬁ :
non-financial assets TefkeRERE 1,306 166,153 3,940 = 171,399
2,104 219,518 4,087 2 225,711
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTESRERE
Trade payables BHERTIE - 1,798 - - 1,798
Other payables excluding AR TE  ARE
non-financial liabilities Femas 13,549 996,203 = - 1,009,752
Liabiliies component of convertible loan ~ ATAREHZEBESH
notes 310,059 - - - 310,059
Amount due to a director N —ZEERE 13,108 = = = 13,108
Amounts due to non-controlling interests & JF% i iE ﬁﬁ?ﬂ - 5572551 = - 5572551
Amounts due to related companies FEREE AT 48,839 77,052 = = 125,891
Other borrowings HinfE B = = 313,621 = 313,621
385,555 6,647,604 313,621 - 1,346,780
Net non-derivative financial EOTESR
(liabilities)/assets (B EERE (383,451)  (6,428,086)  (309,534) 2 (7,121,069)
Currency exposure of NEREEERE
non-derivative financial EXHEZHITESR
liabilities net of those BEFEzERAR
denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective
group entities - - (309,534) - (309,534)

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #%EEZEREBERAT 199



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. €M T A(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BA 75 B B 28 B 12 & BUR ()
(continued)
Market risk (continued) 5 2l 2 (48)
Currency risk (continued) B E b ()
HK$ RMB US$ KHR Total
BT AR e ol At

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAR TAT TAT THT TAT

As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+=A
===
Non-derivative financial assets FTESREE
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 1,594 44,006 186 2 45,788
Amounts due from directors EWEEFIA 195 38 = = 233
Amounts due from related companies  FEUEE 1 Al FUE 9 5,741 = = 5,750
Trade and other receivables excluding 2 5 & £t JE KA -
non-financial assets TeRkeREE 2,348 44,315 35,946 - 82,609
4,146 94,100 36,132 2 134,380
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ EfT£E&RER
Trade payables BSREMTE = 1,796 = = 1,796
Other payables excluding BHREMERTE
non-financial liabilities TeREFeRaR 13,928 1,012,483 = - 1,026,411
Liabilities component of convertible THRRERZEAES D
loan notes 377,296 g 283,426 - 660,722
Amounts due to non-controlling RE e R
interests - 4,933,674 - - 4,933,674
Amounts due to related companies R ENEIERE] 25,728 133,848 = 3 159,576
Other borrowings EffEE 23,202 = = = 23,202
Amount due to a director ER—2EE50E 13,108 = = = 13,108
453,262 6,081,801 283,426 - 6,818,489
Net non-derivative financial FITEEH
(liabilities)/assets (BB EEFE (449,116)  (5,987,701)  (247,294) 2 (6,684,109)
Currency exposure of UBEBEEEE
non-derivative financial EMHEETESR
liabilities net of those BESEIERAR
denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective
group entities - - (247,294) - (247,294)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2020, assets and liabilities denominated
in US$ arise mainly from entities with functional currency of
HK$ (2019: HK$). For the sensitivity analysis related to the
currency risk of US$, as HK$ is pegged to US$, management
considered the foreign currency risk exposure to these US$
assets and liabilities is insignificant.

The transactions and monetary assets denominated in KHR
is minimal, the Group considers there has no material foreign
exchange risk exposure in respect of KHR. Therefore, KHR
are excluded from the analysis below.

As assets and liabilities denominated in RMB arise mainly from
entities with functional currency of RMB, the Group considers
there has no material foreign exchange risk exposure in
respect of RMB.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate amounts due to non-controlling interests and
convertible loan notes.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

37. ¢RI H(&E)
(b) Bii%E B EIE B AE R BUR ()

45 /3 i ()

E¥mbk (&)

AL BB EINESIPBEK - A
m- EEEEEINERR  TER
FERZEERERIMNE AR

HRRE T
R-BE_ZBF+_H=+—8"
%EEMEZ&E&E%?EKIM

BT ZE—NF BB E
MoERMESL - HEXTTEER
SEBZBEESIME - BRE
TLHEETTHES  MEERERAEZS
ELEENBEBEEHINERRE
e

NinBAEZRXRZREBEER
L AEERBYEARERACE
RONERE - Hit - TXAMTE
IR -

HRAARESHEZEERABEE
ERENEEE/ARB ZER
AEERR/ABBBEARBZEX
SINEE R\ o

FIEmB
AEEERE BN FEREST
SRERTHEREREE Y ATE
FIEER -

7 £2 18 3R B 30 A A ] ) =R 0
Ko AW BEEEEEMNXER -
TEREFERERBHPERNN X
R o
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk at 31
December 2020 on trade receivables from the Group’s top
five major debtors amounting approximately to 100% (2019:
100%) of the Group’s total trade receivables.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated
its finance team to develop and maintain the Group’s
credit risk grading to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The finance team uses
publicly available financial information and the Group’s own
historical repayment records to rate its major customers and
debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.
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37. ¢ T H (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments (continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

37. ¢RI H(&E)
(b) Bii%E B EIE B AE R BUR ()

=B E b R EE L (E)
AEBEEAMNEERBRFRERE
BTSS! -

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
Ehl B BRENEEBEZEE
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not  12m ECL

have any past-due amounts

Rif HFEFEANRRK - BEEMEHRIE 1218 A FEREEER
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since  Lifetime ECL — not credit-

initial recognition

impaired

RAR B Y] HE SR HE 15 B R B K i 25 A0 BEFEHNEREEEE -
W IEEERE
In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired  Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
EH BEBRAEELEERE BEFEHNEHREEESE -
SERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe ~ Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
i sH BEBRABBARNEEVERBELAEEERE  FUARME
1 [B] 78 BA

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these items
by using a provision matrix, except for trade receivables with
gross carrying amounts of approximately HK$18,516,000
(2019: approximately HK$18,516,000) which are credit-
impaired, estimated based on historical credit loss experience
based on the past default experience of the debtor, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the end of the
reporting period. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics (including high risk, normal risk and
low risk type). In this regard, the directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced and no impairment
allowance was recognised.

RESEBGRIEMNE  AEBCE
RAEAVBHREENEIR 2HIt
ERRITEREETERNTESRE
EBENBIERE BREDSED
18,516,000 T(ZZF—NF : 4
18,516,000/870) 2 B S B GRIB T
REERBEIN  NEBEFEBFEHRE
HEMETZSEE 2 BHEES
B BREEHBANBTENLR X
BEEEBELCR  BEBALEM
EITEN—REEMRREERRE
HAZR B AT & T8 BRR R R ET o
ATERHEEEE  EHEUK
HEREXZEERBRBESE (R
EeRE - —RERKERRE
A) Bt E EERABLAEEZ
EERBE RKERE B E#ER
BB o
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments (continued)

For deposits paid and other receivables, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information.

Based on ECL assessment, the credit exposures for deposits
paid and other receivables and amounts due from related
companies and directors are considered as performing
under the Group’s current credit risk grading framework
because the counterparties have a low risk of default and
does not have material past-due amounts. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, impairment loss of approximately
HK$35,946,000 (2019: approximately HK$9,149,000) was
recognised.

The Group sets different categories for customers settling
with bills according to internal credit rating assessment. The
Group does not accept bills from customers with low credit
rating.

Bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZT —ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFE

37. 2R ITH(&E)
(b) Bii5mE e EIE B AE R BUR ()

=B K R EF 1 ()
SREMNREREMEUKRENS
EEBRBAEAEECE  BER
BUANBEERAEEXIFZAE
MERZEEREEER - EHY
1B o Hoh FE YRR 2 AT W Bl 1
TTERIFEE -

RIBFFEBEEBENG  EF&k:
Ko E A U R IB A K FE U RS A F)
&%$%EE%2%EHA LA

ErszERBRTRIERET
l%x%ﬁiﬁmﬂﬁﬁ&ﬁék
BHEE REE-_T-_TF+=
A=+—HLEE  BEEREEYD
35,946,000 T (ZE—NF : 4
9,149,000/ 7T) °

AEBREBEAIERSROFTE
LHEFPHMEBREERETRES -
AEETEXEASARENTP
MR

RITHEER
RITEHRZEERRAR  BaY
FOREEHGENARBIEES
EERZIRTT -

MEE LR
EERDETARE  AEEES
LMEFEEERRREN RS KA
T EEBYKFE M%H$§l¥ﬁ
Fris &7\)ﬁﬁifﬁimh§/&§bz %



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R R M aE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ—ZE -2 F+-A=+—HIFE

37. ¢RI H(&E)
(b) B EEE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

BEEERBEKGE

B E LR (E)

TRZW

EERPFIAE liFf)'

EeRMBERTAOINHRG

EZ%HETJ?ZK%@EJ‘?T?&EIHM
AHMReRAB s RABRRERE
RE - RPEREMNERAERER

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. 8-
Within More than More than
1 year 1yearbut  2years but Total Carrying
oron less than less than More than undiscounted  amount as at
demand 2years 5years 5years  cashflows 31December
AER R+=A
—ERg -0 MENL Beéne =t-A
EZX (ERWER  BREFR RERE am ZEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TATL TAT TAL TAL TAL
2020 e 23
Non-derivative financial liabilities F {74 &R
Trade payables BAEMAE 1,798 = = = 1,798 1,798
Other payables EREME 587,640 = 422,112 - 1009752 1,009,752
Amount due to a director Ef-2E358 13,108 = = = 13,108 13,108
Other borrowings HfEg 313,621 = = = 313,621 313,621
Amounts due to related companies  EREEA A - - 125,801 - 125,801 125,801
Amounts due to non-controling J‘&‘ﬁiﬁ“ﬁx%m IE
interests 5,869,363 - - - 5,869,363 5,572,551
Liabillties components of convertile (TR EFZE 2
loan notes aEHs = = 305,000 = 305,000 310,059
Lease liabilities HEER 12,175 38,451 6,508 15,439 72,513 59,350
6,797,705 38,451 949,511 15,439 7,801,106 7,406,130
2019 —E-nE
Non-derivative financial liabilities {74 & REE
Trade payables BHEMATE 1,796 = = = 1,796 1796
Other payables EfbfezE 517,933 = 508,478 - 1026411 1,026,411
Amount due to a director BN —2EZ0E 18,108 - - - 13,108 13,108
Other borrowings 1 23,429 S = = 23,429 23202
Amounts due to related companies  ERTEE L RIFIE = = 159,576 F 159,576 159,576
Amounts due tonon-controling B FERRER IE
interests 1,187,375 4,076,692 - = 5,214,067 4,933,674
Liabillties components of convertiole (TR S EE 2
loan notes b 730,229 = = = 730,229 660,722
Lease liabilties HEER 11,315 8,443 8,136 16,462 44,356 29,034
2,435,185 4,085,135 676,190 16,462 7212972 6,847,523
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. €M T A(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) Bii5mE e EIE B AE R BUR ()
(continued)
Fair value 2FE
Except for disclosed as below, the Directors consider that BRTIXHEREIN  EFRA IR
the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities BENAAR s eREERSRA
recorded at amortised cost approximate to their fair values: Bz REEEEQAFERS
2020 2019
—ECEF —E—hF
Carrying Fair Carrying
amount value amount Fair value

AREE AY¥E AREE ~¥E
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TERT TER TAT TAT

Liabilities component of AR ERER

convertible loan notes BED 310,059 326,353 660,722 662,852
The fair value of liabilities component of convertible loan notes AIMBRERZEECBBESS 2AF
is classified as level 3 category in fair value hierarchy which BOrBARATEERIE=E I
have been determined in accordance with effective interest BRBEERANEEET  MREEL
method with the most significant inputs being the effective BWABBRRERFEX -

interest rate.
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Fair value (Continued)

Derivative component of convertible loan notes

The fair value of the derivative component of convertible loan
notes is determined by the inputs to Black-Scholes model
with trinomial tree method including spot price, risk-free rate,
expected option period and expected volatility. Please refer to
Note 26 for the details of the inputs.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table presents financial instruments measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The
hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels
based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used in
measuring the fair value of these financial instruments. The fair
value hierarchy has the following levels:

— Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

— Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

— Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

37. ¢RI H(&E)
(b) Bii%E B EIE B AE R BUR ()

2V 1E ()

AR E SRR 2 O T A B
HMBRERRBZTET AR 2
NFEERARR - HBEEETE
EBELUER=ZHABREBEZEA
2R (BRREE  BRARNE - 18
HIERE AR I HPR IR EEE - A RR
BARIE 2 FEES M 26

REEEM BRI X ERL 2 FlE
AE
TREJINBEHRBREQIFER
BREFUHEEENRTFEFEZSR
BMTA - RABREBEAELFSH
TAZAFEREAZEEZHAH
BzREAENE  BeREENMA
BEIDR=E - RFERED /A
TR

- FE-ERNREBRHATR
SZHEREERAE

ERMIGZRECK

TRE) |

% ] )m]fli}

f—m 5

- FE - KE-EEREIWRE
Sy BESREBEZE
& (BI{ER) sk (A
BEBRITE) TERE
ABE R

- BB YHERERTEERED
BLREBEZEEXRAR
BABE(TAERE
ABIE) -
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

37. 2R ITH(&E)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Fair value (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
staternent of financial position (continueq)

The level in fair value hierarchy within which the financial
instruments is categorised in its entirety is based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of
fair value hierarchy levels at the end of the date of the events
or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

There were no transfers among level 1, 2 and 3 in the current
and prior year.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the only financial
instruments measured at fair value was the derivative
component of convertible loan notes which belongs to level 3

financial instruments.

(b) BAE5E P B B AR R BUR ()

2 FHE (&)

R EMBMRRKLERZ 2N FE
FE (&)
TRTAEBAERTFERBALZ
BRDERHAFEFEAFEXN
BEEIREERBAZBE -

AEBCBHRENEHER 2 EMN
HEREBELE HERBEEAR
FEEBRZEAREL -

RAFEMNBEFE @ £—
ZEZREYEBER -

\:&

RZEZEFR=-ZF—NF+=ZA
=t+—8 B—RAFEHEZSE
BMTAATBBRERERZITET
BEfn  BREZEemMITA-

Valuation techniques and significant key or unobservable inputs

fEERARTERRATTEEEABE

Fair value
Financial instrument Fair value as at hierarchy
$RIR RTSIREZATE AVERE
Derivative component of 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
convertiole loan notes
THRRENREL RIRE “TNE
fIETEHS =A== =]
HK$'000 HK$'000
T Th
= Financil liabiliies - (850) Level3 Valuation technique:
-SRAE $=F EGUR
Key observable inputs:
BRIBEGARE -
Risk-free rate (without extension)
BRRHX(TEER)
Risk-free rate (with extension)
BRRTE(ELR)
Spot price
RER
= Financial assets - 28,719 Level3 Volatilty
-LHEE 5-F KB
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Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree method

hikn - KRS HETERL R AR R,

2019: 1.93%1.96%

Z5-NE 1.93%E1.96%
2019: 1.66%

“E-NE 1 166%

2019: HK$0.027

“E-NE 0027

2019: 37.58%-42.21% (Note |
ZE-E 37,589 542.21%(H 5
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Fair value (continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

staternent of financial position (continueq)
Note:

i) Anincrease in the volatility used in isolation would result in
an increase in the fair value measurement of the derivative
component of convertible loan notes classified as financial
liabilities and financial assets, and vice versa. A 10% increase or
decrease in the volatility with all other variables constant, the fair
value of derivative component of convertible loan notes classified
as financial liabilities and financial assets as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 would not have material change.

Please refer to Note 26 for the reconciliation of Level 3 fair
value measurements.

Valuation process

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes. The appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for the fair value
measurements are determined by the Directors and the
independent qualified valuer.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified valuer to perform the valuation. The
Directors work closely with the independent qualified valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model. The Directors will review the cause of fluctuations
in fair value of the assets and liabilities semi-annually.

37. ¢RI H(&E)

(b) BAEEE P B B AR R BUR ()
2 FHE (&)
REEM BRI KR Z A FE
B (&)
Hrat -

) EMERZKEENEEERS R
REMABENREMEEZWHREE
REBITET AR 2 AFEHE
EI - RZ IR o 0K 1R IE h0 sk
WA 10% - T ATA B8 B AR
g R_ZE_TERZT-NAFT
“A=t+—-BnERcREERSE
MEEZABMBRERRERTETR
BAOZAFETELIREAED -

FME=EATENEZHE B
SRIN 26 -

14 BB
AREHHAERAERYBRAE
TRAFEHE - AT EER
ZEEEERTRE NG RHEE
RBLA EREENETE -

REFEEXBBEZIRAFER - &
SEFERAEScMBAIBREH
e MEZRBE BB ARE -
AEESREBUAERMGEME
1TfhME - EFEBI A ERMGER
ETAE BMUBRIERZEERL
BERMEBARE BEBFEE+F
RREERABEATERPZE
i o
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38.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 3. AMBLARIZRE
The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, TRINHLEERATEFEARSEFE

in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
of the year or assets of the Group. To give details of the other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Place
[country of
incorporation Particulars of
and kind of paid-up share/ Class of Proportion of
Company legal entity  registered capital ~ shares held ownership interest
ERRIHE
/EFREA  BERG/ 2R
Aq RS  EAZER FisRHEH FRERELS
2020 2019
Z2IBE CE)F
% %
Held directly:
BERE:
Guang Cheng Group Limited BVI USS1 Ordinary 100 100
BREEERAA ARRLES 1% i3]
Sanmu Investment Holdings Limited BVI USS1 Ordinary 100 100
SRREBBRARAR ABRLES 1% i3
Technology Venture Investments Limited ~ BV' US$1,000 Ordinary - 100
ABRAES 100057 £
Held indirectly:
MRS :
Bilion Zone Development Limited Hong Kong'  HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 100
KEERARLA Bk 10000787 ta
Hong Kong OEPC Limite HongKong'  HK$2 Ordinary 100 100
FRERWRPLERAR Eik 287 i3]
North Asia Financial Investment HongKong'  HKS1 Ordinary 100 100
Holdings Limited B 187 Epi
IEERRAERERARD
Lexing Holdings Limited BVI! US$1 Ordinary 100 100
SRARARLA EBRAEE 1% iR
Sky Rainbow Ventures Limited B US$1 Ordinary 100 100
RLERERRA EBRAEE 1% £
Technology Venture (Software) BVI! US$1,000 Ordinary - 100
Holdings Limited ABRAES 100057 i
Parkson Global Investments Limited Samoa' US1 Ordinary 100 100
BRBHRERRAR EED %7 i3]
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Proportion of voting power
held by the Company
ARAFEREELS

2020 2019
SR
% %
100 100
100 100
- 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
- 100
100 100

EEREEZARAMEBAR - EER
RMIHEMHBARZFEEEHA
BBMHILE °

Principal activities

IERH

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

RAZR

Disposed in 2020 (2019:
Investment holding)

R-T-ZELE
(=31 AR

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding
REER

Disposed in 2020 (2019:
Investment holding)

RZZ-FFME
(CB-NE RESR

Investment holding

RAZR
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38.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)  38. KB A T 2R & (&)

Place
[country of
incorporation Particulars of
and kind of  paid-up share/ Class of Proportion of Proportion of voting power
Company legal entity  registered capital ~ shares held ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities
HRAIHE
/EFREN EHRf /R
AR BRER  EAZEE fRAER ERERELH ARAfERERLE  TEER
2020 2019 2020 2019
Z2TBE CE-NF ZBIRE CE0E
% % % %
Held indirectly: (continued)
RERE - ()
Seasonal Global Investment Co., Ltd. Cambodia?  US$10,000,000 Registered Capital 100 100 100 100 Cultivation and processing of
RipE 10,000000% 7 ifER cassava starch for sale
BERMIAZRANEEE
Bolong® PRC' RMB23,924,200 Registered Capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
e i ARB304200  #RER RERE
Fuchang* PRC! RMB2,000,000 Registered Capital 34 34 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
e e AK%2,000,000 HEx coal and other coal products
BRFRAREEEER
AftERER
Jiangxi Jin Chuang Information PRC' RMB2,000,000 Registered Capital 100 100 100 100 [T senvice, system integration
Technology Limitect H ARE2,000000 i BRI  ZAER
IELEIEERNERAR
Jiangxi Hengchuang Energy Investments ~ PRC' RMBG60,300,000 Registered Capital 100 100 100 100 Coal trading and new energy
Co, Ltd* | AR®60300000  FHAEX development
IRBERHEEREERAR RRE SR RRE
Jinxin® PRC! RMB50,080,000 Registered Capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
k2 Y EP ARB50,080000  #AEA coal and other coal products
RRARARHEERR
EfERER
Liaoyuan* PRC' RMB2,000,000 Registered Capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
&R e AK%2,000,000 HER coal and other coal products
BRFRAREEEER
AftERER
Shanxi Changtong Energy Share Co., Ltd*  PRC® RMB100,000,000 Registered Capital 100 100 100 100 Energy development and
WEERERRAERAA # AEE100000000  HEA equipment trading
R REEES
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38.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)  38. Al B A 5~ 185 ()

Place
[country of
incorporation  Particulars of
andkindof  paid-up share/ Class of Proportion of Proportion of voting power
Company legal entity  registered capital  shares held ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities
HRAELBS
/EFREA  EERG/ 2R
Aq BREN  EAZEE i RAER RRERGLY ARAFBRERLA  IDER
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBI2E CZNE CBIRE CTNE
% % % %
Held indirectly: (continued)
RS - ()
Shanxi Goal* PRC! RMB370,000,000 Registered Capital 49 49 56 56 Coal operating and trading
W hE AEB370000000 AR RrEBRES
Shanxi Green Leader Corporate PRC! RMB10,000,000 Registered Capital 100 100 100 100 IT senvice, system integration,
Management Consultancy Limitedf ARB10000000  EfEA sales of equipments and
IESEAFERAAERAR senvioes
BAREIRE - ZORH - 8
ECIEY
Shanxi Ruiying Investment and PRC' RMB10,000,000 Registered Capital 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Management Co,, Ltd* e ARB10000000  EfEA RERHK
WFERRREERERAR
Talyuan Zhituo Investment Consultant PRC! RMB1,100,000 Registered Capital 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Co., Ltd* e AR¥1,100,000 AR RERR
ARTBEREERERAR
Xinfeng* PRC! RMB62,000,000 Registered Capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
& HE ARB62000000  #HMAK BERE
#  English name is for identification purpose only * EXEBERZS
* Although the Group only held 49% of equity in interest in Shanxi Coal, * BEAKEHERALARR  £%
Jinxin, Bolong, Liaoyuan, Xinfeng and 34% equity in Fuchang, the B BEREBEZI0%KRIEURES
Directors concluded that the Group has control over these companies 34%[&HE - EEER A - RRMITESRTE
on the basis as set out in Note 5. B AEEEBZE QR 2RI -
' Limited liability company T AREEREA
2 Private limited company 2 FLABRATR]
8 Corporation s RtrdlAA
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as MERBAREEEANRFELEAINE
at the end of the year or at any time during both years ended 31 EZETERZF-NAFE+TZA=T
December 2020 and 2019. —BIEREFEEARESAREEZE

212 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR
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38.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)  38. Al B A 5~ 185 ()

Except disclosed below, the Directors consider that the Group’s BRTXFEREIN  ESRALEEZ
non-controlling interests were insignificant to the Group and FEREREAREEMSLAEKR - ]
thus are not separately presented in these consolidated financial WENRZMEFE 2 fre M GmEAPE
statements for both years. Thus, no separate financial information BEH - At - HEBH2IZEFS
of these non-wholly owned subsidiary is required to be presented. BB AR I IEE R -

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries TREJNGHEERFIERER 2 AEE
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: FEEMBRARFE

Proportion of
ownership  Voting power

interest held by held by the

Country of incorporation and non-controlling non-controlling

Name of the subsidiary principal country of business interests interests
FERER

MRt BRE BEzHEEE FERER
MELTER FELEWEY HX R BEZRERE
2020
—E-%F
Shanxi Coal and its subsidiaries PRC 51% 44%
NG, a8 hy=YNS) B
2019
—ET-NEF
Shanxi Coal and its subsidiaries PRC 51% 44%
MG Cs, a8 hy=UNS) B
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38.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intra-group eliminations.

38. R B R 2R E ()
AEBARERFERER ZHEAR
ZHBERMBEZIWT o Tt 2B 75
EXBEREEAEEREE

Shanxi Coal and its subsidiaries 2020 2019
L PE R = R EL T A F] —E-EF —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Current assets mENEE 195,537 141,952
Non-current assets FEMEBEE 6,795,861 6,992,696
Current liabilities mEaE (5,520,113) (1,331,040)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (1,612,069) (5,533,232)
(140,784) 270,376
Capital deficiencies attributable to RRATHER ANEGEREA
owners of the Company (1,337,700) (1,282,024)
Non-controlling interests eI i 1,196,916 1,552,400
(140,784) 070,376
Revenue WA 1,303,796 944,056
Expenses i (1,674,377) (1,598,943)
Impairment loss in respect of property, BRYWE  BEREENR
plant and equipment and KERk 2 REEE  F5
mining rights, net (291,229) (496,351)
Loss for the year FEEE (400,307) (896,856)
Loss attributable to owners of RAREE ANELEE
the Company (562,211) (387,815)
Loss attributable to non-controlling IR e S (R B E
interests (348,096) (609,041)
Loss for the year FREEE (400,307) (896,856)
Other comprehensive expense attributable ANA Fl1#H A EEE M2 E
to owners of the Company A (3,464) (1,368)
Other comprehensive expense attributable 3FIEMREZS E(R E M2 M
to non-controlling interests (7,388) (4,199)
Other comprehensive expense for the year & Hith 2RI 52 (10,852) (5,567)
Total comprehensive expense attributable N2 & #EA A FE(h 2 HEF X 258
to owners of the Company (65,675) (389,183)
Total comprehensive expense attributable  FF3% A% 1 25 FE 16 2 T8 B S 4258
to non-controlling interests (355,484) (5613,240)
Total comprehensive expense for the year &€ 2B 4258 (411,159) (902,423)
Net cash inflow from operating activites & & EB)IR & R AR A 587,470 277,648
Net cash outflow from investing activites & & /EB)IR &R IF58 (317,233) (139,594)
Net cash inflow/outflow BEESHRESTARLIFRE
from financing activities (29,416) (98,622)
Net cash inflow WEMAFERE 240,821 39,432
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39.LEASE LIABILITIES 30.1HEEE
2020 2019
—EEHF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHExT FET
Lease liabilities: HERE:
Within 1 year —&FR 10,327 8,548
Between 1 year — 2 years —EMF 36,897 6,866
Between 2 years — 5 years MERF 3,215 4,562
Over 5 years FFEMNRE 8,911 9,058
59,350 29,034
Less: Amount due for settlement with B ORBIBEEBE T RRI12[EA
12 months shown under current NEIEEE 2 5B
liabilities (10,327) (8,548)
Amount due for settlement after JEREBEEER T
12 months shown under A28 A& R BRI E 2 5UE
non-current liabilities 49,023 20,486

The weighted average incremental
lease liabilities was 12% (2019: 12%)).

borrowing rates applied to

FE MM E B E 2 hn4E ¥ 1518 8 {8 3R

RKE12%(ZF—NF 1 12%) °

40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(@

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
disposed of certain subsidiaries in an aggregate
consideration of US$8,100,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$63,180,000) as set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, of which US$1,600,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$12,480,000) was offset with other
borrowings due to the Purchaser A.

On 13 May 2020, the Company completed to issue and allot
1,264,148,900 new shares to certain subscribers with the
subscription price ranging from HK$0.019 to HK$0.021. The
gross proceeds of approximately HK$21,581,000 was used
to settle the outstanding indebtedness due to them by the
Group.

40.TBFRERS

(@)

REBEE-_E—HAF+_A=+—
BIEFEE  AEEBTXEETHWE
N\ BAREARS,100,000FE T
(HEZER463,180,0008 ) * #
Mz B M mERMESIATH -
MmE S 1,600,000E T (FHERH
12,480,000/ 70) B fE B H AR E
HIEE MR -

RZE_EFHERA+=H &R
RIERAE T RE AT RAEH
1,264,148,9000% %10 - REEN
TF0.019B 7T E0.0218 T » FTER
THAA%E 21,581,000 L E AR E
BEAEELERETREAZKREE
T
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40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(c) On 21 October 2020, the Company completely to issue 2020
Convertible Loan Notes A and 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B
with the amounts of HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 to
settle the outstanding principal of the 2018 Convertible Loan
Notes A and the 2018 Convertible Loan Notes B respectively.

41.CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, certain assets were pledged
to secure the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes, including (i) share
charges of entire issued share capital of certain Company’s
subsidiaries; (ii) charges on account receivables from one of
the Group’s debtors with nil balance with such debtor as at 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil); and (iii) land charges over certain
lands located in Cambodia that to be acquired by the Group.

42.EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 1 February 2021, the Company announced a proposed
capital reorganisation by (i) a reduction of issued share capital
of the Company through a cancellation of the paid-up capital of
the Company to the extent of HK$0.199 on each of the issued
existing shares so that the nominal value of each issued share
will be reduced from HK$0.20 to HK$0.001; (i) a subdivision of
each authorised but unissued Existing Share of HK$0.20 into two
hundred (200) New Shares of HK$0.001 each; and (i) a transfer
of the credit arising from the capital reduction to the contributed
surplus account of the Company.

On 26 February 2021, the Company announced the proposed
share premium cancellation by way of cancellation of the credit of
share premium and transferred to the contributed surplus.
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